THE EXPERIENCES OF COMPASSION AND SELF-COMPASSION AMONG PSYCHOLOGISTS

Thamari Kally

DISSERTATION (IN ARTICLE FORMAT) SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF
THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE
MAGISTER ARTIUM (COUNSELLING PSYCHOLOGY)

in the

FACULTY OF THE HUMANITIES
DEPARTMENT OF PSYCHOLOGY

at the

UNIVERSITY OF THE FREE STATE

Supervisor: Dr. A. Botha

Co-supervisor: Dr. P. Naidoo

November 2017

DECLARATION

I, Thamari Kally (2006064105) hereby declare that the dissertation The
experiences of compassion and self-compassion among psychologists
submitted for the Magister Artium Counselling Psychology degree at the
University of the Free State is my own independent work and has not previously
been submitted to another university/faculty for assessment or completion of
any other postgraduate qualification. I further cede copyright of the dissertation
in favour of the University of the Free State.

Thamari Kally	Date

PROOF OF LANGUAGE EDITING

MARGARET LINSTRÖM

LANGUAGE PRACTITIONER

Honours degree (Language Practice), Master's degree

(Communication Science)

082 777 3224

linstromme@ufs.ac.za

26 October 2017

DECLARATION

I, Margaret Linström, hereby declare that I edited the dissertation of Thamari Kally titled, *The experiences of compassion and self-compassion among psychologists*, for purposes of submission in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree Magister Artium in the Department of Psychology, Faculty of Humanities, at the University of the Free State. All changes suggested, including the implementation thereof, were left to the discretion of the student.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank the following people for the valuable role they played in making this study a success

- I would first and most of all like to thank the Lord Jesus Christ for giving me an ability to succeed and the strength to persevere when I needed it most. Without You I am nothing.
- My dearest husband, thank you for your patience, late nights of support, for every word of encouragement and for all the sacrifices you made so I could make a success of my studies over the past few years. Words cannot begin to explain the appreciation and love I have for you.
- Thank you Dr. Anja Botha for all your guidance, tons of patience and support throughout this process. I am so grateful to you! You have impacted my mindset about life and psychology in more ways than you will ever know.
- Dr. Pravani Naidoo, thank you for your invaluable guidance during this process! I have learned so much from you.
- A big thank you to all the participants for your time and energy invested to make this study a success.
- To my beautiful, gracious mother. Thank you for always being available to listen, for every kind word and every needed hug. I am so grateful for all your love during this process. I love you dearly.

ABSTRACT

A large number of psychologists are faced with the task of caregiving and the provision of compassion towards the lived experiences of their clients. While psychologists often experience a sense of satisfaction from their work as caregivers, many also face potential compassion fatigue as a result. As such, psychologists' experiences with self-compassion (SC) are equally important in that it serves to help them manage their well-being and engagement during therapeutic processes more effectively. This is especially true in the South African context where exposure to trauma is a common occurrence and often places a high burden of care on psychology professionals working in this context.

The aim of this study was to explore and describe the experiences of compassion and SC among psychologists in the South African context. A qualitative multiple case study approach was used to elicit rich descriptions from participants regarding their experiences of compassion and SC. Six participants were recruited through purposeful sampling. Data were collected through two semi-structured interviews with each participant. The interviews were transcribed verbatim and analysed by means of thematic analysis. Six themes emerged from the data analysis: 1) Psychologists' Values are the Starting Point for Compassion and SC; 2) Relationships Nurture Compassion and SC; 3) Compassion and SC Develop Dynamically within a Therapist; 4) Compassion and SC Require Awareness of Self and Others; 5) Compassion and SC Add Value to Psychologists; and 6) Compassion and SC Entail a Process of Energy. The findings of the study suggest that compassion and SC fulfil an important function in the lives of psychologists and the therapeutic processes they form part of. As such, the insights gained from this research may have important

implications for psychologists and how they practice their profession in the South African context.

Keywords: compassion, self-compassion, psychology, psychology practitioner, South Africa

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Practising Psychology in the South African Context	11
Compassion	15
Compassion Satisfaction	17
Compassion Fatigue	18
Self-compassion	·- 21
Self-kindness	
Common Humanity	
Mindfulness	25
Methodological Approach to the Study	27
Research Question	
Research Design and Methodology	27
Participants and Sampling Procedures	
Data Collection	
Data Analysis	
Trustworthiness and Rigour	
Ethical Considerations	33
Results and Discussion	
Theme 1: Psychologists' Values are the Starting Point for Compassion and SC	
The value of common humanity for compassion and SC	
Connection through valuing authenticity	
Compassion is expressed when psychologists engage in the present	43
Theme 2: Relationships Nurture Compassion and SC	
Compassion and SC through social connection	46
The therapeutic relationship nurtures compassion and SC	
SC is encouraged through a relationship of care towards the self	
Theme 3: The Dynamic Development of Compassion and SC within a Therapist-	
Psychologists' life experiences shape compassion and SC	
Identifying therapeutic needs contributes towards compassion and SC	
Theme 4: Compassion and SC Require Awareness of Self and Others	
Awareness facilitates increased compassion towards others	
Awareness contributes towards an understanding of clients	
Self-awareness promotes higher levels of SC	79
The role of self-reflection in enhancing higher levels of awareness	
Theme 5: Compassion and SC Contribute Positively to Psychologists' Developm	
Empathy enhances the psychologist's role as a therapist	
Compassion enhances active engagement of challenges.	- 87
SC aphanese effective against	
SC enhances effective coping Theme 6: Compassion and SC Impact on the Therapist's Energy	
THEME O. COMBASSION AND SCHIMBACLON THE THERADISTS ENERGY	· 96

The additive worth of positive energySC requires an understanding of managing energy	
Conclusion	104
References	106

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A Interview protocol	.132
Appendix B Excerpt of an individual interview transcription	.133
Appendix D Example of the researcher's reflective journal	.150
Appendix E Letter of ethical clearance	151
Appendix F Turnitin report	152

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	Visual display of research findings	35
0	. ,	

Globally, there is concern about a lack in the provision of compassionate care by helping professionals (Lown, 2015; Puchalski, Vitillo, Hull, & Reller, 2014; Vitillo & Puchalski, 2014). Compassionate care is a way of becoming engaged with others, rather than being focused only on one's own needs. It enables professionals to acknowledge both their own and other's vulnerability and dignity (Spandler & Stickley, 2011; Wiklund & Wagner, 2013). Much debate surrounding the difficulties experienced by helping professionals and their ability to deliver compassionate care has been noted in the literature (Brown, Crawford, Gilbert, Gilbert, & Gale, 2013; Crawford, Brown, Kvangarsnes, & Gilbert, 2014; Crawford, Gilbert, Gilbert, Gale, & Harvey, 2013; Tingle, 2011).

In the South African context, research about the quality of compassionate care remains limited, presenting a gap that requires further inquiry (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017). Due to its impact on their capacity for compassionate caregiving, psychologists' experiences of compassion and self-compassion (SC) are thus investigated in this study. A need for such care becomes evident when considering that traumatic events, including substance abuse, exposure to violence, disease and racial tension, are frequently encountered in the South African context (Atwoli et al., 2013). Such events may impact negatively on clients' functioning and often require a high degree of compassionate care (Ray, Wong, White, & Heaslip, 2013). To situate the reader, it is necessary to first consider the South African context and the unique role it presents to psychologists practicing in this context.

Practising Psychology in the South African Context

Psychology practitioners in South Africa face many challenges that are not necessarily new to the context, but form part of a longstanding history (Louw, 2010; Cooper, 2014b). To understand these factors, the relevant historical developments in this context and how they relate to changes observed

in the practice of psychology have to be considered. An understanding of this would be both useful and necessary to provide context for this study.

Characterised by constitutional racial segregation and exploitation, apartheid was arguably the most impactful factor in South Africa's history of trauma exposure. It was influential in the South African context during both its incumbency and its denouement (Arcot, 2015; Cooper, 2014a; Louw, 2010; Norman, Matzopoulos, Groenewald, & Bradshaw, 2007). Apartheid impacted on the helping professions when focus was primarily directed towards the white minority, while the majority was left isolated and with limited options for caregiving (Cooper, 2014a; Van Rensburg, 2014).

For the purpose of this study, attention is focused at the impact that apartheid had on the profession of psychology specifically. During the apartheid years, increasing political violence and oppression resulted in high levels of trauma exposure in the general population (Arcot, 2015; Atwoli et al., 2013; Van Rensburg, 2014). High rates of substance abuse, and exposure to violence, oppression, disease and racial tension were prevalent (Atwoli et al., 2013; Nicholas, 2014).

A new, post-apartheid South Africa witnessed a greater focus on addressing the experienced inequality and the need for the delivery of psychological interventions (Louw, 2010; Peterson & Lund, 2011). According to Peterson and Lund (2011), centralised institutional care characterised apartheid South Africa. The researchers thus suggested a shift towards a human rights framework where preference was given to integrated and community-based services. However, progress in this regard has been slow (Bowman, Duncan, & Sonn, 2010; Wahbie & Don, 2013). Extending from the early apartheid days, the profession continues to be plagued by the inadequate provision of psychological services to the South African population as a whole (Bowman et al., 2010; Nicholas, 2014). Maree (2011b) proposed that everyone in South Africa, and

the world, should have access to psychotherapeutic services. He further also referred to psychologists' duty to engage reflectively on how they can bring about meaningful change in the country. In doing so, an attitude of respect for society is fostered (Maree, 2011a).

The stigma associated with mental health illness plays a contributing role in limiting the provision of psychological services to the South African population (Sorsdahl & Stein, 2010). Stigma plays a large role in help-seeking and treatment of clients (Angermeyer & Dietrich, 2006; Clement et al., 2015; Feldman & Crandall, 2007; Wahl, 2011). Sorsdahl, Kakuma, Wilson, and Stein (2012) found that even though people often feel stigmatised due to the public's negative attitudes towards mental illness, they do not necessarily internalise the attitudes. Nonetheless, there is a need to address the challenge of stigma and discrimination by increasing society's awareness about mental illness and mental health (Kakuma et al., 2010).

Moreover, the profession of psychology continues to be criticised for lacking relevance and for holding an indifferent attitude towards the lived realities of most South Africans (Bowman et al., 2010; Kagee, 2014; Long, 2013; Sher & Long, 2012; Wahbie & Don, 2013). For example, exposure to trauma remains common in the South African context, even if the nature of traumatisation has shifted from being primarily political in nature to being largely criminal (Atwoli et al., 2013). Such experiences of trauma place a high burden of care on psychologists in this context by presenting a strong need for relevant interventions. Traumatic events, such as violence and oppression, continued to be prevalent during the transition to a post-apartheid era (Bowman et al., 2010; Norman et al., 2007; Van Rensburg, 2014). Even today, 23 years after the end of apartheid, high levels of trauma exposure are found in the South African context (Atwoli et al., 2013; Bowman et al., 2010; Cooper & Nicholas, 2012). The most recent statistics (Atwoli et al., 2013) indicate that over 70% of the

South African population has been exposed to at least one potentially traumatic event. The unexpected death of a loved one and witnessing trauma vicariously seem to be the most common traumatic events experienced in South Africa (Atwoli et al., 2013). According to a study by Kaminer, Grimsrud, Myer, Stein and Williams (2008), more than a third of South Africans have been exposed to some form of violence. The study also indicated that criminal and miscellaneous assaults are most frequently experienced by men, while women predominantly experience physical abuse during childhood, by an intimate partner, and during criminal assaults. Sommer et al. (2017) propose that cumulative exposure to violence is predictive of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD), increased aggression and violent outbursts. Further, an interplay between these variables and substance use disorders is common (Benjet et al., 2016; Sommer et al., 2017). These factors may thus further contribute to traumatic exposure in the South African context.

South Africa also continues to encounter many other challenges that impact on the practice of psychology. The decision by the Health Professions Council of South Africa (HPCSA) to separate the profession into registration categories, with separate research and practice foci, has led to tension within the profession itself (Health Professions Council of South Africa, 2011; Naidoo & Kagee, 2009). This separation has been extensively debated in the profession and in literature (Bantjes, Kagee, & Young, 2016; Pretorius, 2012; Strous, 2016). According to Pretorius (2012), tensions within the profession may result in a drainage of energy from activities that would otherwise play a contributing role in the growth of the discipline. Further, it may lead to a reduction in the provision of care to a society highly in need of it. Thus, current tensions are making it difficult for psychology professionals to function optimally within the South African context (Atwoli et al., 2013). Recent developments have seen the High Court of South Africa rule on the Scope of the Profession of Psychology,

declaring it invalid ("JASA statement on resumption", 2016). This order was further suspended for a period of 24 months during which discussions will take place between the Professional Board of Psychology and the Minister of Health.

While South Africa experiences a great need for the provision of psychological services, the training of psychologists poses a further challenge in this context. Due to recruitment policies during the apartheid era, the profession witnessed an under-representation of black psychologists (Kagee & Lund, 2012; Kagee, 2014). In addition, South African training institutions have been criticised of not providing students with evidence-based training programmes, which may result in the use of scientifically invalid therapeutic procedures (Kagee & Lund, 2012). Pillay, Ahmed and Bawa (2013) indicated that there was an urgent need to engage in further debate and action regarding the training of psychologists.

Challenges within the South African context could thus be considered great and numerous, and continue to impact negatively on the population's well-being. For this reason, psychological interventions remain crucial (Ray et al., 2013). A better understanding of psychologists' experiences in this context is thus important as it could contribute towards their well-being, which is essential to help carry the weight of caregiving among South Africans.

Compassion

Compassion is an often overlooked but necessary and integral part of the helping professions (Tierney, Seers, Reeve, & Tutton, 2017). It appears to guide professionals on how to behave in a professional caring context. Compassion is needed when suffering is present (Lilius, Kanov, Dutton, Worline, & Maitlis, 2011). Suffering is a normal part of the human experience, and while compassion does not make hardships disappear, it serves a necessary function to offer comfort and connection to clients (Bramley & Matiti, 2014). It requires the helping professional to be open towards the clients'

experiences, to acknowledge these experiences as contributing to their suffering, and to display kindness by providing assurance that they are not alone in their suffering (Catarino, Gilbert, McEwan & Baião, 2014; Pauley & McPherson, 2010; Van der Cingel, 2009).

Referring specifically to nursing and midwifery, Geraghty, Lauva and Oliver (2016) proposed that compassion is an essential component of competence, and thus it should be nurtured and developed. This recommendation is probably important to all the helping professions, considering that compassionate care enables the caregiver to understand a client's pain and adversity (Beaumont, Durkin, Hollins, Martin, & Carson, 2016) and build meaningful connections (Burnell, 2009).

The distinction between compassion and empathy is important to consider for this study. Klimecki and Singer (2015) argue that compassion is expressed as a non-shared experience, in which the professional feels concern for the client. They held that it is characterised by feelings of warmth, concern and motivation to improve the client's position of suffering. Further, they also explained that empathy entails feeling with the client, and thus having the ability to share in the client's emotional experiences without accepting them as one's own. The word compassion stems from the Latin origins 'com' (together) and 'pati' (to suffer), while empathy originated from the Greek word "empatheia" (passion), which consists of "en" (in) and "pathos" (feeling) (Singer & Klimecki, 2014).

Compassion comprises of two distinct spheres, namely compassion satisfaction (CS) and compassion fatigue (CF) (Stamm, 2002). These two constructs, together with burnout, form what is considered as professional quality of life (Yu, Jiang, & Shen, 2016). For the purpose of this research, attention will be focused on CS and CF among psychology professionals only.

To provide greater context, the difference between CF and burnout will be discussed in more detail further on in this literature review.

Compassion could be considered an essential part of not only the helping professions in general, but also psychology professionals specifically. In South Africa, research on the quality of compassionate care remains limited, presenting a gap that requires further inquiry (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017).

Compassion Satisfaction

CS is conceptualised as the sum of all the positive feelings a person derives from helping others (Crowe, 2016). It includes finding meaning and experiencing positive support in these efforts (Slocum-Gori, Hemsworth, Chan, Carson, & Kazanjian, 2013; Sodeke-Gregson, Holttum, & Billings, 2013). CS therefore refers to the positivity involved in caring (Ray et al., 2013) and the sense of fulfilment experienced when a health professional does his or her work well (Sodeke-Gregson et al., 2013). Smart et al. (2013) state that the personal and professional lives of caregivers can be enriched through the provision of care, compassion and empathy to their clients. CS is a construct that measures these affirmative experiences.

CS consists of three elements (Sodeke-Gregson et al., 2013; Stamm, 2002). First, it entails the level of satisfaction that the helping professional obtains from his or her work. Second, it relates to a sense of competency and control experienced in doing this work, for example when exposed to traumatic events. Third, it relates to the level of positive and structural support received, like a collegial system. Through the provision of compassion, the helping professional is thus able to enhance the well-being of others (Slocum-Gori et al., 2013).

A study by Killian (2008) indicated perceived social support as the most significant predictor of CS, followed by a greater sense of self-efficacy in the workplace. Working long hours with traumatised clients showed reduced levels of CS.

While CS is applicable to all the helping professions, it is also specifically applicable to psychology. Sodeke-Gregson et al. (2013) conducted research to identify predictor variables for CS, burnout and secondary traumatic stress among therapists. Clinical experience did not significantly predict CS, but maturity, life experience, participation in research and perceived collegiate support did. Research on CS in the South African context remains limited (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017).

CS as a positive outcome represents only one facet of compassion. In addition, many professionals also experience emotional exhaustion, or compassion fatigue (CF), as a result of overexposure to suffering (Ray et al., 2013; Sodeke-Gregson et al., 2013). This will be discussed in more detail in the next section.

Compassion Fatigue

CF is characterised by physical and psychological exhaustion resulting from the prolonged exposure to clients' traumatic experiences and suffering (Ledoux, 2015; Ray et al., 2013; Sodeke-Gregson et al., 2013; Sprang, Clark, & Whitt-Woosley, 2007). According to Coetzee and Klopper (2010), CF tends to progress from a state of compassion discomfort towards compassion stress and, finally, compassion fatigue. CF can also be described as marked by emotional, behavioural and cognitive changes in the helping professional (Hamilton, Tran, & Jamieson, 2016) and results from continuous demands during the provision of care giving (Fernando & Consedine, 2014; Hamilton et al., 2016; Phelps, Lloyd, Creamer, & Forbes, 2009). Symptoms could include

feelings of helplessness, hopelessness, isolation, depression, avoidance and anxiety, and may constitute a pattern of job dissatisfaction and decreased professional and personal life satisfaction (Hamilton et al., 2016; Sodeke-Gregson et al., 2013).

Because CF is closely related to burnout, it is necessary to understand the distinction between the two. Unlike burnout, which entails a cumulative state of exhaustion and an inability to cope with the daily demands of work or life (Bellolio et al., 2014), CF is specific to the context of care giving and results from emotional exhaustion due to helping others (Bellolio et al., 2014; Boyle, 2011; Lombardo & Eyre, 2011). CF tends to occur suddenly, whereas burnout tends to progress over time (Mason et al., 2014). The proposed continuum of responses ranges from CS, to compassion distress, and ends with CF (Figley, 1995; Stamm, 2002).

CF in nurses has been linked to their experiences of work-life quality and can be connected to coexisting factors such as depression, anxiety and stress (Drury, Craigie, Francis, Aoun, & Hegney, 2014). Nurses working in overly stressful environments are more likely to experience mental and physical exhaustion than those working in less stressful environments (Drury et al., 2014). Also, patient satisfaction and safety are directly linked to nurses' job satisfaction, making it an important area for consideration (Sacco, Ciurzynski, Harvey, & Ingersoll, 2015).

Killian (2008) identified high caseload demands as the most prevalent risk factor for work stress and CF among helping professionals. This was followed by a personal history of trauma, access to supervision, lack of a supportive work environment, lack of a supportive social network, social isolation, the participants' worldview and their self-awareness.

Working in a South African ICU environment is a challenge that may manifest as CF (Van Mol, Kompanje, Benoit, Bakker, & Nijkamp, 2015).

However, research about CF remains limited in the South African context and requires further investigation (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017).

While prevalent among helping professionals, CF is also specifically applicable to psychologists. The capacity to be compassionate is a key requirement for psychology professionals. Yet, sharing clients' suffering can become challenging (Singer & Klimecki, 2014; Yoder, 2010). This is especially true when the distinction between psychologists' own emotions and those of their clients become blurred. CF negatively affects what Back, Deignan and Potter (2014) termed the "core" of psychology, namely the psychologist's empathy and compassion for other people. Ray et al. (2013) considered four factors that increased the risk for CF among mental health professionals working with trauma clients. These included being empathetic, a history of personal trauma, unresolved trauma, and working with trauma events where children are involved. In a study conducted by Thompson, Amatea and Thompson (2014) it was found that counselors who reported higher mindfulness attitudes, fewer maladaptive coping strategies, positive CS and positive perceptions of their work environment reported less CF and burnout.

An important consideration to take into account is the effect of CF on the well-being of clients. Clients report lower satisfaction with services when the psychology professional suffers from CF (Hamilton et al., 2016). CF could lead to professional errors (Hamilton et al., 2016; Sprang et al., 2007) and result in a decreased connection with clients, the very foundation of therapeutic intervention (Del Re, Flückiger, Horvath, Symonds, & Wampold, 2012; Geller & Greenberg, 2012; Sprang et al., 2007).

SC is a protective factor against CF (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Wong & Mak, 2012). Thus, it is an important area for consideration.

Self-compassion

SC is a source of compassionate care (Allen & Leary, 2010; Wiklund & Wagner, 2013). It contributes towards the development of a compassionate self that is sensitive, non-judgmental and respectful (Neff, 2009a). By applying SC, helping professionals globally are able to experience more self-acceptance, greater interpersonal connectedness and greater balanced awareness of their experiences (Neff, 2003a). In this way, SC is a form of emotional regulation (Neff, 2003a) that serves as a protective factor to guard against CF (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Wong & Mak, 2012).

High levels of SC and compassion for others have been linked with lower levels of CF (Beaumont et al., 2016) and is a predictor of well-being and resilience (Leary, Tate, Adams, Batts Allen, & Hancock, 2007; MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Mantzios, 2014; Neely, Schallert, Mohammed, Roberts, & Chen, 2009; Neff, 2009b; Smeets, Neff, Alberts, & Peters, 2014). Research on SC has consistently demonstrated a positive correlation with psychological well-being (PWB) (Beaumont, Galpin, & Jenkins, 2012; Beaumont & Hollins Martin, 2013, 2015; Leary et al., 2007; MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Mantzios, 2014; Neely et al., 2009; Neff, 2009a; Neff & McGehee, 2010; Smeets et al., 2014; Wong & Mak, 2012). PWB entails finding and fostering a way of living that is both meaningful and significant to the individual (Kállay & Rus, 2014; Ryff, 1989; Ryff, 2014; Wissing & Temane, 2013). Further, SC is also negatively correlated with anxiety, depression, neurotic perfectionism, self-criticism and rumination (Neff, 2003a; Neff & McGehee, 2010; Pauley & McPherson, 2010). These research findings serve as important considerations regarding the role of SC in mitigating experiences of CF. MacBeth and Gumley (2012) report that a strong and positive association exists between SC and mental health symptoms.

SC promotes emotional resilience amongst helping professionals. There have been extensive calls to include emotional resilience as an essential part in the training of helping professionals, including nurses (Foureur, Besley, Burton, Yu, & Crisp, 2013; Robertson, Cooper, Sarkar, & Curran, 2015), midwives (McDonald, Jackson, Wilkes, & Vickers, 2012, 2013), social workers (Kinman & Grant, 2010, 2012) and medical practitioners (Goodman & Schorling, 2012; Howe, Smajdor, & Stöckl, 2012). Training that focuses on resilience is considered especially important as many students in the helping professions feel stressed and ill-prepared for the realities of practice. This is further aggravated if they are reluctant to disclose and seek help for the experienced difficulties (Clements, Kinman, Leggetter, Teoh, & Guppy, 2016; Wilks & Spivey, 2010).

A study by Beaumont et al. (2016) reported that self-judgment results in reduced levels of SC and compassion, which leads to reduced well-being and increased CF among trainee midwives. Helping professionals who demonstrate SC during times of suffering have a decreased risk of experiencing stress or developing mental health problems (Beaumont et al., 2016; Leary et al., 2007). According to Curtis, Moriarty and Netten (2009), the average time spent in the social work profession is less than eight years, primarily due to work-related stress. Limited research on the role of SC among helping professionals is available in the South African context (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017).

With regards to the profession of psychology, SC is applicable to a variety of contexts. It plays a role, among others, in assisting couples who tend to experience maladaptive coping styles as a result of infertility (Cunha, Galhardo, & Pinto-Gouveia, 2016), moderating the relationship between depression and a lack of forgiveness (Chung, 2016), counteracting shame, self-criticism and isolation (Boersma, Håkanson, Salomonsson, & Johansson,

2014), mediating the relationship between narcissism and school burnout (Barnett & Flores, 2016), addressing body image concerns (Duarte, Ferreira, Trindade, & Pinto-Gouveia, 2015), buffering against shame in eating disorders (Ferreira, Matos, Duarte, & Pinto-Gouveia, 2014), mediating health-promoting behaviours (Dunne, Sheffield, & Chilcot, 2016) and enhancing emotional wellbeing among adolescents (Galla, 2016). Psychologists also benefit from SC as a resilience factor, especially when the adverse effects of working in emotionally demanding environments impact on their well-being (Coleman, Martensen, Scott, & Indelicato, 2016). According to Boellinghaus, Jones and Hutton (2013), a significant number of psychologists suffer from emotional distress and burnout, especially younger and newer professionals. In light of this, Boellinghaus et al. (2013) held that such professionals may suffer from anxiety, depression, low self-esteem and work adjustment, which all require self-care. Boellinghaus et al. (2013) indicated the need to cultivate self-care and compassion during the training of psychologists. Mindfulness and Loving-Kindness Meditation Training (Boellinghaus et al., 2013) and Compassionate Mind Training (Beaumont & Hollins Martin, 2016) have been proposed to help student therapists develop their sense of compassion for themselves and others.

Neff (2003a) conceptualised SC as a state of mind that encompasses three aspects, namely self-kindness, a sense of shared humanity and mindfulness. These components contribute towards psychologists' ability to approach and relate to others in a compassionate manner. Each of these will be discussed in the following sections.

Self-kindness

Self-kindness entails the replacement of self-directed anger or critical judgment towards one's personal shortcomings with tolerance, supportiveness

and understanding (Neff, 2003a; Neff & Tirch, 2013). It has also been described as the extension of warmth and unconditional self-acceptance when circumstances are difficult or one becomes aware of some disliked aspect of oneself (Neely et al., 2009; Neff, 2009a; Neff & Tirch, 2013). Thus, from this perspective, humans are viewed as worthy of self-directed empathy and acceptance, despite their failures. Neff (2009b) explains that as the individual extends self-kindness, he or she creates the emotional safety needed to identify areas of growth and change.

SC is thus not the avoidance of negative emotions, nor is it the same as self-pity or self-indulgence (Neff, 2003a). Rather, it helps the individual to admit to and observe their failures, so that they can substitute shortcomings for more productive and constructive behaviours. Self-kindness serves to promote increased tolerance of distressing emotions by cultivating positive qualities such as friendliness, joy and acceptance (Kraus, Sears, & Wyatt, 2009).

Boellinghaus et al. (2013) state that Loving-Kindness Meditation fostered increased self-awareness for therapists in training, greater insight into their own needs and vulnerabilities, and greater acceptance, compassion and care toward themselves and others. Research on self-kindness as a construct does not feature prominently in either the South African or international context (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017).

Common Humanity

A sense of common humanity involves the recognition that all human beings are part of a greater, connected human experience where making mistakes and experiencing incompetencies is a normal part of living (Neff, 2009a). This realisation allows the individual room to fall short of perfection (Neff, 2003a). SC thus fosters the realisation that, like others, "I too am acceptable as an imperfect human being". Suffering is a human experience,

inherent to all mankind. Further, by realising this, feelings of isolation are reduced (Neely et al., 2009; Neff & Pommier, 2013).

An example of this in the South African context relates to the Truth and Reconciliation Commission's attempts to remind society that the pain experienced by the victims of apartheid represented the pain of an entire nation (De la Rey & Owens, 1998). Thus, the individual is ultimately connected to the society he or she belongs to. Research on a sense of common humanity is limited both globally and in the South African context (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017).

Mindfulness

Mindfulness entails maintaining balance during difficult times, where one's experiences are neither ignored nor exaggerated (Neff, 2003a). It cultivates more positive thinking by creating greater awareness and acceptance of oneself and one's shortcomings, it involves a non-judging attitude and lower levels of psychological distress, and is strongly associated with PWB and mental health (Mantzios, 2014; Hollis-Walker & Colosimo, 2011; Shonin, Van Gordon, Compare, Zangeneh, & Griffiths, 2014; Van Dam, Sheppard, Forsyth, & Earleywine, 2011). Mindfulness also promotes a perspective of connectedness and temporality (Neely et al., 2009) and enables the individual to deal with daily problems (Hollis-Walker & Colosimo, 2011; Shonin et al., 2014).

Mindfulness training can assist helping professionals to manage work-related stress (Foureur et al., 2013) and relieve compassion fatigue, burnout and vicarious trauma (Hülsheger, Alberts, Feinholdt, & Lang, 2013). Among cancer patients (Forti, Cashwell, & Henson, 2016), those who completed mindfulness-based stress reduction training reported better quality of life and less stress than those in control groups. Barratt (2017) explored the role of

mindfulness and SC in enhancing compassionate care. According to Vivino, Thompson, Hill and Ladany (2009) it contributes to a setting where clients feel heard and understood. A South African study by Ives-Deliperi, Howells and Horn (2016) found Mindfulness Based Cognitive Therapy to be a key factor in enhancing mindfulness and emotion regulation and reducing anxiety among bipolar disorder patients. Sinclair, Norris and McConnell (2016) referred to it as being dedicatedly present.

Mindfulness is an important construct for the helping professions and psychology specifically. However, research remains limited in the South African context and requires further investigation (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017).

Compassion and SC are important constructs for the psychology profession. First, the therapeutic relationship is a significant component of any psychological intervention (Del Re et al., 2012; Geller & Greenberg, 2012). A connection with the client is thus important and fostered by compassion (Raab, 2014). SC also plays an important role in that those with a high level of SC are equally kind to others (Neff, 2003b), whereas those with low levels of SC tend to be kinder towards others than themselves (Neff, 2003b; Neff & Germer, 2012). This is applicable as SC psychologists are more likely to have compassion for clients' suffering and their own (Beaumont et al., 2016). Secondly, relating to oneself with compassion promotes self-care, professional well-being, and resilience (Finlay-Jones, Rees, & Kane, 2015; Patsiopoulos & Buchanan, 2011; Wise, Hersh, & Gibson, 2012). Also, it cultivates CS and serves as a protective factor against CF (Klimecki & Singer, 2011). Thus, SC is important for psychologists as it is a form of emotional regulation (Neff, 2003a), which impacts on compassion positively (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Ray et al., 2013; Wong & Mak, 2012). In light of the above, compassion and SC therefore play a vital role in the lives of psychologists, and as such, is worthy of further

investigation. As part of the research process, certain methodological steps where implemented. These will be discussed next.

Methodological Approach to the Study

Research Question

This study aimed to explore and describe practising psychologists' experiences of compassion and self-compassion. Investigation of this question is important considering that compassion is a key component necessary to work as a psychologist (Spandler & Stickley, 2011). Thus, the following research question is posed: How do psychologists experience compassion and self-compassion?

Research Design and Methodology

This study subscribes to a qualitative paradigm to gain rich descriptive data of the studied phenomenon (Denzin & Lincoln, 2011; Howitt, 2010). A qualitative approach was chosen to facilitate greater understanding of the topic on which limited literature is available (EBSCOHost database search, October 2017).

More specifically, the study subscribes to a social constructivist paradigm, which considers the nature of knowledge and its creation as important (Andrews, 2012). The use of language and everyday interactions is an essential means to construct and maintain subjective reality (Lewis, 2015). Therefore, the world can be understood and shared through an individual's experiences (Andrews, 2012). People often assume reality to be objective and unbiased, resulting in a true understanding of the world being taken for granted (Burr, 2015). Rather, remaining mindful of such assumptions about the world is critical. It fosters a greater appreciation for the individual's role in constructing knowledge (Burr, 2015). Such a perspective will thus allow for a clearer

understanding of psychologists' experiences of compassion and self-compassion (SC).

An explorative and descriptive multiple case study design (Yin, 2014) was used in approaching the research study. Case study research is a qualitative approach in which the investigator explores a bounded system (a case) or multiple bounded systems (cases) over time, through detailed, in-depth data collection (Herriott & Firestone, 1983). A multiple case study design can address the same research question in numerous settings using the same data collection methods and analysis. It also considers the participants' experiences in relation to the research topic (Stake, 2013). For this reason, it is regarded a compelling and valuable research tool, which could facilitate a more exhaustive examination of psychologists' experiences of compassion and SC (Herriott & Firestone, 1983; Stake, 2013).

Participants and Sampling Procedures

Purposeful sampling (Yin, 2011) was used for this study. This allowed the researcher to deliberately choose participants who were most suitable to contribute the most relevant data. Six participants were recruited from the psychology profession. According to Crouch and McKenzie (2016), a small sample size could enhance the study's validity by facilitating the researcher's attempts at establishing close associations with each respondent, which in turn impacts positively on the quality of interviews and the obtained data. Further, sample size in qualitative research depends on how effectively it can inform the phenomenon that is being studied (Baker & Edwards, 2012; Sargeant, 2012). For these reasons, the sample size was considered sufficient for the current study. The participants were Afrikaans- and English-speaking, and the sample consisted of one male participant and five female participants. In line with the

inclusion criteria, the participants were aged between 25 years and 65 years and were all psychologists who have been practising for a minimum of two years. In keeping with purposive sampling, participants were selected based on their registration as psychologists who have been practising for a minimum of two years. All the participants are registered in the category Counselling Psychology with the Health Professions Council of South Africa.

Participant 1 is in private practice; she is also employed at a higher education institution as a therapist for student and staff well-being. She has been practising for seven years. She believes that no single approach to therapy is sufficient and prefers a more integrative approach. She specifically enjoys cognitive, narrative and solution-focused approaches. She enjoys working with both young and older adults and deals primarily with cases that involve depression, anxiety, trauma, grief and relational difficulties.

Participant 2 is employed at a higher education institution as a therapist for student and staff well-being; in addition, he functions in private practice. He has been practising for 13 years and approaches therapy primarily from an integrative approach. He also particularly enjoys working from a cognitive perspective and prefers working with young adults.

Participant 3 is involved in private practice; she is also employed at a higher education institution as a therapist for student and staff well-being. She enjoys working with individuals experiencing everyday challenges and who do not present with severe pathology. She has been practising for five years and prefers to work from an integrative perspective.

Participant 4 is in private practice, has been practising for 12 years, and works mainly from cognitive and solution-focused perspectives. While she

sees some clients for therapy, she primarily focuses on psychometric assessment.

Participant 5 prefers to work from cognitive and solution-focused perspectives. She functions in both a private practice and at a higher education institution, where she works with student and staff well-being. She is a counselling psychologist and has been practising for five and a half years. She prefers and enjoys working with adolescents with behavioural and emotional problems, as well as with couples.

Participant 6 is in private practice and primarily focuses on therapy and career counselling. She prefers a solutions-oriented approach to therapy. She believes in clients' inner strength, resilience and resources to overcome life challenges.

Data Collection

Data was collected by means of qualitative semi-structured interviews. A qualitative interview can be defined as a two-way conversation involving the researcher and the participant (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Whiting, 2008). Interviews provided the researcher with rich data and opportunities for insights into the participants' experiences (Seidman, 2013). This is considered essential for case study research (Yin, 2014). The semi-structured nature of the interview questions allowed the researcher greater flexibility to adapt to what each participant had to offer in terms of their unique experiences. This yielded greater depth and richness regarding psychologists' experiences of compassion and SC. Increased understanding of these experiences will ultimately contribute towards broadening the knowledge base in the field of psychology and could inform potential interventions for this population.

Interview questions focused on the participants' experiences of compassion and SC. Two semi-structured, personal interviews took place with each participant, between 13 February 2017 and 10 April 2017. Interviews were conducted and voice recorded, with written informed consent, The interviews aimed to identify participants' emotions, feelings, and opinions regarding a particular research subject (Braun & Clarke, 2013). The main advantage of personal interviews is that they involve personal and direct contact between interviewers and interviewees, as well as eliminate non-response rates, but interviewers need to have developed the necessary skills to successfully conduct an interview (Kvale, 2008). What is more, unstructured interviews offer flexibility by leaving room for the generation of unique information and conclusions. Some sample questions that were included in the semi-structured interviews include the following:

- As a practicing psychologist, what does being compassionate mean to you?
- How do you practice compassion?
- Could you tell me about a recent case or counseling-related situation where you needed to show compassion to a client and how you experienced this process?
- How frequently and in which situations do you apply compassion towards yourself, if at all?

The interview schedule for the first round of interviews can be found in Appendix A. All second interview questions were unique to each participant, as they were based on data obtained from each participant's first interview.

Data Analysis

The data was transcribed and analysed by means of thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). This method is used to identify, analyse and report

main themes and sub-themes that originate within the collected data. The following steps were followed during thematic analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2013):

The first step entailed transcription of the recorded interviews, which was outsourced by the researcher to a third party. During the second step, the researcher had to read and reread the transcriptions to become familiarised with the data. This step formed the foundation for further analysis. The third step required the researcher to recognise noteworthy data and formulate it into codes. These were retyped in a separate document. Following this, the researcher investigated possible trends based on an analysis of the identified codes. At this time, overarching themes were explored, identified and sorted accordingly. This was the fourth step. The fifth step required reviewing and refining themes to ensure that they cohere in a meaningful way. Working definitions and names that capture the essence of each identified theme were then formulated and included during the sixth step. A report that analysed the collected data and addressed the research question was produced during the seventh and final step.

Trustworthiness and Rigour

The trustworthiness of this research was ensured by applying credibility, dependability, confirmability and transferability (Ryan, Coughlan, & Cronin, 2007). Credibility was achieved through respondent verification, namely whether their perceived realities had been captured accurately in the data (Vithal & Jansen, 2012). in light of this, participants were offered an opportunity to verify their answers during both the interviews. In addition, transcriptions of the interviews were provided to participants for feedback following both the interviews. Dependability was achieved by providing a precise description of the variations caused by people, contexts and time. This was enhanced by an audit trail and a reflective research journal. This further ensured replicability of the

findings (Saldaña, 2015). Reflexivity was an important approach during the present study. It entails a process of the researcher examining his/her own experiences and processes, and encourages examination of the role of relational dynamics' between the researcher and participants during the research process (Attia & Edge, 2017). The reflective journal is a means to incorporate a reflexive stance during the study. It enables the researcher to keep a record of insights, patterns and considerations during the course of the study (Krefting, 1991). The writing of notes to oneself also contributes positively towards the researcher's awareness and management of personal biases during the study. An excerpt from the researcher's reflective journal is included in Appendix C. Confirmability demonstrates that the findings are produced by the study, rather than through researcher bias. This was promoted with an audit trail, respondent verification, and assistance by the researcher's supervisor and co-supervisor, which served as a means of peer review (Vithal & Jansen, 2012). Finally, transferability, which entails application of the findings to similar contexts, was ensured by including a detailed description of the methodology and research process followed in this study (Krefting, 1991).

Ethical Considerations

Permission to conduct the study was obtained from the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of the Humanities, University of the Free State (Letter of ethical clearance included as Appendix D) The ethical principles of non-maleficence (to minimise harm) and beneficence (acting to the benefit of others) were adhered to during this research process in an attempt to avoid the participants from being harmed (Allan, 2016). All participants were informed of the purpose of the study, of confidentiality, that participation was voluntary, that there was no obligation to participate, and that participation could be withdrawn at any time during the study without penalties or negative consequences.

Moreover, deception was not used in the study. Written informed consent was obtained from each of the participants. To ensure that the participants' confidentiality and anonymity were maintained, their information was handled with sensitivity and care at all times. Pseudonyms were used for all the participants and their personal information was not revealed in any research reports or presentations (Merriam & Tisdell, 2015; Pope & Mays, 2013). Data were stored as both hard copies and electronic files. Hard copies were stored in a locked filing cabinet, while electronic copies were saved on the researcher's personal computer and it was password protected. Participants were not harmed in any way during the research. A referral system was in place; however, none of the participants indicated a need to make use of counselling.

Results and Discussion

The current study produced valuable findings that contribute towards an understanding of psychologists' experiences of compassion and SC. The first theme highlighted psychologists' values as an important point of departure for the experience and expression of compassion towards themselves and others. Such values fulfill a necessary function within the therapeutic process. For instance, it emerged from the study that valuing a sense of common humanity contributed to greater acceptance of the participants' own and others' inadequacies. This subtheme will be discussed first. The next subtheme will consider the participants' experiences of authenticity during the therapeutic process and how such experiences facilitated greater connection with themselves and their clients. Finally, being presently engaged during the therapeutic process and its value for the participants' experiences of compassion and SC will be considered. These identified values will be explored in greater depth in the following paragraphs. Relevant subthemes and evidence that support this theme will be discussed next.

Research Findings					
Theme			Subthe	mes	
Theme 1: Psychologists' Values are the Starting Point for Compassion and SC	→	The value of common humanity for compassion and SC	Connection through valuing authenticity	Compassion is expressed when psychologists engage in the present	
Theme 2: Relationships Nurture Compassion and SC	→	Compassion and SC through social connection	The therapeutic relationship nurtures compassion and SC	SC is encouraged through a relationship of care towards the self	
Theme 3: The Dynamic Development of Compassion and SC within a Therapist	→	The psychologist's psyche influences compassion towards others and the self	Psychologists' life experiences shape compassion and SC	Identifying therapeutic needs contributes towards compassion and SC	
Theme 4: Compassion and SC Require Awareness of Self and Others	†	Awareness facilitates increased compassion towards others	Awareness contributes towards an understanding of clients	Self-awareness promotes higher levels of SC	The role of self- reflection in enhancing higher levels of awareness
Theme 5: Compassion and SC Contribute Positively to Psychologists' Development	→	Empathy enhances the psychologist's role as a therapist	Compassion enhances active engagement of challenges.	SC facilitates personal development	SC enhances effective coping
Theme 6: Compassion and SC Impact on the Therapist's Energy	→	The additive worth of positive energy	SC requires an understanding of managing energy		

Theme 1: Psychologists' Values are the Starting Point for Compassion and SC

The value of common humanity for compassion and SC. Awareness and acceptance by the participants of their own humanity was considered an essential value and necessary for their engagement during the therapeutic process. The participants highlighted how making mistakes and experiencing failures was a normal part of being human. In light of this, it emerged that they experienced such acceptance of themselves and their own flaws as necessary for SC, and also as a precursor to the acceptance of their clients' shortcomings. It was thus through a process of SC engagement that they were able to experience greater openness towards and acceptance of both their own and others' fallibility. Such self- and other-acceptance was further experienced as impacting on the therapeutic relationship, as well as on the outcomes of the therapeutic process in general. For instance, P2 highlighted how compassion served as a primary factor in his rapport with and response to his clients:

People might say empathy makes you human. I think compassion makes psychologists human.

Further, P5 experienced embracing uncertainty and life challenges as a normal part of the human condition and as a necessary approach towards greater self-acceptance. This was especially important to her considering that she often works with student clients who present with a variety of experienced difficulties.

She describes an ability to accept herself and her own limitations and the role this plays in her sense of compassion when dealing with clients:

It's okay not to be perfect. And it's okay that we can't control everything in life. And it's okay to let go and forgive.

The participants also experienced SC as an extension of warmth and comfort, which allowed them to cope more effectively with their own flaws and imperfections. For example, P6 highlighted an imperfect nature as a human quality that has been experienced since the beginning of time, and which in fact makes people normal and acceptable. For this very reason she believed that psychologists need to have more SC:

... people have been going through struggles for millions of years, but we still just remain human. One day we celebrate and the next we mourn... to realise that everyone feels like that... It is normal and we wouldn't really live if we don't go through the normality of being human. We need to have more SC.

P6 also highlighted how denying their flaws and adopting a critical approach towards themselves could impede psychologists' compassion towards their clients:

We would rather cut our tongues out before we acknowledge: I am feeling a bit down, I am depressed. Or, I am tired... psychologists don't want anyone to know that they might be struggling too (and thus they struggle to show compassion).

Further, in her view, such self-criticism often stems from external pressures and the expectations placed on psychologists to be flawless:

Because we (psychologists) and the public buy into the perception that: we have to be perfect; we should always be in control; we must not have emotional problems.

In addition, psychologists' experiences of inadequacy and their challenges were highlighted by P1 as inherent and normal human processes:

Being a psychologist doesn't make you immune to challenges, to mistakes. You are still human.

Also, she viewed part of such acceptance towards her flaws as occurring through forgiveness and an initiative to correct mistakes, where possible:

I know all of us make mistakes, myself included. And that means being able to forgive myself if I do make mistakes. But also being able to fix it if I can.

Also, from P5's experience, acceptance of herself as an imperfect human is necessary for SC:

You need to be okay and compassionate with yourself that you're not perfect and that's okay.

During this study, inadequacy and flaws were highlighted as a typical part of being human. In addition, addressing shortcomings, where possible, was emphasised as an equally important consideration. From these results, it emerged that common humanity may therefore be expressed as a two-way process. First, one should accept one's failures and imperfections - that is being human. After all, suffering is a human experience, inherent to all mankind (Neff & Pommier, 2013). The realisation that suffering is a human experience could result in reduced isolation (Neely et al., 2009; Neff & Pommier, 2013) and, thus, an increased sense of connection to others and acceptance of oneself. Apart from accepting one's failures, attempts to correct such flaws should be made where possible – that, too, is being human. No literature was found during the study to support the finding that common humanity entails a two-way process, which includes acceptance of one's inadequacies and attempts to correct one's mistakes. It could therefore be considered a new finding (EBSCOhost, October 2017). This finding is worth noting as psychologists could experience reduced feelings of isolation and improved well-being by practicing SC. Through self- and other-acceptance, psychologists could also experience greater connection and compassion towards their clients. As Neff and Pommier (2013) mention, it is through acceptance of one's imperfections and inevitable fallibility as a human being that one could, in turn, relate to and have greater compassion for others' suffering. The current study supported this finding by highlighting common humanity as an invaluable aspect of compassion. In considering the South African context, psychologists and clients alike are frequently exposed to traumatic events (Atwoli et al., 2013). Such exposure may result in negative emotional experiences, which could require greater acceptance and compassion from psychologists towards themselves and their clients. Such a consideration further highlights the value in recognising one's own and others' shortcomings and how greater common humanity could lead to better interventions within the South African context by impacting on psychologists' effectivity.

In addition to common humanity, authenticity was also considered as an important value that could enhance psychologists' connection with their clients. This subtheme will be discussed in the following paragraphs.

Connection through valuing authenticity. The participants considered transparent and genuine engagement regarding their experiences as valuable for the therapeutic process. For example, most of the participants deemed authenticity, when relating to clients, necessary for the therapeutic relationship, as it could produce a sense of connection with clients that further facilitated compassion towards them. Also, authentic engagement towards their own experiences resulted in greater self-connection for the participants. Authentic engagement was thus viewed as an approach that facilitated genuine connection, compassion and SC. For instance, P6 experienced compassion within the therapeutic process as a contributor towards the therapeutic relationship. According to her, working in her counselling practice with younger clients who face familial or career challenges demanded a sense of genuine compassion on her part. To her, genuine compassion was essential as it benefitted her relationship with her clients:

They (clients) relate more... if they see that you're genuine in how you respond.

In addition, P4's experiences also supported the perspective that congruency underlies a positive therapeutic relationship. She felt that such congruency facilitated a relationship of trust and safety between psychologists and their clients and allowed clients to experience a sense of security within the therapeutic process:

When I'm compassionate I'm really compassionate, and people tend to know that. So if I care, I really care. And if I show that I understand, I really understand... So they (clients) tend to feel safe in that environment because they know where they stand.

In addition to the therapeutic relationship, P4 further considered authenticity as a positive contribution to the therapeutic process:

It kind of helps the relationship-building. The more congruent you can be in how you respond to the client, the better for the process.

It also emerged that authenticity facilitated a process of deep understanding, which incorporated respect for the client's experiences. For example, P2 described authenticity as having a real sense of the client's needs by avoiding assumptions and making an effort to gain genuine understanding of his/her situation. He was of the opinion that therapy is grounded on such genuine understanding:

Well I try to, to ask and check and double check to make sure that I do understand what you (the client) are saying to me is not what I'm interpreting it as, but what you are really trying to put across... Some, some people don't acknowledge that and... think that they know best. And I, I don't think that's good for therapy... in order to be a therapist, you need to understand what's going on here.

Authenticity, when showing compassion, directly impacts on the quality of care that clients receive from psychologists. For instance, compassion could

either be genuine or inauthentic (Catarino et al., 2014). For compassion to be genuine, it has to be shown out of sincere concern and care for the client. Such genuine compassion was described by Catarino et al. (2014) as having a positive impact on the therapeutic process. As the current study also indicated, true compassion contributes to the therapeutic process by encouraging genuine insight and understanding of a client's situation. Genuine compassion towards others was experienced by the participants as beginning with true understanding and compassion towards their own difficulties. By the participants engaging genuinely with their own challenges, they became more open to and able to extend genuine compassion to others. Mearns and Cooper (2017) described such genuineness in psychologists' interactions with clients as a fundamental contributor towards the therapeutic relationship. In light of this, compassion facilitated therapeutic processes that were specific and relevant to clients' needs. This ultimately impacted on the care provided to clients, as such care was shown out of true concern for their well-being. Such an approach could enhance psychologists' understanding of clients' needs and direct their engagements within the therapeutic process accordingly. Genuine compassion could thus be considered applicable and necessary for psychological caregiving. This is also true for the South African context where psychological services are often criticised for lacking relevant interventions (Bowman et al., 2010; Kagee, 2014; Long, 2013; Sher & Long, 2012; Wahbie & Don, 2013). Psychological services in the South African context may thus offer more relevant interventions as psychologists engage authentically towards therapeutic interventions and in their interactions with clients in general.

The impact of being present during engagements with clients also emerged as necessary for compassion. This subtheme will be discussed in the following paragraphs.

Compassion is expressed when psychologists engage in the present. Compassion requires psychologists to be present during their engagements with their clients. Most of the participants indicated such present engagement as contributing to their own well-being through greater SC and to more effective therapy with their clients through increased compassion. For example, P3 highlighted the value of being present with clients and the connection that such presence fosters in the therapeutic process. She specifically referred to the importance of reminding herself to be presently engaged, considering that she sees many student clients for therapy at the training institution where she is employed. She considered being presently engaged as a means to act in the best interest of her clients:

The moment the person is in your office and you start connecting with the person... then you feel: okay, I'm here, I'm with you, and I'm going to support you even though I feel tired. Because I think that connection is important.

Moreover, P2 explained that being presently engaged with his clients was valuable for the therapeutic process. He experienced it as impacting positively on the client's well-being, both in that moment and for the future:

If somebody was to visit my practice and they said that they... lost a loved one a year ago, and everybody else tells them that they need to move on... but they cannot move on... As a therapist, what do you do? Do, do you say or do what society says: just move on. And get this person to move on and scar them emotionally maybe for the rest of their life? Or do you slow down and say: but it's okay. We, we can still mourn.

Because maybe you never had time to mourn... Let's slow down... you need to put yourself there and understand what this person is actually going through.

In addition, being presently engaged was also experienced as valuable for compassion. P3, for example, emphasised her experiences of being present and how it contributed towards her expression of compassion:

(Researcher: You also mentioned that it's important for you to be there with your client in therapy. Would you say then that being present with your client is important for you to experience compassion?) Yes. Because if I'm not there, I might miss the cues that they're giving me. Definitely.

Furthermore, she also experienced being presently engaged with the client as the beginning of an engaging process of understanding and addressing the client's needs:

Compassion would be: I understand that you are, that you are unhappy or you're sad; I feel with you, and I would like you to feel better... And let's find ways for you to, to feel better... Because it's a starting point of, of a solution.

The participants further experienced present engagement as valuable in that it contributed towards both psychologists' and clients' well-being. Thus, greater presence within therapy resulted in more rewarding experiences of SC and compassion. For example, P4 held that being present required active

engagement and management from the psychologist towards their own wellbeing:

If you are focused on tomorrow and the day after... then obviously you are not focused on how you're feeling at that particular moment... it's important to be able to apply strategies when you realise it is necessary.

Also, P3 relied on daily life occurrences to serve as reminders that assisted her in being more presently engaged in life and its experiences, thus contributing to her well-being:

One of my cats would come and she'd be like: Meow meow meow. And then for me that's such a nice way of like remembering, hey, this is actually life here. This is like a live thing. I need to put away my timewasters and just spend time with life here.

From the current study it emerged that being presently engaged in therapy contributed positively to clients' experiences of the therapeutic process. Sodeke-Gregson et al. (2013) described how therapeutic presence imparts a sense of fulfilment to psychologists as they are able to contribute positively to their client's needs in that particular moment. Geller and Greenberg (2012) described being present within the therapeutic space as a quality that fosters awareness for the psychologist of themselves and their clients, and which leads to a deeper connection between them. According to Geller and Greenberg (2012), the therapeutic presence is a fundamental quality for the therapeutic relationship. These authors (2012) also describe such presence as fundamental for effective therapy. Therapeutic presence could therefore be understood as a therapeutic factor that contributes to both the client's and the psychologist's

well-being – and in light of that, also the therapeutic relationship shared between them. Therapeutic presence encourages clients to feel that they are being heard and understood (Vivino et al., 2009), and facilitates the development of meaningful connections with clients (Burnell, 2009). Further, being presently engaged in therapy is beneficial to psychologists as it enables them to better manage work-related stress (Foureur et al., 2013), it reduces CF and vicarious trauma (Hülsheger et al., 2013), and it enhances more positive outcomes in general (Thompson et al., 2014). Thus, through the participants relating their experiences, it became evident in the current study that present engagement is an essential skill for the therapeutic process.

It also emerged from the study that personal and professional relationships enhance compassion and SC. In light of this, social connection, the therapeutic relationship and the participants' relationship with themselves were all indicated as relevant subthemes. These will be considered in the second theme, which will be explored next. These identified subthemes will be discussed in the following order: first, social connection's role in enhanced compassion and SC; second, the impact of the therapeutic relationship on enhanced compassion and SC; and finally, the study will consider psychologists' relationship with themselves.

Theme 2: Relationships Nurture Compassion and SC

Compassion and SC through social connection. Social connection is an essential component that enhances compassion and SC. The participants indicated that social connection was experienced through both personal and therapeutic relationships. Enhanced SC occurred as the participants not only provided compassion during therapy, but also received compassion from relationships. The compassion offered by these relations provided the participants with an opportunity to extend more SC towards their own challenges, which in turn increased their compassion towards others. For instance, for P2, social relatedness provided an opportunity to be on the other side of compassion, where he could also experience compassion from others. He deemed being on the receiving end of compassion as an experience that adds value to psychologists' well-being:

Relationships also give the opportunity to maybe experience compassion from the other side. And it gives you that, that feeling of: but, I am understood. Somebody else understands me. Which is necessary, because we cannot just always be compassionate, it's always nice to have somebody be compassionate towards you. And I think that's what relationships bring to you.

Social connection was also experienced as a valuable contributor towards more effective coping skills. For instance, P1 experienced social connection, and being on the receiving end of compassion, as a potential coping strategy. She highlighted that receiving compassion from others, as opposed to only providing it, adds to psychologists' sense of self-efficacy:

People might use (their experience of) compassion... to cope with the specific situation. So, so it (receiving compassion from others) might increase their resourcefulness and their trust in their own ability to overcome something.

In addition, P4 highlighted the role of relationships in engaging compassion as a coping resource and which enhances additional coping resources:

I think to a certain degree people might use compassion and, and when they experience compassion from someone. They might use that (experiencing compassion from others) in order to motivate them to cope with the specific situation. So, so it might increase their resourcefulness and their trust in their own ability to actually overcome something, because someone understands what's going on; someone cares... It (compassion) might become one of their resources that they might use (to cope) – the understanding and caring of others... (Additionally) being compassionate towards someone, it might also elicit some of their other coping mechanisms. It might be that compassion is a specific resource... but it might also (be) that that kind of triggers other resources.

Also, P3 touched on the value derived from social relatedness in enhancing her capacity for compassion and managing CF:

We (colleagues) were actually trying to think of different solutions maybe just to help each other out in terms of that (preventing CF). In terms of the workload and more constant or regular reminders and saying: okay, let's take a break every two, three months. Do something that will recharge us.

Moreover, P4 experienced social connection as contributing to her sense of purpose. She also experienced shared support as a contributing factor to her well-being:

So, I've noticed that I... enjoy sharing what I've got and what I've learnt... Even if it's a colleague of mine that I haven't seen in a while and they ask me for input on something. Then immediately I feel that by giving back something that I've learnt, it kind of also makes me feel better a bit. It's like I re-recognise why it is that I'm doing what I'm doing.

Social connection was experienced by P3 through collegial support and a shared sense of suffering:

So often you would build friendships at work, but it doesn't even have to be a friendship. It's just understanding of we go through the same, you know, process at work, the same challenges.

Positive relationships also provided P3 with a sounding board from which to regain objectivity about her professional role and responsibility. It helped her to improve the regulation of her own emotional experiences, and to extend greater SC:

We're not psychic, and we're not mind readers. It helped that I had that emotional support from someone else that I trusted just to help me with that.

It further emerged that SC could be experienced from various relationships. For instance, from P1's experiences, family represented important relationships that contributed to her well-being:

My family is part of my social support. They sort of bring in a different vibe from the work environment. They appreciate you for who you are.

This finding facilitated awareness of the role and value of social connection for psychologists. It emerged from the study that social connection enhanced the participants' well-being through shared support, experienced compassion and enhanced coping skills. Killian (2008) described social connection as the most significant predictor of CS, which entails a positive experience from helping others (Crowe, 2016). Therefore, in addition to enhancing the psychologist's well-being, social connection also holds positive outcomes for clients as the psychologist becomes better equipped at providing care, compassion and empathy (Smart et al., 2013). Furthermore, participants also highlighted how positive relationships contribute to SC and that SC also contributes to enhancing relationships. Neff (2003a) indicated that SC enables psychologists to experience greater interpersonal connectedness. According to Boellinghaus et al. (2013), SC enables psychologists to experience greater acceptance, compassion and care toward themselves and others. Thus, a relationship between SC and interpersonal connectedness appears to be reciprocal. The role of social connection in enhancing compassion and SC could be considered a new finding as no literature was found during the study to support this finding (EBSCOhost, October 2017). A positive relationship between SC and interpersonal connectedness could lead to greater expression of SC, as well as intrapersonal and interpersonal connectedness for the psychologist. These factors could also have a positive impact on the therapeutic relationship and therapeutic process, and could thus enhance psychologists' well-being and lead to more positive therapeutic outcomes. Therefore, the finding that social connection could enhance compassion and SC could be valuable in encouraging psychologists to be more aware of this fact and increase their strategies to enhance social connection. It may also prove a valuable area for further exploration in future research.

Next, the study will explore the role of the therapeutic relationship towards increased compassion and SC.

The therapeutic relationship nurtures compassion and SC. It emerged from the study that the therapeutic relationship enhanced the participants' engagement with and expression of compassion and SC. Such a relationship was perceived as a core foundational component necessary for effective therapy, as it facilitated the expression of compassion, fostered positive interactions between parties, and encouraged involvement in the process from both the psychologist and the client. For instance, according to P3, the therapeutic relationship serves as a key component in the therapeutic process. To her, such a relationship with the client is primary to other factors and also the most essential component for constructive therapy:

The moment that the client feels you understand them or you're not judging them, then a lot of the other things kind of sort themselves out.

Moreover, she indicated that the therapeutic relationship enabled her to gain a deeper appreciation for a client's position and fostered greater compassion towards him/her:

If you don't have that connection with somebody, I think you misinterpret their situation more... if there is a connection, you would understand the situation better, which can lead to better compassion.

Further, according to P4's experience, the therapeutic relationship encourages greater consideration for the impact that psychologists have on clients. She

experienced such an impact as grounded in the therapeutic relationship and a necessary consideration for the therapeutic process:

Considering the impact of your decisions on the client, I think is part of your professional relationship that you have.

The participants also highlighted how SC served as a stepping stone towards more positive therapeutic processes by contributing to the therapeutic relationship. For example, by the participants first relating positively to themselves, they become more inclined and able to relate positively to others, including their clients. SC could therefore be considered a foundation for constructive relations with others. For instance, P6 experienced SC as necessary for both her own and her clients' well-being, and therefore also for the effectivity of the therapy:

If I don't have SC for my own worries and anxieties, then how will I have compassion for others.

Further, P6 highlighted the role of self-nurturance in psychologists' capacity for relating to and extending care to others:

The more you are able to nurture yourself, the more you are able to nurture others.

Similarly, P1 stressed how SC supported therapists in their therapeutic role and contributed towards effective therapy:

If you don't help yourself, you're not going to be able to help those people.

Also, SC was experienced as vital to the psychologist's role as a therapist, in that it fosters compassion for others. P5, for example, reflected on the importance of SC in this regard:

It's also that thing of not emptying your tank, because you can't give out what you don't have yourself.

The participants in the current study experienced the therapeutic relationship is a source of connection and compassion. Whenever a therapeutic process occurs, a therapeutic relationship between the therapist and client, whether positive or negative, is inevitable (Jensen & Kelley, 2016). Catarino et al. (2014) characterised a positive therapeutic relationship as a connection that fosters open communication and increased opportunity for compassion. It is through such a connection with clients that psychologists are able to extend greater compassion (Cooper, 2012). Cooper (2012) further described how a sense of connection could be experienced by both psychologist and clients at either the same or different times within the therapeutic space. Such a connection is considered important as it contributes to the therapeutic relationship and ultimately also to effective therapeutic outcomes (Mearns & Cooper, 2017). According to Miller (2007), compassion is difficult to define, but it inevitably involves connection and caring for others. He held that such a connection could either occur cognitively through perspective taking, or affectively through empathy. Similarly, the importance of the therapeutic relationship was highlighted by Geller and Greenberg (2012), who considered a positive therapeutic relationship as the foundation for therapeutic intervention and essential for positive outcomes in therapy. Further, many psychologists work in environments that often have high demands for caregiving (Coleman et al., 2016). Due to such high demands, these psychologists often experience greater needs for self-care. According to Neff (2009b), when an individual extends self-kindness, a sense of emotional safety is created. It is thus important for psychologists to extend SC, as greater self-care could result in increased well-being for the psychologist. Further, as their own well-being is enhanced, psychologists' engagement with the therapeutic process could also be enhanced, thus resulting in more effective relations with clients. In light of this, greater compassion could be experienced with the application of SC, for both psychologists and their clients. This finding was important for the participants in the current study, as greater SC may contribute positively to the effectivity of therapy. Based on experiences with their own therapeutic processes, they also supported the view that a positive relationship serves as the foundation for constructive therapeutic interventions.

In addition to the therapeutic relationship being important for compassion and SC, the finding that a personal relationship with themselves is beneficial for psychologists' experiences of compassion and SC will be discussed next.

SC is encouraged through a relationship of care towards the self. The participants in the study described their experience with SC as an intimate encounter that evoked inner dialogue and greater personal connection. For example, P5 emphasised that psychologists owe it to themselves to practice SC, considering SC's positive contribution to their well-being:

... it's (self-compassion), it's one of the things you feel you deserve and you owe it to yourself.

Moreover, it was stressed that SC contributes to psychologists' well-being by encouraging a relationship of care and understanding towards themselves. P5, for example, emphasised the importance of such a relationship and highlighted how it fosters greater acceptance through compassion for her own failures and challenges:

... (SC is) to have a good relationship with yourself and to be your own best friend and to also have empathy and compassion for yourself.

Similarly, SC was experienced by P4 as an intimate expression of acceptance towards herself, by herself. She described such acceptance as intimate and authentic:

And I think a big part of, of being compassionate is just loving yourself for whatever it is that you do and don't do, you know. And, and part of that is accepting both the good and the bad.

P2 underscored SC as a personal process that facilitated him spending time alone with his own thoughts. He also experienced SC as a process that encouraged paying attention to himself, his needs and his current state-of-being:

It's more to be on your own with yourself... self-compassion is very much something between you and yourself... It is a personal process. You need to understand where you come from and be aware of where you are at, at a certain point in your life.

The findings from the current study highlighted SC as an intimate process that extends compassion towards the self. It emerged that greater SC by psychologists towards themselves could enhance their well-being. Such increased well-being may in turn enable more effective participation and compassion during the therapeutic process, which could also impact positively on clients' well-being. In light of this, the current findings could therefore be considered important for psychologists considering that greater connection and acceptance towards the self may translate into enhanced well-being for both the psychologist and, indirectly, for their clients. SC could thus be described as a process that forges a deeper connection with oneself and encourages greater self-acceptance. For example, Neff (2003a) highlighted that SC allows psychologists to experience more self-acceptance. She also highlighted that SC requires sensitivity, being non-judgmental, and showing respect towards the self (Neff, 2009a).

Ways in which compassion and SC develop within a therapist were highlighted by the study as a beneficial finding and will be considered in greater depth in the next theme. This theme relates to the role of compassion and SC as dynamic, ever-changing and evolving processes of caregiving. During the research, compassion and SC were considered by the participants as dynamic processes with multiple factors influencing the experience and expression thereof at any given moment. In light of this, the following subthemes emerged and will be discussed in greater detail: first, the role a psychologist's psyche plays in his/her approach to both compassion and SC; second, the influence a psychologist's life experiences and the therapeutic process exerts on compassion and SC; and finally, the contribution that engaging with certain identified therapeutic needs makes to enhanced compassion and SC.

Theme 3: The Dynamic Development of Compassion and SC within a Therapist

The psychologist's psyche influences compassion towards others and the self. For the purpose of this study, the psychologist's thoughts and emotions will be collectively referred to as the psyche (Taheri & Biriya, 2013). The participants in the current study experienced their psyche as essential for their engagement with compassion and SC. The psyche demands consideration as an influencing factor, considering that it could have either a positive or negative impact on the psychologist, and thus has the potential to contribute towards either CS or CF. The participants emphasised the need to first change their perspectives or attitudes towards certain ideas or situations before they could extend compassion or SC. Negative or unconstructive perceptions often impeded their capacity for greater compassion and SC. P5, for example, emphasised the role that her psyche plays in her compassionate engagement towards herself and her clients:

I think by, by looking at your own thoughts in terms of certain things and realising: but you are now trying to be perfect. Or trying to be a perfectionist. Or I must do everything perfect. Or just the, the demands that you put on yourself... it's important to just look at what you think about things and how you think about things. Because in the end that influences your emotions and your behaviour.

P3 also touched on how the psychologist's psyche could impact on the therapeutic process. She highlighted how negative emotions, such as anger and resentment, could draw the psychologist's attention away from the client and

focus it on themselves instead, resulting in reduced levels of compassionate care:

Holding onto anger is like holding onto a hot coal and hoping to throw it at someone, because you're just actually burning yourself.

Furthermore, P3 highlighted the impact of emotions and thoughts on her engagement within the therapeutic process and her expression of compassion towards her clients:

When you're stuck on something in terms of whether you're angry about or regret or anything, you do use up a lot of psychic energy on that. On ruminating over and over again on something. And if you do that, how are you going to have energy left to do anything else (such as express compassion)?

P6 emphasised how SC is often limited due to the incorrect belief held by psychologists that they do not need to apply SC:

Psychologists buy into the incorrect perception that we don't have personal challenges... have little opportunity to be SC.

Also from P6's perspective, a lack of SC often stems from psychologists being critical towards their own need for SC. Self-criticism thus seemed to impede SC:

I think psychologists tend to have less self-compassion, because we are a bit critical.

P4 touched on how psychologists often do not engage in SC because they overlook their own needs. From her experience, such an oversight could result in CF:

CF is a continuous denying of your own personal needs – where you constantly put others' needs above your own.

P2 mentioned the importance of introspection and awareness of his thoughts and emotions during the therapeutic process. He experienced these factors as influential to his therapeutic approach and his expression of compassion:

I have to check myself and make sure what is going on in my mind about situations, and how that portrays to emotions as well. So I think you should be aware of everything that's going on in your head and in your heart (and its impact also on the client).

In addition to this view, P2 stressed the role of meaning and purpose as a function of the psyche and how it impacted on his expression of compassion towards his clients. He considered such experiences of meaning in his work as vital to his role as an effective therapist:

If my work does not have meaning, I fear that I will become less and less compassionate... So you need to have something that you believe in and something that you want to achieve and, and you always want to grow. Because if you have that goal, you always in my, in my understanding, you will always be compassionate towards (clients).

Moreover, P2 described compassion as a process that required being responsive to clients' needs; thus, highlighting the role of the psychologist's cognition in the therapeutic process. He viewed such discernment as a useful skill, which influenced engagement with clients and with the therapeutic process. In light of this, compassion was understood as being informed by cognition and guiding the psychologist towards effective therapy:

Sometimes clients and patients are not 'fixable'. Sometimes they need you to be compassionate towards them in order for them to be able to move.

In comparison, the role that the psyche plays in the psychologist's perception and management of his/her own needs was stressed by P1. Hence, she felt that the psyche not only enhances understanding of a client's needs, but also enhances understanding of a psychologist's needs within the therapeutic process. This was an important consideration for P1, considering that her work environment often demanded paying attention to many student clients' and private clients' needs. Consideration of her own psychic well-being was thus necessary as such consideration would allow her to manage her resources more effectively and also contribute towards the expression of compassion:

I've adjusted my focus in order to make sure that the type of clients or customers I have aren't people who drain my resources.

From the present study it became evident that the psychologist's psyche exerts an influence on the therapeutic process. The participants emphasises that their engagement with and experiences of compassion and SC could be

negatively affected by their behavioural and thought patterns, if they were not willing to embrace alternative ways of approaching situations. Thus, the psyche has an influence on the extent and quality of compassionate care and SC. For instance, the participants' psyches played a role in their perceptions and engagement within the therapeutic process, which contributed to their own and clients' well-being during this process. The psyche could thus be perceived as a regulator that guides the psychologist's interactions within the therapeutic space. However, the psyche could also be seen as a factor that needs to be regulated or managed by the psychologist. These findings were considered important for the participants in the present study, as awareness of the role that their psyche plays in their own and clients' well-being could lead to increased insight, which could further enhance engagement within the therapeutic process. Greater awareness of and engagement with their needs could result in higher levels of empowerment and an increased capacity to engage constructively with their clients and their own well-being by implementing compassion and SC. No literature was found during the present study on the role of the psychologist's psyche in compassion and SC and could thus be considered a new finding (EBSCOhost, October 2017). Understanding how the psychologist's psyche may impact on his/her expression of compassion and SC, may hold valuable outcomes for the profession and psychologists' approach to therapeutic processes. It could thus be an important area for future research.

In light of the above, it is evident that the psyche fulfills a significant function in psychologists' expression of compassion and SC. Apart from this finding, the study also highlighted how certain life experiences impacted positively on psychologists' compassion towards themselves and others. This finding will be discussed in greater detail in the following subtheme.

Psychologists' life experiences shape compassion and SC. The participants expressed how various life experiences had enhanced their growth as compassionate individuals by increasing an understanding of themselves and their clients. Through such understanding, life experiences also shaped the participants' engagement with clients and therapeutic processes. For instance, P5 highlighted how life experiences had influenced her sense of relating to herself and others:

I think over the years I've learnt to be more kind to myself, and have more compassion, and more empathy and understanding... You become more compassionate as you grow older.

Similarly, P2 emphasised the function that his life experiences played in equipping him to engage more compassionately with his clients:

Almost the, the experience you, you gain from various roles sort of equips me. I wouldn't speak for other psychologists. But, equips me to... be good at what I do (therapy). I think because it teaches me of life, and it teaches me of situations, and choices and emotions that one goes through.

Furthermore, P2 highlighted how his life experiences impacted on his perceptions and beliefs, which in turn continued to influence his engagement with his clients:

Sometimes our understanding of certain situations and our own personal ideas about certain things influence our way of thinking about them (clients).

For example, P3 reflected retrospectively on the development of her ability to engage more compassionately towards herself:

If I look back, the beginning of my therapy years was the most difficult for me. I tried to put everything in (into therapy) – more than I really had – and then I didn't have anything left. I would also feel more guilty about things.

Moreover, experience taught P1 to set and manage boundaries in the therapeutic process and made her aware of her limits. Through life experience, she was thus more able to acknowledge her needs and act SC towards those needs:

When you start a practice, you are still vulnerable... you are not a seasoned therapist who knows boundaries... I have learned with experience that you can only do so much for your client as a therapist.

SC was also highlighted as a process that develops greater tolerance. For instance, from P5's perspective, life experiences played a role in helping her embrace a more open-minded approach towards life and herself:

... throughout your life it (SC) has been a process... as I get older it's easier... because your black-or-white thinking has changed and you are now able to live in a world of grey areas.

P2 explained learning from previous experiences in greater depth by highlighting the role of his own experiences in enhancing his compassion towards clients:

... when I used to work with parents and I wasn't a parent myself, I could understand what they were saying and I could assist them in an efficient fashion. But because I have children now, it sort of gives me a greater... well, let's call it compassion, for what's happening in their lives. And if a parent sits in front of me and tells that: my son won't be able to study this year, in the past it would have been: ja, he can't study this year because... But, because I have that greater understanding now... my understanding of what he's saying has grown. And I think I would deem that as compassion. I had more compassion for the statement that he just made. Not that it would influence my intervention in much more than I would have done prior, but I think it just puts things more in perspective.

Furthermore, P2 stressed an appreciation for, and the benefits of, learning from previous experience:

I'm a firm believer of everything that happens to you, you can use or utilise somewhere along the line.

Moreover, P6 learned through life experience that clients faced difficulties similar to her own, which enhanced her compassion towards them:

You don't necessarily have to have exactly the same experiences as your client, but being aware of what they are going through and perhaps

being exposed to similar experiences, (being aware that it) is busy also happening to my client. For that reason I can have compassion with my client.

Life experiences appeared to occupy a significant role in shaping the participants' engagement with and expression of compassion and SC during the therapeutic process. This occurred through enhanced appreciation for their clients and their unique situations, and the psychologists' own challenges. Considering that the South African context is a dynamic one, populated by different cultures, varying backgrounds and changing contexts, greater appreciation for the role of life experience in shaping psychologists' understanding and approach towards clients is vital. Such engagement and understanding could lead to greater personal and therapeutic growth as psychologists gain deeper regard for their own and clients' suffering and also become more equipped to integrate their knowledge towards improved therapeutic outcomes. Therefore, through life experiences, psychologists could become more aware and take more initiative to incorporate relevant steps that could address their needs for their own and their clients' increased well-being. The current finding on the role of life experiences in compassion and SC (EBSCOhost, October 2017) could be considered a new finding as no literature was found during this research to indicate otherwise. However, further exploration of this finding could prove valuable for future research.

In addition to the above, the role of therapeutic needs towards enhanced compassion and SC was identified as necessary and will be considered in the following paragraphs.

Identifying therapeutic needs contributes towards compassion

and SC. The recognition of certain therapeutic needs contributed positively to the well-being of the therapist, the client and the therapeutic process by enhancing compassion and SC. The participants also highlighted the management of such needs as a step towards enhanced therapeutic outcomes. For example, one such an identified need related to improved management of resources within the therapeutic process. For instance, P1 experienced a need to ensure that she maintained a balance between the resources used for the well-being of her clients versus the resources used for her own well-being:

The same energy you invest in others, invest in yourself, so that there's a balance. If you don't help yourself, you're not going to be able to help those people. So you need to also invest in yourself as much as you're investing in other people... You need to also invest in yourself as much as you're investing in other people.

P3 touched on personal responsibility towards the therapeutic process by highlighting the risk of overextending one's resources. From her experience, overextending resources could lead to CF, which could impact negatively on psychologists' effectivity during therapy and have a detrimental effect on both their well-being and that of their clients:

People present with various problems, so if you were to take them on your shoulders all the time, it means you're not going to survive... so you're not that helpful... you just end up compromising yourself in a way.

P1, for instance, reflected on how consideration for and acceptance of her capacity within therapy contributed towards her well-being:

To be kind to yourself means saying: I stop here. I'll take over from here. This is what I can do, this is what I cannot do, and you leave it.

In addition, P6 highlighted the need for psychologists to manage their own wellbeing during the therapeutic process as a responsible approach towards therapy:

If I don't have SC for my own worries and anxieties, then how will I have compassion for others'?

Moreover, P6 highlighted the fact that psychologists should show consideration for their own needs. She said their own needs were often overlooked due to external pressures and pressure that was self-imposed:

We (psychologists) always think: I must, I must, I must give more... Forget to be kind to self and to nurture self.

A need for greater SC was also highlighted as necessary for effective therapy. For example, P3 considered SC an important approach during therapy:

I've realised the importance of it (self-compassion), and I don't see it as selfish; I see it as vital.

Further, the participants expressed a need to manage the expression of compassion as necessary for the enhanced well-being of their clients. For instance, P3 experienced the expression of compassion as being contextspecific, or dependent on what was needed in a particular context and by a particular client. Therefore, compassion is dependent on the client's engagement and what they present with during the therapeutic process:

The amount of compassion you give depends on the person and the problem that is presented. You gauge the amount that they (the clients) need.

P2 explained that compassion changes as his comprehension and perception of a client's situation changes. In light of this, he expressed a need to treat compassion as a process that develops over time:

When we are unskilled in understanding we tend to only try to follow our own way of seeing things. But as we hone that skill, we grow to understand a greater area, and encompass more situations and information into our understanding, rather than just our own perspective.

It emerged from the study that the psychologists' expression of compassion and SC was enhanced as they identified and addressed certain needs during the therapeutic process. In light of these findings, compassion and SC could be described as fluid processes influenced by the therapeutic process. By facilitating greater awareness and appreciation for the role of the psychologist within the therapeutic process, more relevant therapeutic outcomes, enhanced compassion and SC could thus be achieved. Hence, the current theme could contribute towards more applicable interventions for psychologists in the South African context (Kagee, 2014; Long, 2013; Wahbie & Don, 2013).

The following theme will focus on the participants' experiences of enhanced compassion and SC through greater self- and other-awareness. Such awareness was perceived as essential, as it could lead to more effective therapeutic interventions. Certain factors of awareness were identified as important contributors towards experiences of compassion and SC and will be explored in more detail in the following paragraphs. First, the finding that awareness enhances compassion towards others will be discussed. Also, the role of awareness in increasing psychologists' understanding of their clients' unique situations and needs will be explored in more depth. Next, the capacity of self-awareness in increasing SC will be considered. Finally, the role of self-reflection towards greater awareness, and thus enhanced compassion and SC, will be discussed in more detail.

Theme 4: Compassion and SC Require Awareness of Self and Others

Awareness facilitates increased compassion towards others.

Awareness of others was considered as necessary for greater compassion towards clients. Such enhanced compassion could result in beneficial outcomes for clients and therapeutic processes. For example, P2 emphasised awareness as necessary to facilitate connection with his clients, increase his appreciation for their unique situation, and increase compassion towards them:

(I) want to know as much as I can about this person's background or situation, (and) current situation, in order for me to find touch points to become compassionate.

P2 also highlighted awareness of personal biases as a consideration for the expression of compassion. Such biases may have a negative impact on the expression of compassion in that it could influence the psychologist's approach towards the client and the therapeutic process. For this reason, P2 experienced increased self-awareness as a necessary component to help manage personal biases:

I have to be aware of them (biases). I need to have self-knowledge; I need to know myself quite well in order to be able to identify them within myself... I just think one needs to be super attent [sic] to your own, well, let's call it 'issues'. If one is to put it in such a way. Because if you don't know that, that you have them, they will influence whatever you do.

From the study it further emerged that psychologists express compassion by also encouraging greater awareness in their clients. For instance, P2 highlighted compassion as a process of assisting his clients to become more aware of their own experiences and possible alternative perspectives thereof, and sharing in this process with his clients. In light of this, he experienced compassion as a shared engagement with the client:

... we refer to compassion as, as creating an awareness of where this client is... the awareness is that there's different avenues that she needs to explore in order to, to move in her situation. So in other words, if I have to put myself in her shoes, and to understand her situation and show compassion towards her situation, I need to be able to explore those avenues with her.

Further, the importance of facilitating clients' awareness of their own responsibility and resources to improve their situation was stressed by P4 as necessary for therapeutic change:

I'd work on, on their increasing their awareness of their own situation and, and finding solutions to that. So that they don't get stuck in this thing where they complain the whole time and they expect you to kind of just be compassionate towards them, and kind of take responsibility for their own actions... Instead of focusing on the specific situation which they require you to be compassionate about, rather focus on what it is that they can do to get themselves out of that situation.

The participants also experienced awareness as a process driven by intuitive understanding. For example, P2 found that his intuition enhanced his capacity for compassion towards his clients by encouraging himself to see the bigger picture and thus making more sense of the situations his clients find themselves in:

I think sometimes to be compassionate is also to allow yourself to see a bigger picture and not just focus on what you see in front of you.

It was also emphasised that self-reflection plays a role in self-awareness. For instance, P1 experienced self-reflection as necessary for greater self-awareness and, in turn, greater compassion towards clients:

I think it's important to reflect, you know, and to, to ask yourself what did you experience during a session with a client. Especially if you become aware of your own feelings that become more present there and surface more. To, to reflect and ask yourself so that you can be aware and that you can be more aware even in the next session.

In addition, P5 highlighted the role of self-reflection in greater self-awareness and increased compassion:

(Researcher: Would you say self-reflection plays an important role in showing compassion?). Definitely... Because... if you have gone through the same thing and there is counter-transference, it might influence the way that you portray the compassion.

Further, P5 explained how such reflection and awareness enhanced her ability to express compassion through validation of her clients' experiences:

... to kind of reflect what it is that you, that you see or that you experience from them, and, and in that way you kind of express your understanding of what it is that they're going through.

Similarly, P4 experienced awareness of herself and her client, and reflection on these aspects, as necessary factors for compassion:

I think (the most important thing for compassion) is awareness, general self-awareness and reflection. And... the same in a therapeutic process. To be aware of your own reactions towards a client as well, and... how you respond and all of that.

Also, the role of awareness as a skill that contributes towards emotional regulation and compassion was emphasised by the participants. For example,

from P4's experience, greater awareness of her clients helped her to regulate her interactions during therapy more effectively:

... it's kind of that, you know, rather than being irritated with a person who comes here irritated from the start, to kind of understand where it is they're coming from. And understand the underlying process that's going on and try and, and express consideration towards that.

Moreover, P6 reflected on an awareness of her own and her clients' experiences and expressions within the therapeutic process. She described such an awareness as enhancing her management of the therapeutic process and also as her expression of compassion towards her clients:

You will see in their demeanour (when clients withdraw) they will, they will start retreating. Not being as truthful anymore because they can feel that you're becoming judgmental... you have to be very aware of that. Even if you're not aware of it in that session, when, when you're doing your process notes and you realise: okay, I was... I said things, or I was impatient with my client and they retreated. Then you must do a bit of self-examination and you know, sort of probe yourself. What did I really say? How did I come across? Was I as compassionate as I wanted to be?

The present study highlighted the role of awareness in both preventing potentially negative outcomes and contributing positively to the client's well-being, the therapeutic relationship, and the therapeutic process as a whole. The participants reflected on the role of awareness in facilitating enhanced compassion towards others. Awareness of their clients' situation and

challenges thus played an crucial role in the participants' sense of compassion. This finding could encourage greater focus and appreciation for the role of awareness in compassion and potentially contribute to therapeutic interventions and outcomes. As no literature emerged during this study on the role of awareness in compassion (EBSCOhost, October 2017), it will be considered a new finding. The role of awareness in compassion could prove valuable for the psychology profession as it may lead to enhanced ways of approaching therapeutic processes. The current finding may thus be worth investigating in future research.

While the function of increased awareness towards enhanced compassion was considered an important finding for this study, it also emerged that awareness contributes towards increased understanding of clients' experienced challenges and specific needs. This too was considered a valuable finding for the research and will be explored in greater depth during the next subtheme.

Awareness contributes towards an understanding of clients.

The participants also considered enhanced awareness an approach that elicited a deep understanding of clients' suffering and their unique situation. For instance, for P2, such awareness meant gaining a deeper understanding of, or appreciation for, the situation that clients found themselves in. In light of this, he reflected on the nature of compassionate expression and his own experience thereof:

Because I don't think it's (compassion) my emotional response; it's more understanding than a response.

By opening themselves up to engage with their clients' stories, the participants gained greater awareness and understanding of their clients' unique situations. They experienced a two-fold process where greater awareness enhanced deeper understanding of their clients, and where such deeper understanding of their clients enhanced more compassion for their clients. For example, P2 felt that by being more receptive towards his client's unique experiences, he was able to grow in his understanding towards them and experienced greater compassion as a result. He experienced such an approach towards his clients as vital to his role as a therapist:

And, and hence I'm saying, if you hear that story five or six times, there's no way you can just focus on this; you need to grow more compassionate... If you hold a value or a moral in terms of life, and, and (for example) you think that abortion is not right, you, you're going to keep on bumping your head against that. Whereas you won't, you won't hear the real message why this person's here, and I don't think if you hear that message, you will be able to be a therapist for that specific client.

Adding to this point, P2 discussed how such enhanced awareness has influenced and contributed to his approach towards the therapeutic process, and also the expectations he placed on himself and his clients:

It brings that understanding... sometimes clients and patients are not "fixable". Sometimes their need is different. Sometimes they need you to be compassionate towards them in order for them to, to be able to move... compassion added that... sense of when to move and when not to move.

Similarly, P4 discussed how compassion contributed towards her understanding of her clients' situations. She believed that such understanding was valuable in that it enabled her to more effectively address her clients' needs:

Compassion gives me that, I would say understanding of a situation... (an ability) to acknowledge their (the clients') needs.

In addition, P2 experienced compassionate understanding as an ability to be aware of and acknowledge his clients' needs. He described such understanding as adding value to his role as a therapist:

My understanding of compassion also brought a different dimension to me. It added to me as a therapist... I notice the need for compassion maybe and the need to sometimes slow down in order to pick up in speed again somewhere else. So it gives me that, I would say understanding, of a situation. You can plan so much for a session and when you get to the session and something has happened or this person has regressed to a, to an emotional state, you need to, you need to be with that person at that stage.

P3 considered a connection with her clients as necessary for greater understanding of and compassion for their unique situations. She considered such connection as rooted in a deep awareness of clients' experienced challenges and also as a vital part of the therapeutic process:

I think it's just easier to relate (when there is a connection) to them (clients) and then you'd understand... So then you'd better understand

that specific person's needs... if there is a connection, you would understand the situation better, which can lead more to better compassion. Whereas if you don't even try and engage with the person, and find a connection, then I think you would probably miss... It would be more like a robot trying to, to be compassionate.

From P6's experience, compassion is a process of becoming immersed in her clients' experiences. Such an approach, she believed, began with awareness, which paved the way for deeper understanding and also encouraged genuine compassion for her clients:

(Showing) real interest and questioning and a want to know more: Okay, tell me more... not only on the surface... compassion is that step further that you take, because you go in, into your client's life... Yes, it goes deeper. It is not that you as therapist lose control over the session, but you allow yourself to be lead deeper by the client... and then to receive true understanding and compassion for what is happening in that person's life.

Moreover, P2 reflected on the role of awareness in fostering greater understanding and compassion for clients who are from different backgrounds and contexts to himself. He experienced such understanding as necessary to his role as a psychologist practicing in a multicultural context. He also considered greater understanding worthwhile, taking into account the sizeable student population that he works with on a daily basis:

Well, I think being... a Caucasian Afrikaner male, sometimes our understanding of certain situations and our own personal ideas about

certain things might almost influence your way of thinking about them. And also obviously when you think about them, how you react to them. And, and you do not want to be biased when you go into a, into a therapeutic relationship. So over time I've also realised that you need to spend more time when you cross cultural lines or even age lines, to form a, a good compassionate understanding of what's happening in a client's life... And you need to understand what that person is experiencing through their own understanding at that age. Because without that you, I don't think you can be fully compassionate.

Awareness added value to the participants by encouraging a deeper understanding of their clients' challenges and needs within the therapeutic process. This finding was beneficial for the participants in the current study as deeper understanding also fostered greater insight into their clients' experiences, allowed for increased compassion, more specific interventions, and effective treatment outcomes. This finding was also important for the South African context, considering that the South African population presents with varied cultural contexts and challenges that require more relevant interventions (Kagee, 2014; Wahbie & Don, 2013). Through deeper awareness and thus enhanced understanding of such varied experiences and presenting difficulties, psychologists could become better equipped to provide more relevant interventions for this context. The current theme on the role of compassion in greater understanding of the therapeutic context (EBSCOhost database search, October 2017) could be considered a novel finding as no existing literature emerged in this regard. Therefore, considering that this finding may be valuable for therapeutic processes and may influence therapeutic outcomes, it could be a valuable area to consider for future research.

In addition to enhanced awareness of clients' experienced challenges and needs fulfilling a necessary function for the therapeutic process, the study also highlighted how self-awareness by psychologists towards their own challenges and needs was equally vaulable for the therapeutic process. This finding will be discussed next.

Self-awareness promotes higher levels of SC. Self-awareness was perceived as an approach that empowered psychologists to practice SC more effectively, which could further contribute towards increased well-being. The participants emphasised that self-awareness was a necessary function of SC, as such self-awareness often precedes the expression of SC. For example, P1 highlighted the regulatory role that self-awareness plays in SC:

(Researcher: So would you then also say that self-awareness is a form of self-compassion?) It is. Because if you don't, if you're not aware, then you're not checking yourself to see: Are you on the right path?... (It) form(s) part of self-compassion.

It was further emphasised that self-awareness as an approach enhanced the participants' well-being. For instance, P1 described self-awareness as fulfilling a preventative role in helping her manage her well-being during the therapeutic process:

I notice when I haven't been aware for a while, that's actually usually when I'm struggling more... I think it's almost preventative in a way.

In addition, P4 reflected on the role of self-awareness in her well-being. From her experience, self-awareness could play a role in preventing CF:

If you don't recognise... when you have to care for yourself, then you won't know. And before you know it you, you might be in too deep.

Similarly, P4 further highlighted how self-awareness enhanced her well-being by enabling her to behave fairly towards herself, even when she felt inadequate:

If I had to feel frustrated with myself not being able to perform and I kept on asking: 'Why aren't you able to perform?'... But you don't realise that the last couple of days I haven't been sleeping alright; I haven't been feeling energetic... you obviously won't know then when to actually just care about yourself a little bit more.

Furthermore, self-awareness was experienced by P2 as an essential component for SC, which enabled greater self-understanding and engagement:

Self-compassion is to be aware of yourself in a situation and to understand yourself within that situation.

In addition, it emerged that self-awareness plays a role in SC by encouraging the participants to become more actively engaged in their life experiences and needs. For instance, self-awareness was perceived by P5 as a process that required active engagement that could contribute positively to an understanding of and engagement with herself:

You must know where you are in terms of yourself psychologically, emotionally... it's like doing a stocktake of your own life.

Moreover, for P6, self-awareness was experienced as a process that required personal responsibility. She felt that self-awareness does not happen of its own accord, but required active engagement:

(You) have to gauge (your) own compassion: 'What is happening in my life at this moment?

The present theme was important for the participants in this study as it created awareness of the role that self-awareness plays in enabling psychologists to know how, in which situations, and to what extent they require SC in their lives. Thus, it emerged that self-awareness provides a platform for greater SC. Also, increased self-awareness could contribute to more constructive participation by psychologists in the therapeutic process, which could in turn result in more effective therapeutic outcomes. Such outcomes could benefit the South African population and psychologists working in this context, as the weight of psychological caregiving among this population could be better managed. For instance, awareness and acceptance of themselves and their shortcomings was found to result in more positive thinking patterns for psychologists (Mantzios, 2014; Shonin et al., 2014). According to Neff (2003a), SC also fosters a balanced awareness of experiences, which implies that psychologists can look at such experiences without pretense, but with a willingness to engage them more openly. Thus, through enhanced SC, more effective outcomes for both psychologists and therapeutic processes could be achieved.

This study considered the role of self-awareness towards enhanced SC and therapeutic outcomes as vital for psychologists. In addition to this finding, it emerged that enhanced awareness occurred through greater self-reflection. Thus, the role of self-reflection was considered necessary by the participants and will be explored more thoroughly in the next section.

The role of self-reflection in enhancing higher levels of awareness. It further emerged from the study that SC encourages and seeks out opportunities for self-reflection. Self-reflection was experienced as important, as it provided a platform for enhanced awareness by the psychologists of their own and their clients' challenges, needs and experiences. Greater self-reflection thus also contributes towards greater compassion and SC. P6, for instance, highlighted her experience of self-reflection as a gateway towards greater self-awareness and SC. Therefore, through self-reflection, she was able to discover more opportunities for increased connection to herself:

Self-reflection is important for self-compassion... (you) become aware of own emotions and state of being at that moment.

Further, from P3's experience, self-reflection was enhanced when she spent time on her own. During such moments of solitude and reflection, P3 experienced greater connection to herself, which enhanced her sense of SC:

For me alone-time is important, because that's when I get the time to introspect and to become more aware of myself and where I'm at.

Self-reflection was also considered important as a means of self-regulation. For example, P3 highlighted self-reflection as a source of intrinsic motivation. She used such reflection towards enhanced awareness of her experiences and to accept or adjust her approach where necessary. She also relied on reflection as a source of encouragement to practice more SC:

(I) talk to self: 'You know, you're doing better than you think'. That type of thing. So, just saying kinder and gentle things to myself.

In addition, P2 experienced self-reflection as contributing to his personal learning and development and his approach towards his clients:

Self-reflection is important. I mean there's always something that you need to ask yourself and find an answer.

P1 also considered self-reflection as encouraging personal dialogue, which increased her coping skills and contributed to her development as a person. Such personal dialogue also enhanced her self-regulation:

I always do self-help and say: 'This is not the end of the world; you can do better next time'.

P4 relied on self-reflection to assist her in being more SC and compassionate when experiencing challenges in relation to the therapeutic process. Self-reflection thus served as a source of motivation:

So I kind of try and motivate myself... by reminding myself of what it is that I'm good at and that I actually really love doing it.

It emerged that self-reflection serves as a platform for psychologists to experience greater connection, awareness and regulation of themselves and their impact on the therapeutic relationship and process. This finding was beneficial for the participants in the current study, as greater self-reflection could thus contribute towards enhanced self- and other-awareness and increased compassion and SC. Self-reflection could also contribute to psychologists' engagement with and provision of caregiving in the South African context. This finding was supported by existing literature. For instance, according to Maree (2011a), psychologists have a duty to engage reflectively on their professional role to bring about meaningful change in the South African context, which continues to be plagued by inadequate provision of psychological services (Bowman et al., 2010; Nicholas, 2014). It is thus a necessary finding as engaging reflectively with their role enables psychologists to affect change through enhanced understanding of and insight in themselves, their clients, and the applicable therapeutic processes.

In the following theme, compassion and SC's contribution towards therapists' functioning will be highlighted. Such contribution appeared to take place through empathy, increased coping skills, by encouraging more active engagement towards challenges, and by contributing towards psychologists' personal development. The following section will thus discuss the following findings: firstly, the role of empathy in enhancing psychologists' function will be considered; then, compassion's capacity to enhance psychologists' active engagement towards challenges will be highlighted; next, the finding that SC increases the therapist's personal development will be discussed; and finally, SC's role in increasing coping skills will be investigated. From the participants' experiences, these facets of compassion and SC contributed positively to their

role as caregivers by enabling more effective engagement within therapeutic processes and by enhancing therapeutic outcomes.

Theme 5: Compassion and SC Contribute Positively to Psychologists' Development

Empathy enhances the psychologist's role as a therapist.

Empathy was experienced as a facet of compassion that contributes towards effective therapy. Although there are conceptual differences between empathy and compassion, empathy was experienced by the participants as an essential component for the expression of compassion. For instance, P2 highlighted how empathy is separate from compassion as a construct, yet a central component in the experience and expression of compassion:

Some empathy goes into being compassionate towards others. Empathy might be more the emotional experience, while compassion might have a behavioural component as well... You cannot be compassionate without being, or without experiencing empathy.

Furthermore, P5 discussed the fundamental role of empathy in creating a safe space for therapy and facilitating an environment where compassion could be experienced by the client:

Well, empathy. I, I think you can never do therapy without having Rogers at the back of your mind... To be aware, be person-aware. Like person-centred in the sense of being aware and just creating that space where you can built rapport and allow the person just to be comfortable. To be.

Similarly, P1 supported the view that empathy shares a fundamental relationship with compassion. She experienced empathy as an essential skill and starting point for compassion:

Compassion would mean for me that with every client who comes to me, I need to be able first and foremost to have empathy. And not just have it as a practice, but really put myself in, in the shoes of, of the person who I'm seeing. You know, always trying to imagine like if I was in same situation, how would I feel, and how would I expect people to treat me.

In addition, P3 reflected on the importance of empathy during her expression of compassion towards clients. She held that a lack of empathy could hinder her capacity for compassion:

You would struggle to be compassionate towards someone else if you didn't understand what they were feeling and what they were struggling with.

Moreover, P3 described her own well-being as a necessary precursor for empathy, while highlighting the impact of physical and emotional exhaustion on her engagement during the therapeutic process:

It is a challenge more for me to understand and to have empathy with someone (when frustrated and tired).

From these findings, empathy appeared to regulate the expression of compassion and fulfill a necessary function towards effective therapeutic processes. Greater awareness of empathy's role in compassion could thus result in increased outcomes for therapy, hence highlighting the value of this finding for psychologists. Back et al (2014) considered empathy and compassion as core functions for psychology. Compassion was described as an empathetic emotional response (Lilius et al., 2011) that entails feelings of warmth, concern and an active motivation to contribute towards the alleviation of clients' suffering (Klimecki & Singer, 2015). Empathy was described as an ability to share in emotional experiences without becoming overinvolved (Klimecki & Singer, 2015). According to Vivino et al (2009), compassionate psychologists are those who portray emotional resonance, warm and empathetic relationships with clients, and who do not distance themselves from their clients' emotions.

It emerged from the study that therapists become more actively engaged in clients' experienced challenges through increased compassion. This identified role of compassion and its contribution towards psychologists' functioning within the therapeutic process will be considered in greater detail in the following subtheme.

Compassion enhances active engagement of challenges. Compassion was experienced as action-oriented processes that seek to do something to help alleviate clients' suffering. Thus, compassion emerged as a factor that supported psychologists as active contributors towards the well-being of clients. For example, P3 experienced compassion as an ability to engage constructively and proactively towards clients:

Sometimes for me compassion is more actions... with compassion you can be compassionate towards someone by maybe doing something for them or saying something... So I think it goes a little bit further.

In the same way, P2 also experienced compassion as an active attempt to contribute towards clients' management of difficult situations:

I like to be a doer. So in terms of being compassionate, compassion feels more like a... doing emotion than just a non-doing emotion... Compassion feels like you actually, you contribute. (Researcher: Would you say that it's more engaging?) Yes.

Equally, compassion was experienced by P6 as active engagement, which is observable, specific and goal-oriented. She reflected on factors that contribute to compassion as an active process:

I think that compassion is an active process... it is an active search for the client's true self... It is not a passive thing ... You feel it inside yourself... it is a very direct and active thing to me... in general it has to do with the atmosphere that you create... not only your verbal (communication), but also your non-verbal (communication)... this is all part of the active compassion you show to someone... I can sit here and tell you: Oh, I feel so empathetic towards someone who walks past and who struggles to walk. But compassion is almost a thing of walking downstairs and asking the person: Is your leg hurting? It looks like you have trouble walking. What happened? What can I do to help?... It's almost getting your hands dirty.

Likewise, P5 experienced compassion as gestures of support towards clients that extended beyond therapeutic sessions:

(Compassion is) being available to listen, to have the empathy and to care. (Researcher: How do you make yourself available to clients?)... it depends from person to person. If a person maybe lost somebody to death, I will just, if I know the funeral is in between when our next session (is) ... I will just send a message to say: I'm thinking of you and ja... (it is showing) a bit of support. So, in that sense of sending a message... if you also know that a person is going through a difficult time... (Or if) the availability of medical aid funds would allow them to see you every two weeks or every third week, to in between just phone and ask: are you coping, how are you doing?

Similarly, for P6, supporting a client in their need, and at their pace, was perceived as a skill that required proactive action:

... (It is) a conscious decision again to go at the pace of the client and not so much... want(ing) to fix them (clients) quickly.

Further, it was highlighted that compassion encourages active engagement from clients. For example, P4 experienced compassion as a process that spurred active participation from her clients towards improving their own challenges. She viewed compassion towards her clients as a necessary approach, which encouraged responsibility and action towards their own well-being:

I think that... that's what distinguishes sympathy from compassion... is kind of the active part of it... And the positive focus... I wouldn't say necessarily (compassion is) solution-focused, because there might not always be a solution... But I think just being aware of what it is that you can do for yourself in order to feel better... to me there is a certain active part to compassion and getting out of the situation that you, that you feel stuck in... I wouldn't be compassionate towards someone for six months because of the same situation... the understanding of what this person is going through remains, but at some point you would like that person to actively do something about it.

It emerged from the present study that compassion is an active process, which calls on psychologists to take the necessary steps towards alleviating their clients' afflictions. According to Sinclair et al. (2016), compassion could be considered an emotional and physical response that aims to improve suffering. The study further highlighted that compassion also serves to motivate participation, responsibility and action from the client towards alleviating their own suffering. These findings were considered important for the participants in the current study as they contribute towards the delivery of compassionate care through relevant interventions that address clients' specific needs and could enhance therapeutic outcomes.

While compassion plays a critical role in increasing psychologists' active participation towards clients' experienced challenges, SC was experienced as contributing towards their personal development. The following paragraphs will highlight and discuss this role of SC, as it is considered a significant finding.

SC facilitates personal development. The participants experienced SC as a factor that contributed towards their personal growth. They also reflected on the positive impact that such personal growth had on their role as professional caregivers. For instance, P3 highlighted the importance of not only engaging in self-forgiveness over mistakes and failures, but also learning and growing from such moments of inadequacy:

Forgiving myself for mistakes is important, because yes, we are all human. But learning from it is the big thing.

Moreover, it was emphasised by the participants that SC provides a platform for growth by learning from constructive criticism. For instance, P2 believed that such an approach could contribute positively towards his development by challenging him to move beyond his own views to also consider and learn from alternative perspectives:

I think in terms of growth and actualising, you need to be able to allow other people to challenge what you think of yourself.

It was also highlighted that SC plays a role in facilitating a process of growth through reconnection with oneself. For example, P1 emphasised how SC enabled her to reconnect with herself, and thus increased her well-being. From her experience, a reconnection with herself through SC therefore enabled greater connection within the therapeutic process:

For me, being away for a while helps me to reconnect and rebuild myself. When I go back to my clients... I sort of gain perspective. It (therapy) is always about the quality as well. (Researcher: So would you then say that that reconnection with yourself is a form of self-compassion?) It is.

SC was considered a process that fosters psychologists' personal development. For instance, P2 experienced SC as a means to grow and learn from previous situations, so that he could expand his emotional resources and behavioural approaches towards his and his clients' challenges:

I think it (SC) gives me a broader emotional database... What I experience, I would save... and next time I'm faced with something, now I have my own experience to refer to.

According to Zhang and Chen (2016), people who take a SC perspective toward failures experience positive adjustment, including greater acceptance, increased forgiveness and personal improvement. This finding could thus be considered important for the participants in the current study as personal growth could enhance their coping skills and also their well-being. Thus, growing from mistakes, learning to implement alternative perspectives, employing enhanced coping skills and finding alternative ways to reconnect with oneself, despite challenges, all serve to enhance psychologists' approach to negative experiences and increase their well-being. In light of these findings, SC could thus result in favourable outcomes for the psychologist and the therapeutic process.

The study highlighted the finding that SC enhances the participants' capacity for effective coping strategies. For this reason, it was included in this study as a subtheme, and will be explored in greater depth in the next few paragraphs.

SC enhances effective coping. The participants described SC as a form of coping during difficult moments. In light of this, SC was experienced as an approach that facilitated acceptance towards oneself for mistakes, and which encouraged moving on and growing from those mistakes. For instance, P2 highlighted his experience with SC as a coping strategy that encouraged either action or acceptance of failures:

If you can't do anything about it, try to manage the situation as best as possible until you can do something about it. Or accept that you can't and, and try to move on.

P3 supported this view by highlighting acceptance of her inadequacies as an effective coping strategy:

Then it's more of: 'It's okay to be burnt out and to not have energy left now'. And then I kind of feel that it helps to get through it easier and quicker.

It was also emphasised that SC could serve as a coping strategy against CF. For example, P3's experience showed that preparation and awareness of herself could help her to engage more SC towards experienced fatigue:

I think if you can work out how to prepare a psychologist for that (CF) before it happens, or just to recognise when it happens, they can do something about it (through SC). That would be very valuable.

Also, the study highlighted that SC enabled the participants to cope more effectively by learning from previous experiences. For example, P1 experienced the need to learn from her mistakes, so that she could take a different approach in future:

Accept your mistake, acknowledge your mistake, and learn from it... Do (it) differently next time.

In addition, participants could cope more effectively by using SC approaches as strategies to help manage their well-being. For example, P4 touched on the role of humour in her ability to cope with experienced difficulties:

Humour is a big, a big part of, of my coping and, and you know, kind of filling myself up again.

The current study highlighted that the participants tend to use SC as a coping strategy to manage difficult experiences. They relied on different approaches, all of which contributed towards their individual experiences of SC. According to Beaumont et al. (2016), psychologists who demonstrate SC during times of suffering have a decreased risk of experiencing stress or developing mental health problems. For example, an important consideration to take into account is the effect of CF on the well-being of clients. Clients report lower satisfaction with services when the psychology professional suffers from CF (Hamilton et al., 2016). CF could also lead to professional errors (Hamilton et al., 2016; Sprang et al., 2007) and result in a decreased connection with clients, the very foundation of therapeutic intervention (Del Re et al., 2012; Geller & Greenberg, 2012; Sprang et al., 2007). However, SC is a protective factor against CF (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Wong & Mak, 2012). Thus, SC could

enhance psychologists' well-being (Beaumont et al., 2012; Beaumont & Hollins Martin, 2013, 2015; Smeets et al., 2014; Wong & Mak, 2012) and also their resilience (MacBeth & Gumley, 2012; Mantzios, 2014; Neely et al., 2009; Smeets, Neff, Alberts, & Peters, 2014). According to Coleman et al. (2016), working in emotionally demanding environments could impact negatively on psychologists' well-being, but could be countered with resilience. Also, Boellinghaus et al. (2013) explained that self-care contributes towards addressing emotional distress and burnout. Therefore, in light of the above, this finding could be considered important for the participants in the current study, as greater resilience is fostered by SC, which could result in more effective coping strategies against CF. Considering the great need for psychological services in South Africa and that professional capacity is often limited in this context, increased personal care and coping strategies could benefit psychologists who work in such demanding environments (Atwoli et al., 2013; Van Rensburg, 2014).

The final theme in this study will be discussed next and will consider the role and exchange of energy within the therapeutic process. From their experiences, the participants noted that an exchange of energy always forms part of the therapeutic process. Such an exchange takes place between the therapist and client, with both parties bringing a certain energy to the process, and also taking a certain energy from the process. This exchange of energy could be demanding and may result in CF, which often requires the psychologist to also regulate their well-being through SC. Thus, the following subthemes will be considered: firstly, compassion as a positive energy; and secondly, the need to manage an exchange of energy towards greater SC. These findings will be explored and discussed in greater depth in the following paragraphs.

Theme 6: Compassion and SC Impact on the Therapist's Energy

The additive worth of positive energy. Compassionate energy was considered a positive exchange of energy during the therapeutic process. The participants reflected on the constructive contribution of compassion to the therapeutic process, which enhanced the therapeutic relationship and also contributed to therapeutic outcomes. For example, P2 experienced the positive energy that compassion brings to therapy as a source of strength and well-being:

(Researcher: Have you ever experienced exhaustion from being compassionate?) No... I draw energy from it (being compassionate; doing therapy). That's why I understand it. That's, that's why I do what I do. To me it's, it's ... I love it.

Further, P1 described the reciprocal role and influential nature of energy during the therapeutic process:

You know, every client who walks into your office, they bring in their own (energy) and they take something with them... you are able to sort of have that energy with them.

In addition, P1 highlighted a need to regulate this exchange of energy, as an inefficient use of energy could drain her resources and the effectivity of therapy. She regulated her energy by adjusting her therapeutic approach:

I've adjusted my focus in order to make sure that the types of clients or customers I have aren't people who drain my resources.

Similarly, P4 reflected on compassion as her capacity to maintain constructive energy during the therapeutic process. She experienced her expression of compassion as highly dependent on the client's assumption of responsibility towards their own process:

... it's not necessarily about what the problem is, but about how this person is approaching it. Because I can generally work with someone who wants to work. And if they want to change and if they want to improve, then I, I'm generally able to put energy into that process. But the processes that I can't put energy into anymore is the ones where people just want to come, keep on coming back, and back and back... The moment you show enough compassion and this person just really does not want to do anything about their own position, then that frustrates me.

Furthermore, P4 highlighted the importance of accepting clients for who they are. She believed that genuine acceptance of her clients contributed towards her expression of compassion and guided her approach to therapy, including the energy that she exuded during the process:

And I think a big part of, of being compassionate is just loving yourself for whatever it is that you do and don't do, you know. And, and part of that is accepting both the good and the bad... And I think the same with compassion as well... You can't be compassionate towards someone if you think: jis, you're a bad person. You know, kind of the two don't go

together. So I think in general just being aware of, of your own things and other people's, I think might guide the process.

Moreover, P5 stressed the importance for psychologists to manage their exchange of energy during therapy, also as a means of preventing CF before it sets in:

When you start to struggle with compassion fatigue, you don't have the energy to give the empathy anymore or to have the compassion.

In addition, P3 highlighted her own experience of CF and the impact it had on her energy, on her capacity for compassion, and its negative effect on the therapeutic process:

I think it's (CF) maybe different for different people. I think they will notice, some people will say it's when they don't have any empathy with anyone anymore. Another person will say it's when I'm feeling more stuck. So when that happens I think is when you, you're just tired and you then you take on more, because then you kind of lose focus of allowing the client to do their own work. And then you kind of want to do it for them, but then you don't actually have that energy to do it anyway, and then it becomes like a spiral.

Further, P6 highlighted the importance of awareness by both the therapist and client of their reciprocal exchange of energy during the therapeutic process. She felt that sharing such experiences was necessary for and enhanced therapeutic outcomes as they contributed towards the therapeutic relationship. For her, part of this process also related to self-disclosure, which she felt facilitated greater

connection between the therapist and client, and also contributed towards the therapeutic process:

How are you? Did you also have a rough weekend?... What can we work on to suit both our energy levels? This helps the client to also realise: but okay, my therapist will still do good work, but she is a bit tired today. It can serve as a connection point (with the client)... it helps the client also by saying: my therapist can also have a bad day. Okay, now I don't feel so bad to express my feelings to her; she also sometimes feels like that... I think it plays a role in compassion... both on your side (the therapist) and for the client. In that moment of self-disclosure you are teaching the client to also behave compassionately.

Compassion plays both an influential role and is influenced by the transfer of energy during the therapeutic process. In light of this, the present finding was beneficial for the participants as it could facilitate greater awareness of the role of energy within the therapeutic process and therapeutic outcomes. By facilitating greater awareness of how their energy is dedicated during therapy, the participants could affect constructive change to improve therapeutic outcomes and therapeutic relationships. Improved management of their energy could also a serve as a preventative measure against CF. Due to a lack of available literature that supports compassion as a source of positive energy during the therapeutic process (EBSCOhost, October 2017), this theme can be considered a unique finding that resulted from the current study and may prove valuable for future research.

SC requires an understanding of managing energy. During the study it was further emphasised that an investment of energy may also contribute towards CF and thus demands effective management. For example, P4 attributed importance to the management of her energy during the therapeutic process:

The processes that I can't put energy into anymore are the ones where people just want to come, keep on coming back, and back and back... It is important to manage your energy (against CF). (Is that how you manage that CF in a sense, by making sure that you see people that you can put your energy in?) Yes.

P1 also touched on the interchange of energy between a psychologist and clients during therapy. From her experience, it was important to maintain a healthy balance between her own energy and that which she offered clients during therapy:

The same energy you invest in others, invest in yourself, so that there's a balance.

It was also highlighted that the participants often overlooked the importance of managing their energy during therapy. For instance, P1 explained how she could become caught up in a helping process and forget to also consider her own well-being:

You can be caught up in just helping, helping, helping, and forgetting that every client you see draws energy from you.

In addition to highlighting the importance of managing their energy, the participants also emphasised SC as an approach towards the management of such energy. For example, from P3's experiences, SC is a positive approach that enables her to engage in more helpful ways of dealing with the energy demands of therapy:

Self-compassion is a form of energy. It's a shift for me from the rumination and negative energy versus more the adding positive stuff.

P4 also discussed SC as such an approach to managing her energy levels within therapy:

... it's (SC) a behavioural thing... So it's kind of like rewarding yourself for your time, or your time that you've spent working very hard (with clients). You kind of reward yourself with a little bit of time off and, and that in itself is motivating because then you, you kind of get your energy back to just go on again.

During the study it was also evident that the participants viewed certain activities as forms of SC that helped them better guide their energy use. P6, for instance, reflected on how she used SC activities to manage her energy:

Compassion energy comes from exercising, eating, sleeping, laughing, a positive social life and devotions.

Also, P3 reflected on her approach towards and reliance on SC in managing her energy levels during therapy. To her, SC was practiced through physical exercise, being engrossed in nature, and engaging in introspection:

(Researcher: You also mentioned that you need to have energy to give energy. Would you say that energy is important for self-compassion?) Yes, because on the other side I've also learnt that some activities don't necessarily give you energy — it's just like a neutral type of thing. Watching series. Because you don't get energy from it, but you also don't lose energy from it. So that's where for me I have to be aware of how much time I spend doing nothing, that gives me nothing, versus also spending time on exercising or being in nature. Something that will give me back. And some me-time, introspection, because then I have more to give.

Further, for P4, SC encouraged her to sometimes move away from a helping role and rather engage with other activities as a means of managing her energy:

I care for things other than people... So I spend a lot of time with my animals... I like me-time, so I read, I paint, I, I'll visit my close friends... But mostly my garden and my animals are the, the things that really fill my bucket.

In addition, P3 highlighted forgiveness as a form of SC, in that forgiveness enabled her to better manage her energy by avoiding unconstructive negative thinking patterns. Instead, forgiveness enabled her to direct her energy in more constructive ways:

And if you're able to easily forgive people and yourself, it means you spend less time and energy on negative stuff and the critical, going over and over things.

Furthermore, it was emphasised during the study that a SC approach contributes towards the participants' energy levels by encouraging more proactive engagement with their needs. For example, P1 emphasised SC as a process of self-awareness that helps her to guide her energy. Part of this approach was to take breaks from her role as a therapist when required:

Practice self-compassion by empowering yourself with knowledge and by removing yourself from the therapeutic space.

Also, when P3 experienced a lack of energy when engaging with clients, she used it as an indicator that she needed to practice more SC:

It's time for a break when I don't have energy to give to my client and to be there with them...

From the study, it emerged that the therapeutic process is one characterised by an exchange of energy between psychologist and client, which often entails high energy demands and could result in CF if not managed effectively. SC was experienced as an approach that enabled the participants to more effectively manage their energy levels within these contexts. Further, SC was also described by the participants as an approach that contributed positively towards their well-being. Awareness of the energy invested and experienced within the therapeutic process, and approaches towards managing it, was thus considered important as it directly impacted on psychologists' well-

being and engagement within the therapeutic process. The finding that SC fulfils a function in helping psychologists manage their exchange of energy (EBSCOhost, October 2017) can be considered unique as no existing literature emerged in support thereof. This finding could thus present an area for further investigation through future research endeavours.

Conclusion

From the findings highlighted above, it became apparent that participants experienced compassion and SC as important constructs for the psychology profession through its impact on therapeutic processes, clients' well-being and psychologists' well-being. The present study served as a lens through which the role of compassion and SC in the lives of psychologists could be examined and understood more clearly. The insights gained from the findings made a contribution to the psychology profession by adding towards the body of knowledge for this field. Many of the findings highlighted by the study could thus be considered valuable for psychologists by contributing towards the potential enhancement of their skills and engagement within therapeutic processes. This in turn may contribute towards the professions' function in the South African context. It is the hope of the researcher that these findings would contribute positively to the psychology profession and its understanding of compassion and SC.

The researcher would like to note some limitations that were experienced during the study. Even though the research outcomes were considered valuable, caution should be taken when making inferences based on the results of the study. First, participants in the study were predominantly female and were all counselling psychologists. This could present as a limitation due to participants not being representative of the South African population of psychology professionals. This limitation may have also affected the outcomes

obtained during the study. Second, while the researcher attempted to remain aware of and manage her own biases, subjectivity and thus the possibility of such biases impacting on the study, should not be ignored. Further, the fact that most participants worked in higher education context should be considered as it could impact on their experiences of compassion due to the type of clients they engage with. While these limitations were observed, the findings remain valuable by encouraging a better understanding of psychologists' experiences of compassion and SC. Such an understanding also contributes towards broadening the knowledge base in this field and could inform potential interventions for psychology professionals and training programmes.

The following recommendations are offered for future research. It is recommended that the present research be replicated on more diverse groups that will include other psychology registration categories. Such an approach will enable a more diverse view of psychologists' experiences of compassion and SC within the South African context. It is also recommended that future research investigate new findings that emerged from the current study. Such research may contribute to greater understanding of the experiences of compassion and SC among psychologists and could lead to enhanced outcomes for therapeutic processes, clients' well-being and psychologists' well-being.

References

- Allan, A. (2016). Law and ethics in psychology: An international perspective. Somerset West, SA: Inter-Ed.
- Allen, A. B., & Leary, M. R. (2010). Self-compassion, stress, and coping. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, *4*(2),107-118. doi:10.1111/j.1751-9004.2009.00246.x
- Andrews, T. (2012). What is social constructionism? *Grounded Theory Review*, 11(1), 39-46. Retrieved from http://groundedtheoryreview.com/2012/06/01/what-is-social-constructionism/
- Angermeyer, M. C., & Dietrich, S. (2006). Public beliefs about and attitudes towards people with mental illness: A review of population studies. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 113(3), 163-179. doi:10.1111/j.1600-0447.2005.00699.x
- Arcot, R. (2015). The traumatic state of psychology: An investigation of the challenges psychologists face when aiming to help trauma survivors in post-Apartheid South Africa. Unpublished manuscript, Department of Psychology, Hamilton College. Cape Town, SA: South Africa. Retrieved from http://digitalcollections.sit.edu/ isp_collection/2042
- Attia, M. & Edge, J. (2017). Be(com)ing a reflexive researcher: A developmental approach to research methodology. *Open Review of Educational Research*, *4*(1), 33–45. doi:10.1080/23265507.2017.1300068
- Atwoli, L., Stein, D. J., Williams, D. R., McLaughlin, K. A., Petukhova, M., Kessler, R. C., & Koenen, K. C. (2013). Trauma and posttraumatic stress

- disorder in South Africa: Analysis from the South African Stress and Health Study. *BMC Psychiatry*, *13*(1), 1. doi:10.1186/1471-244x-13-182
- Back, A. L., Deignan, P. F., & Potter, P. A. (2014). Compassion, compassion fatigue, and burnout: Key insights for oncology professionals. *American Society of Clinical Oncology Educational Book, 34*, e454-e459. doi:10.14694/edbook_am.2014.34.e454
- Baker, S. E., & Edwards, R. (2012). *How many qualitative interviews is enough?*London, UK: National Centre for Research Methods. Retrieved from http://eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/2273/4/how many interviews.pdf
- Bantjes, J., Kagee, A., & Young, C. (2016). Counselling psychology in South Africa. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*, 29(2), 171-183. doi:10.1080/09515070.2015.1128401
- Barnett, M. D., & Flores, J. (2016). Narcissus, exhausted: Self-compassion mediates the relationship between narcissism and school burnout. *Personality* & *Individual Differences*, 97, 102-108. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2016.03.026
- Barratt, C. (2017). Exploring how mindfulness and self-compassion can enhance compassionate care. *Nursing Standard*, *31*(21), 55-63. doi:10.7748/ns.2017.e10671
- Beaumont, E., Galpin, A., & Jenkins, P. (2012). Being kinder to myself: A prospective comparative study, exploring post-trauma therapy outcome measures, for two groups of clients, receiving either cognitive behaviour therapy or cognitive behaviour therapy and compassionate mind training.

- Counseling Psychology Review, 27(1), 31-43. Retrieved from http://self-compassion.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/ Beaumont.Martin2016.pdf
- Beaumont, E., & Hollins Martin, C. J. (2013). Using compassionate mind training as a resource in EMDR: A case study. *Journal of EMDR Practice and Research*, 7(4), 186-199. doi.org/10.1891/1933-3196.7.4.186
- Beaumont, E., & Hollins Martin, C. J. (2015). A narrative review exploring the effectiveness of compassion-focused therapy. *Counseling Psychology Review*, *30(1)*, 21-32. doi:10.1097/CEH.0000000000000003
- Beaumont, E., & Hollins Martin, C. J. (2016). A proposal to support student therapists to develop compassion for self and others through compassionate mind training. *The Arts in Psychotherapy*, *50*(2016), 111-118. doi:10.1016/j.aip.2016.06.005
- Beaumont, E., Durkin, M., Hollins Martin, C. J., & Carson, J. (2016). Compassion for others, self-compassion, quality of life and mental well-being measures and their association with compassion fatigue and burnout in student midwives: A quantitative survey. *Midwifery*, *34*(2016), 239-244. doi:10.1016/j.midw.2015.11.002
- Bellolio, M. F., Cabrera, D., Sadosty, A. T., Hess, E. P., Campbell, R. L., Lohse, C. M., & Sunga, K. L. (2014). Compassion fatigue is similar in emergency medicine residents compared to other medical and surgical specialties.
 Western Journal of Emergency Medicine, 15(6), 629. doi:10.5811/westjem.2014.5.21624
- Benjet, C., Bromet, E., Karam, E. G., Kessler, R. C., McLaughlin, K. A., Ruscio, A. M., & Koenen, K. C. (2016). The epidemiology of traumatic event

- exposure worldwide: Results from the World Mental Health Survey Consortium. *Psychological Medicine*, *46*(2), 327-343.Retrieved from http://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291715001981
- Boellinghaus, I., Jones, F. W., & Hutton, J. (2013). Cultivating self-care and compassion in psychological therapists in training: The experience of practicing Loving-Kindness Meditation. *Training and Education in Professional Psychology*, 7(4), 267-277. doi:10.1037/a0033092
- Boersma, K., Håkanson, A., Salomonsson, E., & Johansson, I. (2014). Compassion focused therapy to counteract shame, self-criticism and isolation. A replicated single case experimental study for individuals with social anxiety. *Journal of Contemporary Psychotherapy, 45*(2), 89-98. doi:10.1007/s10879-014-9286-8
- Bowman, B., Duncan, N., & Sonn, C. (2010). Editorial: Towards a psychology of South Africa's histories living with and through the Apartheid archive. South African Journal of Psychology, 40(4), 365. doi.org/10.1177/008124631004000401
- Boyle, D. (2011). Countering compassion fatigue: A requisite nursing agenda. *The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 16(1), Manuscript 2. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol16No01Man02
- Bramley, L., & Matiti, M. (2014). How does it really feel to be in my shoes? Patients' experiences of compassion within nursing care and their perceptions of developing compassionate nurses. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 23(20), 2790-2799. doi:10.1111/jocn.12537.

- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology.

 Qualitative Research in Psychology, 3(2), 77-101.

 doi:10.1191/1478088706qp063oa
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2013). Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners. London, UK: Sage.
- Brown, B., Crawford, P., Gilbert, P., Gilbert, J., & Gale, C. (2013). Practical compassion: Repertoires of practice and compassion talk in acute mental health care. *Sociology of Health and Illness*, *36*(3), 1-17. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/1467-9566.12065
- Burr, V. (2015). Social constructionism. London: Routledge.
- Burnell, L. (2009). Compassionate care: A concept analysis. *Home Health Care Management & Practice*, *21*(5), 319-324. doi:10.1177/1084822309331468
- Catarino, F., Gilbert, P., McEwan, K., & Baião, R. (2014). Compassion motivations: Distinguishing submissive compassion from genuine compassion and its association with shame, submissive behavior, depression, anxiety and stress. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 33(5), 399-412.
- Chung, M. S. (2016). Relation between lack of forgiveness and depression: The moderating effect of self-compassion. *Psychological Reports*, *119*(3), 573-585. doi:10.1177/0033294116663520
- Clement, S., Schauman, O., Graham, T., Maggioni, F., Evans-Lacko, S., Bezborodovs, N., & Thornicroft, G. (2015). What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative

- and qualitative studies. *Psychological Medicine*, *45*(1), 11-27. doi:10.1017/s0033291714000129
- Clements, A. J., Kinman, G., Leggetter, S., Teoh, K., & Guppy, A. (2016). Exploring commitment, professional identity, and support for student nurses. *Nurse Education in Practice*, 16(1), 20-26. doi:10.1016/j.nepr.2015.06.001
- Coetzee, S. K., & Klopper, H. C. (2010). Compassion fatigue within nursing practice: A concept analysis. *Nursing & Health Sciences, 12*(2), 235–243. doi:10.1111/j.1442-2018.2010.00526
- Coleman, C., Martensen, C., Scott, R., & Indelicato, N. A. (2016). Unpacking self-care: The connection between mindfulness, self-compassion, and self-care for counselors. *Counseling & Wellness: A Professional Counseling Journal*, *5*(1), 1-7. Retrieved from http://self-compassion.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Coleman_etal_2016.pdf
- Cooper, S. (2014a). A synopsis of South African psychology from Apartheid to Democracy. *American Psychologist*, 69(8), 837-847. doi:10.1037/a0037569
- Cooper, S. (2014b). South African psychology 20 years into democracy. *South African Journal of Psychology, 44*(3), 261-266. doi:10.1177/0081246314537176
- Cooper, S., & Nicholas, L. (2012). An overview of South African psychology. *International Journal of Psychology,* 47(2), 89-101. doi:10.1080/00207594.2012.660160

- Cooper, M. (2012). Clients' and therapists' perceptions of intrasessional connection: An analogue study of change over time, predictor variables and levels of consensus. *Psychotherapy Research*, 22(3), 274-287. doi: https://doi.org/10.1080/10503307.2011.647931
- Crawford, P., Brown, B., Kvangarsnes, M., & Gilbert, P. (2014). The design of compassionate care. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *23*(24), 3589-3599. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/jocn.12632
- Crawford, P., Gilbert, P., Gilbert, J., Gale, C., & Harvey, K. (2013). The language of compassion in acute mental health care. *Qualitative Health Research*, 23(6), 719-727. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/1049732313482190
- Crouch, M., & McKenzie, H. (2016). The logic of small samples in interview-based qualitative research. *Social Science Information*, *45*(4), 483-499. doi:10.1177/0539018406069584
- Crowe, L. (2016). Identifying the risk of compassion fatigue, improving compassion satisfaction and building resilience in emergency medicine. *Emergency Medicine Australasia*, 28(1), 106-108. doi:10.1111/1742-6723.12535
- Cunha, M., Galhardo, A., & Pinto-Gouveia, J. (2016). Experiential avoidance, self-compassion, self-judgment and coping styles in infertility. *Sexual & Reproductive Healthcare*, *10*, 41-47. doi:10.1016/j.srhc.2016.04.001
- Curtis, L., Moriarty, J., & Netten, A. (2009). The expected working life of a social worker. *British Journal of Social Work, 40*(5), 1628-1643. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcp039

- De la Rey, C., & Owens, I. (1998). Perceptions of psycho-social healing and the Truth and Reconciliation Commission in South Africa. *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology, 4*(3), 257-270. Retrieved from http://www.repository.up.ac.za/dspace/bitstream/handle/2263/14303/DeLaRey_Perceptions(1998).pdf?se quence=1
- Del Re, A. C., Flückiger, C., Horvath, A. O., Symonds, D., & Wampold, B. E. (2012). Therapist effects in the therapeutic alliance-outcome relationship: A restricted-maximum likelihood meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 32(7), 642-649. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.07.002
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2011). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research*. California, CA: Sage.
- Drury, V., Craigie, M., Francis, K., Aoun, S., & Hegney, D. G. (2014). Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, anxiety, depression and stress in registered nurses in Australia. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 22(4), 506-518. doi:10.1111/jonm.12160
- Duarte, C., Ferreira, C., Trindade, I. A., & Pinto-Gouveia, J. (2015). Body image and college women's quality of life: The importance of being self-compassionate. *Journal of Health Psychology*, 20(6), 754-764. doi:10.1177/1359105315573438
- Dunne, S., Sheffield, D., & Chilcot, J. (2016). Brief report: Self-compassion, physical health and the mediating role of health-promoting behaviours. *Journal of Health Psychology*. doi:10.1177/1359105316643377

- Feldman, D. B., & Crandall, C. S. (2007). Dimensions of mental illness stigma: What about mental illness causes social rejection? *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 26(2), 137-154. doi:10.1521/jscp.2007.26.2.137
- Fernando, A. T., & Consedine N. S. (2014). Development and initial psychometric properties of the Barriers to Physician Compassion Questionnaire (3rd ed.). *Postgraduate Medical Journal*, *90*(1065), 388-395. doi:10.1136/postgradmedj-2013-132127.
- Ferreira, C., Matos, M., Duarte, C., & Pinto-Gouveia, J. (2014). Shame memories and eating psychopathology: The buffering effect of self-compassion. *European Eating Disorders Review*, 22(6), 487-494. doi:10.1002/erv.2322
- Figley, C. R. (1995). Compassion fatigue: Coping with secondary traumatic stress disorder in those who treat the traumatized. New York, NY: Brunner/Mazel.
- Finlay-Jones, A. L., Rees, C. S., & Kane, R. T. (2015). Self-compassion, emotion regulation and stress among Australian psychologists: Testing an emotion regulation model of self-compassion using structural equation modeling. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(7): e0133481. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0133481
- Forti, A. M., Cashwell, C. S., & Henson, R. (2016). Mindfulness and quality of life in cancer survivors: The mediating role of self-kindness and alexithymia. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, 38(4), 346-359. doi:10.17744/mehc.38.4.05
- Foureur, M., Besley, K., Burton, G., Yu, N., & Crisp, J. (2013). Enhancing the resilience of nurses and midwives: Pilot of a mindfulness based program

- for increased health, sense of coherence and decreased depression, anxiety and stress. *Contemporary Nurse*, *45*(1), 114-125. doi:10.5172/conu.2013.45.1.114
- Galla, B. M. (2016). Within-person changes in mindfulness and self-compassion predict enhanced emotional well-being in healthy, but stressed adolescents. *Journal of Adolescence*, 49(1), 204-217. doi:10.1016/j.adolescence.2016.03.016
- Geller, S. M., & Greenberg, L. S. (2012). *Therapeutic presence: A mindful approach to effective therapy.* Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/13485-000
- Geraghty, S., Lauva, M., & Oliver, K. (2016). Reconstructing compassion: Should it be taught as part of the curriculum? *British Journal of Nursing*, 25(15), 836-839. doi:10.12968/bjon.2016.25.15.836
- Goodman, M. J., & Schorling, J. B. (2012). A mindfulness course decreases burnout and improves well-being among healthcare providers. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 43(2):119-128. doi:10.2190/pm.43.2.b
- Hamilton, S., Tran, V., & Jamieson, J. (2016). Compassion fatigue in emergency medicine: The cost of caring. *Emergency Medicine Australasia*, 28(1), 100-103. doi:10.1111/1742-6723.12533
- Health Professions Council of South Africa. (2011). Regulations defining the scope of practice of practitioners of the profession of psychology:

 Proposed regulation No. R. 263. Retrieved from

- http://www.psyssa.com/documents/Letter%20to%20 Psychologists%2021%20August%202011pdf.pdf.
- Herriott, R. E., & Firestone, W. A. (1983). Multisite qualitative policy research: Optimizing description and generalizability. *Educational Researcher*, *12*(2), 14-19. doi:10.3102/0013189x012002014
- Hollis-Walker, L., & Colosimo, K. (2011). Mindfulness, self-compassion and happiness in non-meditators: A theoretical and empirical examination. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 50(2), 222-227. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2010.09.03
- Howe, A., Smajdor, A., & Stöckl, A. (2012). Towards an understanding of resilience and its relevance to medical training. *Medical Education*, *46*(4), 349-356. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2923.2011.04188
- Hülsheger, U. R., Alberts, H. J. E. M., Feinholdt, A., & Lang, J. W. B. (2013). Benefits of mindfulness at work: The role of mindfulness in emotion regulation, emotional exhaustion, and job satisfaction. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 98(2), 310-325. doi:10.1037/a0031313
- Ives-Deliperi, V. L., Howells, F., & Horn, N. (2016). The effects of mindfulness-based cognitive therapy in bipolar disorder. *Mindfulness-Based Cognitive Therapy*, 155-161. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-29866-5 14
- JASA. Statement on resumption of payments to psychologists challenged as being misleading, containing "factual omissions" (2016, November 23).

 Retrieved from http://www.medicalbrief.co.za/archives/sa-med-aids-must-resume-payments-psychologists/

- Jensen, K., & Kelley, J. M. (2016). The therapeutic relationship in psychological and physical treatments, and their placebo controls. *Psychology of Consciousness: Theory, Research, And Practice*, *3*(2), 132-145. doi:10.1037/cns0000057
- Kagee, A. (2014). South African psychology after 20 years of democracy: Criticality, social development, and relevance. *South African Journal of Psychology*, *44*(3), 350-363. doi:10.1177/0081246314534147
- Kagee, A., & Lund, C. (2012). Psychology training directors' reflections on evidence-based practice in South Africa. South African Journal of Psychology, 42(1): 103-113. doi.org/10.1177/008124631204200111
- Kállay, É., & Rus, C. (2014). Psychometric properties of the 44-item version of Ryff's psychological well-being scale. *European Journal of Psychological Assessment*, 30(1), 15-21. doi:10.1027/1015-5759/a000163
- Kakuma, R., Kleintjes, S., Lund, C., Drew, N., Green, A., & Flisher, A. J. (2010). Mental health stigma: What is being done to raise awareness and reduce stigma in South Africa? Original article. *African Journal of Psychiatry*, 13(2), 116-124. doi:10.4314/ajpsy.v13i2.54357
- Kaminer, D., Grimsrud, A., Myer, L., Stein, D. J., & Williams, D. R. (2008). Risk for post-traumatic stress disorder associated with different forms of interpersonal violence in South Africa. *Social Science & Medicine*, 67(10), 1589–1595. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.07.023
- Killian, K. D. (2008). Helping till it hurts? A multimethod study of compassion fatigue, burnout, and self-care in clinicians working with trauma survivors. *Traumatology*, 14(2), 32-44. doi:10.1177/153476560831908

- Kinman, G., & Grant, L. (2010). Exploring stress resilience in trainee social workers: The role of emotional and social competencies. *British Journal of Social Work, 41*(2), 261-275. doi:10.1093/bjsw/bcq088
- Kinman, G., & Grant, L. (2012) Enhancing wellbeing in social work students: Building resilience in the next generation. *Social Work Education: The International Journal*, 31(5), 605-621. doi:10.1080/02615479.2011.590931
- Klimecki, O. M., & Singer, T. (2011). Empathic distress fatigue rather than compassion fatigue? Integrating findings from empathy research in psychology and social neuroscience. *Pathological Altruism*, 369-383. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199738571.003.0253
- Klimecki, O. M., & Singer, T. (2015). Compassion. In: Arthur W. Toga (Ed.). *Brain mapping: An encyclopedic reference* (pp. 195-199). California, CA: Academic Press.
- Kraus, S., Sears, S., & Wyatt, H. (2009). Measuring the immeasurables: Development and initial validation of the Self-Other Four Immeasurables (SOFI) scale based on Buddhist teachings on loving kindness, compassion, joy, and equanimity. *PsycEXTRA Dataset*, 92(1). doi:10.1037/e741342011-048
- Krefting, L. (1991). Rigor in qualitative research: The assessment of trustworthiness. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *45*(3), 214-222. doi:10.5014/ajot.45.3.214
- Kvale, S. (2008). *Doing interviews*. London, UK: Sage.

- Leary, M. R., Tate, E. B., Adams, C. E., Batts Allen, A., & Hancock, J. (2007). Self-compassion and reactions to unpleasant self-relevant events: The implications of treating oneself kindly. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(5), 887-904. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.92.5.887
- Ledoux, K. (2015). Understanding compassion fatigue: Understanding compassion. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 71(9), 2041-2050. doi:10.1111/jan.1268
- Lewis, S. (2015). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches. *Health Promotion Practice* 16(4), 473-475. doi:10.1177/1524839915580941
- Lilius, J. M., Kanov, J., Dutton, J., Frost, P., Worline, M. C., & Maitlis, S. (2011).

 Compassion Revealed. Oxford Handbooks Online.

 doi:10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199734610.013.0021
- Lombardo, B., & Eyre, C. (2011). Compassion fatigue: A nurse's primer. *The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 16(1), 3. doi:10.3912/OJIN.Vol16No01Man03
- Long, W. (2013). "Market relevance", "social relevance", and psychology in South Africa. South African Journal of Psychology, 43(4), 434-444. doi:10.1177/0081246313504695
- Louw, J. (2010). *Interiors: A history of psychology in South Africa*. Pretoria, SA: University of South Africa Press.
- Lown, B. A. (2015). Compassion is a necessity and an individual and collective responsibility: Comment on "Why and how is compassion necessary to

- provide good quality healthcare?" *International Journal of Health Policy and Management*, *4*(9), 613-614. http://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2015.110
- MacBeth, A., & Gumley, A. (2012). Exploring compassion: A meta-analysis of the association between self-compassion and psychopathology. *Clinical Psychology Review,* 32(6), 545-552. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2012.06.003
- Mantzios, M. (2014). Exploring the relationship between worry and impulsivity in military recruits: The role of mindfulness and self-compassion as potential mediators. *Stress and Health*, *30*(5), 397-404. doi:10.1002/smi.2617
- Maree J. G. (2011a). Editorial: Dealing with contemporary issues in psychology: Respecting the unwritten rules. *South African Journal of Psychology,* 41(1), 411-416. doi:10.1177/008124631104100401
- Maree J. G. (2011b). Editorial: Reporting on research: Reflecting on and mirroring the psychological state of our nation. *South African Journal of Psychology*, *41*(1), 257-262. doi:10.1177/008124631104100301
- Mason, V. M., Leslie, G., Clark, K., Lyons, P., Walker, E., Butler, C., & Griffin, M. (2014). Compassion fatigue, moral distress, and work engagement in surgical intensive care unit trauma nurses: A pilot study. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 33(4), 215-225. doi:10.1097/dcc.0000000000000056
- McDonald, G., Jackson, D., Wilkes, L., & Vickers, M. H. (2012). A work-based educational intervention to support the development of personal resilience in nurses and midwives. *Nurse Education Today*, 32(4), 378-384. doi:10.1016/j.nedt.2011.04.012

- McDonald, G., Jackson, D., Wilkes, L., & Vickers, M. H. (2013). Personal resilience in nurses and midwives: Effects of a work-based educational intervention. *Contemporary Nurse*, 45(1), 134-143. doi:10.5172/conu.2013.45.1.134
- Mearns, D., & Cooper, M. (2017). Working at relational depth in counselling and psychotherapy (2nd ed.). London: Sage.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2015). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation*. California, CA: John Wiley & Sons.
- Miller, K. I. (2007). Compassionate Communication in the Workplace: Exploring processes of noticing, connecting, and responding. *Journal of Applied Communication Research*, 35(3), 223–245. doi:10.1080/00909880701434208
- Naidoo A. V., & Kagee A. (2009). The quest for relevance: Counselling psychology in South Africa. In L. H. Gerstein, P. P. Heppner, A. Ægisdóttir, S. A. Leung, & K. L. Norsworthy (Eds.), International handbook of cross-cultural counselling: Cultural assumptions and practices worldwide (pp. 421-434). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Neely, M. E., Schallert, D. L., Mohammed, S. S., Roberts, R. M., & Chen, Y. J. (2009). Self-kindness when facing stress: The role of self-compassion, goal regulation, and support in college students' well-being. *Motivation and Emotion*, 33(1), 88-97. doi:10.1007/s11031-008-9119-8
- Neff, K. D. (2003a). The development and validation of a scale to measure self-compassion, self and identity. Self and Identity, 2(3), 223-250. doi:10.1080/15298860309027

- Neff, K. D. (2003b). Self-compassion: An alternative conceptualization of a healthy attitude toward oneself. *Self and identity*, 2(2), 85-101. doi:10.1080/15298860309032
- Neff, K. D. (2009a). Self-compassion. In M. R. Leary & R. H. Hoyle (Eds.), Handbook of individual differences in social behavior (pp. 561-573). New York, NY: Guilford.
- Neff, K. D. (2009b). The role of self-compassion in development: A healthier way to relate to oneself. *Human Development*, *52*(4), 211-214. doi:10.1159/000215071
- Neff, K. D., & Germer, C. (2012). A pilot study and randomized controlled trial of the Mindful Self-compassion Program. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 69(1), 28-44. doi:10.1002/jclp.21923
- Neff, K. D., & McGehee, P. (2010). Self-compassion and psychological resilience among adolescents and young adults. *Self and Identity*, 9(3), 225-240. doi:10.1080/1529886090297930
- Neff, K. D. & Pommier, E. (2013). The relationship between self-compassion and other-focused concern among college undergraduates, community adults, and practicing meditators. *Self and Identity*, 12(2), 160–176. doi: 10.1080/15298868.2011.649546.
- Neff, K. D., & Tirch, D. (2013). Self-compassion and ACT. In T. B. Kashdan & J. Ciarrochi (Eds.), *Mindfulness, acceptance, and positive psychology: The seven foundations of well-being* (pp. 78-106). Oakland, CA: Context Press/New Harbinger Publications.

- Neff, K. D., & Pommier, E. (2013). The relationship between self-compassion and other-focused concern among college undergraduates, community adults, and practicing meditators. *Self and Identity*, *12*(2), 160-176.
- Nicholas, L. J. (2014). A history of South African (SA) Psychology. *Universitas Psychologica*, *13*(5). doi:10.11144/Javeriana.upsy13-5.hsap
- Norman, R., Matzopoulos, R., Groenewald, P., & Bradshaw, D. (2007). The high burden of injuries in South Africa. *Bulletin World Health Organisation*, 85(9): 695-702. doi:10.2471/BLT.06.037184
- Patsiopoulos, A. T., & Buchanan, M. J. (2011). The practice of self-compassion in counseling: A narrative inquiry. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 42(301), 7. doi:10.1037/a0024482.
- Pauley, G., & McPherson, S. (2010). The experience and meaning of compassion and self-compassion for individuals with depression or anxiety. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, 83(2), 129-143. doi:10.1348/147608309x471000
- Peterson, I., & Lund, C. (2011). Mental health service delivery in South Africa from 2000 to 2010: One step forward, one step back. *South African Medical Journal* 101(10), 751-757. Retrieved from http://www.samj.org.za/index.php/samj/article/ view/4841/3584
- Phelps, A., Lloyd, D., Creamer, M., & Forbes, D. (2009). Caring for carers in the aftermath of trauma. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment and Trauma*, 18, 313-330. doi:10.1080/10926770902835899

- Pillay, A. L., Ahmed, R., & Bawa, U. (2013). Clinical psychology training in South Africa: A call to action. *South African Journal of Psychology, 43*(1), 46-58. doi:10.1177/0081246312474411
- Pope, C., & Mays, N. (2013). *Qualitative research in health care*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Pretorius, G. (2012). Reflections on the scope of practice in the South African profession of psychology: A moral plea for relevance and a future vision. South African Journal of Psychology, 42(4), 509-521. doi:10.1177/008124631204200405
- Puchalski, C. M., Vitillo, R., Hull, S. K., & Reller, N. (2014). Improving the spiritual dimension of whole person care: Reaching national and international consensus. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *17*(6), 642-656. doi:10.1089/jpm.2014.9427
- Raab, K. (2014). Mindfulness, self-compassion, and empathy among healthcare professionals: A review of the literature. *Journal of Health Care Chaplaincy*, 20(3), 95-108. doi:10.1080/08854726.2014.913876
- Ray, S. L., Wong, C., White, D., & Heaslip, K. (2013). Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, work life conditions, and burnout among frontline mental health care professionals. *Traumatology*, 19(4), 255-267. doi:10.1177/1534765612471144
- Robertson, I. T., Cooper, C. L., Sarkar, M., & Curran, T. (2015). Resilience training in the workplace from 2003 to 2014: A systematic review. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 88(3), 533-562. doi:10.1111/joop.12120

- Ryan, F., Coughlan, M., & Cronin, P. (2007). Step-by-step guide to critiquing research. Part 2: Qualitative research. *British Journal of Nursing*, *16*(12), 738-744. doi:10.12968/bjon.2007.16.12.23726
- Ryff, C. D. (1989). Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *57*(6), 1069-1081. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069
- Ryff, C. D. (2014). Psychological well-being revisited: Advances in the science and practice of eudaimonia. *Psychotherapy and Psychosomatics*, *83*(1), 10-28. doi:10.1159/000353263.
- Sacco, T. L., Ciurzynski, S. M., Harvey, M. E., & Ingersoll, G. L. (2015). Compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue among critical care nurses. *Critical Care Nurse*, *35*(4), 32-42. doi:10.4037/ccn2015392
- Saldaña, J. (2015). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers*. London, UK: Sage.
- Sargeant, J. (2012). Qualitative research part II: Participants, analysis, and quality assurance. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, *4*(1), 1-3. http://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-11-00307.1
- Seidman, I. (2013). *Interviewing as qualitative research: A guide for researchers in education and the social sciences.* New York, NY: Teachers
 College Press.
- Sher, D., & Long, W. (2012). Historicising the relevance debate: South African and American psychology in context. *South African Journal of Psychology,* 42(4), 564. doi:10.1177/008124631204200410

- Shonin, E., Van Gordon, W., Compare, A., Zangeneh, M., & Griffiths, M. D. (2014). Buddhist-derived loving kindness and compassion meditation for the treatment of psychopathology: A systematic review. *Mindfulness*, *6*(5), 1161-1180. doi:10.1007/s12671-014-0368-1
- Sinclair, S., Norris, J. M., McConnell, S. J., Chochinov, H. M., Hack, T. F., Hagen, N. A., & Bouchal, S. R. (2016). Compassion: A scoping review of the healthcare literature. *BMC Palliative Care*, *15*(1), 6. doi:http://doi.org/10.1186/s12904-016-0080-0
- Singer, T., & Klimecki, O. M. (2014). Empathy and compassion. *Current Biology*, *24*(18), 875-878. doi:10.1016/j.cub.2014.06.05
- Slocum-Gori, S., Hemsworth, D., Chan, W. W., Carson, A., & Kazanjian, A. (2013). Understanding compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue and burnout: A survey of the hospice palliative care workforce. *Palliative Medicine*, 27(2), 172-178. doi:10.1177/0269216311431311
- Smart, D., English, A., James, J., Wilson, M., Daratha, K. B., Childers, B., & Magera, C. (2013). Compassion fatigue and satisfaction: A cross-sectional survey among US healthcare workers. *Nursing and Health Sciences*, 16(1), 3-10. doi:10.1111/nhs.12068
- Smeets, E., Neff, K., Alberts, H., & Peters, M. (2014). Meeting suffering with kindness: Effects of a brief self-compassion intervention for female college students. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*. 70(9), 794-807. doi:10.1002/jclp.22076
- Sodeke-Gregson, E. A., Holttum, S., & Billings, J. (2013). Compassion satisfaction, burnout, and secondary traumatic stress in UK therapists who

- work with adult trauma clients. *European Journal of Psychotraumatology,* 4(0). doi:10.3402/ejpt.v4i0.21869
- Sommer, J., Hinsberger, M., Elbert, T., Holtzhausen, L., Kaminer, D., Seedat, S., & Weierstall, R. (2017). The interplay between trauma, substance abuse and appetitive aggression and its relation to criminal activity among high-risk males in South Africa. *Addictive Behaviors*, *64*(1), 29-34. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.08.008
- Sorsdahl, K. R., Kakuma, R., Wilson, Z., & Stein, D. J. (2012). The internalized stigma experienced by members of a mental health advocacy group in South Africa. *International Journal of Social Psychiatry*, *58*(1), 55-61. doi:10.1177/0020764010387058
- Sorsdahl, K. R., & Stein, D. J. (2010). Knowledge of and stigma associated with mental disorders in a South African community sample. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 198(10), 742-747. doi:10.1097/NMD.0b013e3181f4b2d7
- Spandler, H., & Stickley, T. (2011). No hope without compassion: The importance of compassion in recovery-focused mental health services.

 Journal of Mental Health, 20(6), 555-566.

 doi:10.3109/09638237.2011.583949
- Sprang, G., Clark, J. J., & Whitt-Woosley, A. (2007). Compassion fatigue, compassion satisfaction, and burnout: Factors impacting a professional's quality of life. *Journal of Loss and Trauma*, 12(3), 259-280. doi:https://doi.org/10.1080/15325020701238093
- Stake, R. E. (2013). Multiple case study analysis. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

- Stamm, B. H. (2002). Measuring compassion satisfaction as well as fatigue: Developmental history of the Compassion Satisfaction and Fatigue Test. In, C. R. Figley (Ed.), *Treating compassion fatigue* (107-119). New York, NY: Brunner-Routledge.
- Strous, M. (2016). Nihil de nobis, sine nobis. Attempts to limit the scope of practice for educational psychologists the ongoing battle: Editorial. *Mental Health Matters*, 5(1), 1. Retrieved from http://o-eds.a.ebscohost.com.wagtail.ufs.ac.za/eds/detail/detail?vid=13&sid=9c3f6c4e-f31a-4672-8209-d1bbe7dc48f7%40sessionmgr4006 &hid=4208&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWRzLWxpdmU%3d#AN=edssas.menhm.v 3.n5.a1&db=edssas
- Taheri, M. A., & Biriya, A. (2013). Definition of 'Psyche', psychological or emotional body as approached by psymentology. *Procedia-Social* & *Behavioral Sciences*, *84*(1), 1651-1659. doi: doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.07.009
- Thompson, I. A., Amatea, E. S., & Thompson, E. S. (2014). Personal and contextual predictors of mental health counselors' compassion fatigue and burnout. *Journal of Mental Health Counseling*, *36*(1), 58-77. doi:10.17744/mehc.36.1.p61m73373m4617r3
- Tierney, S., Seers, K., Reeve, J., & Tutton, L. (2017). Appraising the situation: A framework for understanding compassionate care. *Journal of Compassionate Health Care*, *4*(1). doi:10.1186/s40639-016-0030-y

- Tingle, J. (2011). The state of health care and adult social care in England.

 *British Journal of Nursing, 20(12), 760-761.

 doi:10.12968/bjon.2011.20.12.760
- Van Dam, N. T., Sheppard, S. C., Forsyth, J. P., & Earleywine, M. (2011). Self-compassion is a better predictor than mindfulness of symptom severity and quality of life in mixed anxiety and depression. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 25(1), 123-130. doi:10.1016/j.janxdis.2010.08.011
- Van der Cingel, M. (2009). Compassion and professional care: Exploring the domain. *Nursing Philosophy*, 10(2), 124-136. doi:10.1111/j.1466-769X.2009.00397.
- Van Mol, M. M. C., Kompanje, E. J. O., Benoit, D. D., Bakker, J., & Nijkamp, M. D. (2015). The prevalence of compassion fatigue and burnout among healthcare professionals in intensive care units: A systematic review. *PLoS ONE*, 10(8), e0136955. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0136955
- Van Rensburg, H. V. (2014). South Africa's protracted struggle for equal distribution and equitable access still not there. *Human Resources for Health*, 12(26). doi:10.1186/1478-4491-12-26
- Vithal, R., & Jansen, J. (2012). Designing your first research proposal: A manual for researchers in education and the social sciences (2nd ed.). Cape Town, SA: Juta.
- Vitillo, R., & Puchalski, C. (2014). World Health Organization authorities promote greater attention and action on palliative care. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, *17*(9), 988-989. doi:10.1089/jpm.2014.9411

- Vivino, B. L., Thompson, B. J., Hill, C. E., & Ladany, N. (2009). Compassion in psychotherapy: The perspective of therapists nominated as compassionate. *Psychotherapy Research*, 19(2), 157-171. doi:10.1080/10503300802430681.
- Wahbie, L., & Don, F. (2013). The changing face of "relevance" in South African psychology. *Psychology in Society*, (45),3. Retrieved from http://www.scielo.org.za/scielo.php?script=sci_arttext&pid=S1015-60462013000200002
- Wahl, O. F. (2011). Stigma as a barrier to recovery from mental illness. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *16*(1), 9-10. doi:10.1016/j.tics.2011.11.002
- Whiting, L. S. (2008). Semi-structured interviews: Guidance for novice researchers. *Nursing Standard*, 22(23), 35-40. doi:10.7748/ns2008.02.22.23.35.c6420
- Wiklund G. L., & Wagner, L. (2013). The butterfly effect of caring clinical nursing teachers' understanding of self-compassion as a source to compassionate care. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, *27*(1), 175-183. doi:10.1111/j.1471-6712.2012.01033.x
- Wilks, S. E., & Spivey, C. A. (2010). Resilience in undergraduate social work students: Social support and adjustment to academic stress. *Social Work Education*, 29(3), 276-288. doi:10.1080/02615470902912243
- Wise, E. H., Hersh, M. A., & Gibson, C. M. (2012). Ethics, self-care and well-being for psychologists: Reenvisioning the stress-distress continuum. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 43(5), 487-494. doi:10.1037/a0029446.

- Wissing, M. P., & Temane Q. M. (2013). Feeling good, functioning well, and being true: Reflections on selected findings from the FORT research programme. In M. P. Wissing (Ed.), *Well-Being Research in South Africa* (pp. 225-250). doi:10.1007/978-94-007-6368-5 1
- Wong, C. C. Y., & Mak, W. W. S. (2012). Differentiating the role of three self-compassion components in buffering cognitive-personality vulnerability to depression among Chinese in Hong Kong. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 60(1), 162-169. doi:10.1037/a0030451
- Yin, R. K. (2011). *Qualitative research from start to finish*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5th ed.). London, UK: Sage.
- Yoder, E. A. (2010). Compassion fatigue in nurses. *Applied Nursing Research*, 23(4), 191-197. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2008.09.003
- Yu, H., Jiang, A., & Shen, J. (2016). Prevalence and predictors of compassion fatigue, burnout and compassion satisfaction among oncology nurses: A cross-sectional survey. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, *57*(1), 28-38. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2016.01.012
- Zhang, J. W., & Chen, S. (2016). Self-compassion promotes personal improvement from regret experiences via acceptance. *Personality & Social Psychology Bulletin, 42*(2), 244-258. doi:10.1177/0146167215623271

APPENDIX A

INTERVIEW PROTOCOL

- As a practicing psychologist, what does being compassionate mean to you?
- How do you practice compassion?
- Could you tell me about a recent case or counseling-related situation where you needed to show compassion to a client and how you experienced this process?
- How frequently and in which situations do you apply compassion towards yourself, if at all?
- Could you also tell me about a situation in which you showed compassion towards yourself? How do you experience such a process?
- To what extent have you experienced emotional and physical exhaustion due to being compassionate towards clients?
- How do you respond to such experiences of emotional and physical exhaustion?
- What do you regard the most challenging aspect of being compassionate towards others?
- What do you regard the most challenging aspect of being compassionate towards yourself?

APPENDIX B

EXCERPT FROM AN INDIVIDUAL INTERVIEW TRANSCRIPTION

Transcript: Participant 4

Key: -- false start to sentence

- --. sentence ends abruptly / is incomplete / is interrupted
- ... word inaudible
- several words inaudible
- 1. Interviewer (T): Ok. So, what are your experiences of compassion as a psychologist?
- 2. Interviewee (M): Compassion in what sense?
- **3. T:** What does it mean to you to be compassionate?
- **4. M:** Ok, so meaning compassionate, or being compassionate towards other people would probably entail caring, helping, understanding, being able to, to put yourself in their shoes, and trying to view the situation from their perspective. So being compassionate towards whatever it is they are experiencing without passing judgment.
- **5. T:** And you asked me in what sense, so in what other sense would you describe compassion?
- **6. M:** Well, I suppose you can have compassion towards others, but also compassion towards yourself.
- 7. T: What does it mean to be compassionate?
- **8. M:** To care. To understand. And to identify all of the relevant aspects of the situation and be understanding of all of those and not necessarily only focusing on one thing.
- 9. T: Ok.
- **10. M:** *Ja.* I think. It's not a word that I deal with often. [laughing]
- **11. T:** *Ja.* You, you said that it's, it's the act of being in another person's shoes. Would you then compare it to empathy? Am I right in, in comparing those two?
- **12. M**: Yes I think that, that to a certain degree there is a bit of empathy going into feeling compassion or being compassionate towards others. *Ja*, I think so.
- **13. T:** Ok. And how is it different from being empathetic? In your experience.
- **14. M**: Maybe compassion also --. *Jo*, this is, these are difficult questions. I think empathy, empathy might be more the emotional experience, while compassion might be behavioural, have a behavioural component as well.
- **15. T:** Ok. An example of that perhaps?
- **16. M**: If for instance we say someone is empathetic or empathic towards someone else, it means that they understand how that person is feeling, but if a person displays compassion then maybe they would give them flowers or take --. *Ja*.
- **17. T:** Ok. You mentioned that, you said that compassion is to care. In your experience, how do you show care then or compassion in that sense?
- **18. M**: Towards others?
- **19. T**: Hmm.
- **20. M**: Well, I'm quite an honest person and open and sincere and transparent, so to me being compassionate and, and showing that I care towards other people wouldn't necessarily mean to, to do what they expect you to do. If you can say that. So if I care for

- someone, or if I'm compassionate towards someone, I, I do what I feel is the best for them at that particular moment. So caring for someone would be to behave in a way which is beneficial to them, even though they might not necessarily view it that way.
- **21. T:** Ok. Do you find that happens often with clients, where you have to be compassionate in the sense where they don't always know for themselves what to expect?
- **22. M:** Oh yes, people don't know what's good for them! [both laughing]
- **23.** *Ja*, no, I, I think sometimes you need to, to be aware of what it is that might be beneficial to the client without them necessarily being able to voice it, or say it.
- **24. T:** Ok, so it's intuitive am I right in assuming that?
- **25. M**: To a certain degree, but I think intuitive judgment is also based on experience and based on theory. So it, it --. For them it might be an intuitive thing and they might think that I need this or I need that.
- 26. T: Ok.
- **27. M:** But for instance where someone whose parent just died might think that they need a hug at that stage. Maybe just speaking about the trauma or in, informing them of the specific responses, might be better for them than actually getting a hug.
- **28. T**: Ok.
- **29. M:** If that makes sense.
- **30. T:** For them it might be intuitive, for you as a psychologist you might actually know how to --.
- **31. M:** It's informed by theory, *ja*.
- **32. T:** Ok. You also said that compassion is to understand.
- **33. M**: Uh-huh.
- **34.** T: And how do you show that? How do you show understanding to your clients?
- **35. M**: I think by reflecting, by rephrasing, by --. It's interesting how people sometimes by giving them examples of what you mean and getting that, "Yes, yes! That's definitely", you know. So to kind of show or, or communicate in a way and by providing them with, with specific examples which might relate, they might relate to. And in that way they feel understood.
- 36. T: Ok.
- **37. M**: So you kind of analyse what it is that they're saying and kind of find --. Kind of look at the whole picture of the person and the challenges that they are giving you, and then find ways in which that might be expressed and then communicate that to them. And in the moment you kind of --. 'Cause people tend to relate to behaviours, ok, because that's often what they see, is what they do, right? *Ja*, so if you communicate it to them in, in a specific behaviour: do you maybe? Have you ever found yourself like, kicking the ball, for instance? And then people say: yes, I do that all the time. You know, so that's kind of a way for me to show people that I understand them, is reflecting what I think is --. How their personalities present itself in the external environment, if you can call it that.
- **38. T:** So it's, it sounds like it's a type of way --. Or it's for you, it helps you to gauge the level of compassion that you show them when they have an 'a-ha' moment, or their understanding of your compassion?
- **39. M:** I think by them feeling or, or getting, having that a-ha moment and realising: this person really understands me. That is how I'm --. Or, or that's how I experience, or they --. How I view my compassion towards them, is actually understanding them. So when they have that moment where: oh yes, that's completely the way I am and I understand that. Or you understand that. And by them actually being energised by that, it kind of *ja*, that'll show --. That'll kind of give me an indication that I'm showing compassion towards them.

- **40. T:** Ok. And the energy, would you associate that with compassion, or --. Because you just mentioned --.
- **41. M:** I think so yes. Obviously when you're busy engaging with someone and you're busy listening to them, and you're caring for them and understanding them, you are putting energy into them. Kind of turning your back on them and not, is, is not really --. *Ja*, so I, I do think that there is an exchange of energy between you and the person when you, when there is --.
- **42. T:** Can you explain the type of energy to me that is associated with compassion in your experience?
- **43. M**: I think it's supposed to be mostly positive, a positive energy. A positive trans, transferring and, and, between two individuals. Because the moment it starts getting negative, it means that that would be more sympathy and feeling sorry for someone, and that's not really what --. To me, in, in my books what compassion is about.
- 44. T: Ok
- **45. M**: Ja, so I, I would say that it's more a positive share of energy and ja.
- **46. T**: How is sympathy different from compassion?
- **47. M**: Well, sympathy is kind of you feel sorry for someone and you don't recognise that there's something that you can do about it or that they can do about it. While I think compassion and empathy might be more understanding what is going on and --. But also remaining open to: we can change this, or we can move beyond this. And you know there's, to me there's not really a, a feeling sorry. I tend not to feel sorry for people.
- 48. T: Ok.
- **49. M:** Because I, I kind of view it as, it doesn't really help them if you feel sorry for them. It's disabling instead of enabling someone to do something about their situation. You kind of take away their power. Disempower them.
- **50. T**: So are you saying that compassion is empowering?
- **51. M:** I think it depends on who it comes from.
- 52. T: In what sense?
- 53. M: Ja, I think it is. No, I'm thinking about it now; I think it is enabling and empowering.

[10 minutes]

But it also depends maybe on who the person is receiving it. Because some people might interpret compassion as sympathy.

- **54. T**: Ok.
- **55. M**: And then by that they might get stuck in their situation instead of actually just realising that.
- **56. T:** And as a psychologist, if you see that happening, how do you approach it?
- **57. M**: Getting stuck in, in --.
- **58. T:** If you show compassion and you see that your client gets stuck thinking that it's sympathy rather than enabling?
- **59. M**: Like I said, I'm very honest and transparent, so --. [laughing] So I would probably just increase their awareness of --. Ja, I'd, I'd work on, on their increasing their awareness of their own situation and, and finding solutions to that. So that they don't get stuck in this thing where they complain the whole time and they expect you to kind of just be compassionate towards them, and kind of take responsibility for their own actions. So I would --. I tend to focus on, on what it is that they focus on. Instead of focusing on the specific situation which they require you to be compassionate about, rather focus on what it is that they can do to get themselves out of that situation.

- **60. T:** So would you then say compassion is solution-focused then in a sense? If you say that you focus on what they can do to the situation. Because it sounds like there's an active component to it.
- **61. M**: There's a -- There --
- **62. T:** For you.
- **63. M**: To me there is, *ja*. I think that it's like I said: that's what distinguishes sympathy from compassion and, to me, is kind of the active part of it. Ok, so this is --. And the positive focus. So I wouldn't say necessarily solution-focused, because there might not always be a solution, but I think, I mean, if someone died someone died; you can't bring them back. But I think just being aware of what it is that you can do for yourself in order to feel better.
- 64. T: Ok.
- **65. M**: You know, to --. So in that sense, yes, I think to, to me there is a certain active part to compassion and getting out of the situation that you, that you feel stuck in. And not --. *Ja*. So I, I wouldn't --. To, to use an example, I wouldn't be compassionate towards someone for six months because of the same situation.
- 66. T: Ok.
- **67. M**: To me there's kind of a, a --. Although *ja*, I think the understanding remains. *Ja*, no, the understanding of what this person is going through remains, but at some point you would like that person to actively do something about it.
- **68. T**: It's about progression it sounds like.
- **69. M**: *Ja*.
- **70. T:** And what also just stood out for me now is it sounds like you are saying that it has a link to coping. Compassion helps people find a sense of coping. Is that correct, or not?
- 71. M: I think to a certain degree people might use compassion and, and when they experience compassion from someone. They might use that in order to motivate them to cope with the specific situation. So, so it might increase their resourcefulness and their trust in their own ability to actually overcome something, because someone understands what's going on; someone cares. But I again, I don't think that's the case with everyone. I don't think it's a generic thing.
- **72. T:** Would you say, would you say that compassion is a resource, or it increases their resources? Or, it is a resource, or it contributes to the resources they already have to make use of those.
- **73. M**: Compassion --. I think it might be a bit of both.
- **74. T**: Ok
- **75. M**: Because I think to --. It might become one of their resources that they might use the understanding and caring of others in order to drive their own motivation. But it might also --. It might --. Being compassionate towards someone, it might also elicit some of their other coping mechanisms. It might be that compassion is a specific resource that they, that they use, but it might also that that kind of triggers other resources.
- 76. T: Ok.
- 77. M: So I think a bit of both, ja.
- **78.** T: Which resources do you think it would trigger? From your own experience that you've seen
- **79. M:** Maybe people might want to do better, so they might want to take action. They might feel that someone believes in them. They might feel that --. So that in itself might trigger an intrinsic type of motivation. It might, it might also --. More like an active type of coping. It might, *ja*, it might facilitate a more social type of coping. The more you --. The more compassionate you are towards someone the more they feel like sharing. So maybe, you

- know, like communication and actually verbalising what's going on. So it might encourage that, which is also a kind of a coping mechanism or, or a resource that they can use. *Ja*.
- **80. T:** Maybe you can tell me a bit more about active coping, what you're talking about. [both laughing]
- 81. M: Ok. This feels like Master class.

of just avoiding it.

- [both laughing] Ok. So I think a kind of facing the situation head-on. And doing something about it instead
- **82. T**: Ok.
- **83. M:** Or, or pretending that it's not there. So the fact that someone expresses compassion towards you with a specific situation or problem that you might be facing, might actually increase your awareness of the specific situation and then which in itself decreases avoidance. Because if you're actually thinking about it and you're aware of it then you're not gonna avoid it to such, to such an extent. I think that's kind of how I link the active coping and the doing something about it.
- **84. T:** Ok. And social coping from your experience; how does compassion have a role in social coping?
- **85. M:** Well I think like I said, when --. If you actually express compassion towards someone and they experience compassion from you, they might, it might facilitate their ability to, to communicate what it is that's going on. They might, if they feel that you care and that you understand, then it might reinforce speaking about it. And, and in itself, that might reinforce speaking to others about it. Even though it might not be in a therapeutic process, you know, they sort of mimic the behaviour that was in therapy outside as well and speak to other people about their situation, in order to elicit the same type of compassion.
- **86.** T: Like in a 'pay-it-forward' type of manner? Is that what you're referring to?
- **87. M**: Or maybe just in a way to seek, to seek --. If, if they ex --. Let's take an example: this person tells you about something and I express my understanding and care and what what, and then they kind of go and express the same thing to someone else in order to get the same response from them. So it's not like pay-it-forward, it's more like, you know, the, the situation that they had in, in the therapeutic environment may, might encourage them to seek similar responses from people outside.
- 88. T: Ok.
- **89.** M: So kind of to, to converse with others about their specific situation.
- **90. T:** It sounds like it then kind of opens up a new way of thinking or approaching certain situations for them?
- 91. M: I think if I can use an example, I had a, a trauma case where literally just explaining or, you know, expressing compassion and understanding what this person was going through, and explaining it to them in terms of theory so that they also understand it for themselves, what they were going through. And ja, and then you sometimes get where they, they get back and they say: I was actually able to speak to people about this now, and, and because I understand what it is that I'm going through, so I'm better able to voice it to them, type of thing. You know. So that, in that sense it kind of increased their sociability and where they previously didn't want to speak to anybody because they didn't feel that anybody understands. And now once they understand themselves better, they kind of don't care whether others understand, or maybe they can help them to understand better.
- 92. T: Ok. Thank you.

[20 minutes]

- So it also sounds like it increases their awareness then as well. Am I right in saying that?
- 93. M: Uh-huh.
- **94. T:** Ok. I just want to go back. You said earlier that you are a very honest and transparent therapist.
- **95. M**: Uh-huh.
- **96. T:** From your experience with that, how has that helped you show compassion or be more compassionate?
- 97. M: Well --.
- **98.** T: Or has that prevented you from being more compassionate? What is your experience?
- **99. M:** No, because the, the thing is, when I'm compassionate I'm really compassionate, and people tend to know that. So if I care I really care. And if I show that I understand, I really understand. And if i don't, I'll say, you know. So people tend --. There's more congruency in who I am in a therapeutic relationship, so people tend to --. Although, it's, it's not --. I don't know. I haven't really had clients where they feel that, that --. Well, I wouldn't know, but I tend to attract the type of client who can deal with that. So --.
- **100. T:** With you being open and transparent?
- 101. M: Ja. And it's also, because it's such a big part of who I am, it's congruent in the therapeutic relationship. So they tend to feel safe in that environment because they know where they stand. So I, I wouldn't say that I've, I've felt that it hindered my ability to be compassionate, because if I'm not compassionate I'm not compassionate. There's -- You get what I'm saying. I'm not gonna express care or understanding if I feel that it's not to your benefit or there's no need for it, if, if we can say that.
- **102.** T: Has it enhanced your ability to be compassionate?
- 103. M: I think, I wouldn't necessarily say my ability to be compassionate, but maybe my expression thereof. TO, to be able to --. Look sometimes --. Ja, I, I think to --. When I care, I really care and, and people tend to see that by me going the extra mile. So if I was not transparent and honest and open in my therapeutic process, then you know it, it kind of, it kind of wouldn't feel real if I had to tell people: oh, I really care. I really care and I understand you know. And you really actually don't. So it would just be fake. Where now I --. So I think it, it, it kind of helps the relationship-building. The more congruent you can be in how you respond to the client, the better for the process.
- **104. T:** It sounds like you place a lot of importance in being transparent and real with your clients. Would you say that's a value of yours?
- 105. M: Ja. And it's of personality mγ traits. laughing1 So ja no, I think it's --. You know I, I believe it really, it is. I believe that you don't do people justice by lying to them. And you don't do people justice by pretending to believe something that you don't. So people know that when I give them guidance or when I speak to them or when I support them, I do it in a manner that is to their benefit. I wouldn't --. For instance, I wouldn't see a client for eighteen sessions in therapy just because, just because I can or because --. I, if, if I see there's progress and I feel, I'll tell them: so do you really think it's necessary to still come and see me? You get what I'm saying. So I think, ja, so that to me is, it is quite important and it is something that I value and that I aspire to, ja.
- **106.** T: Ok. You mentioned going the extra mile for your clients.
- **107. M**: Uh-huh.
- **108. T**: In what ways do you do that?
- **109. M**: Well, that would be situations like the only day that we are all available is Saturday the thirteenth of March, what what what. And I really actually had something else scheduled

that day, but because it's three clients and they're all available on that day, I, I reschedule what I had and, and try and accommodate them to that degree. Another example would be if people expect you to, you know, they expect the general process, you know. They expect you to kind of sit and speak to them what what, where I always try and share the, the resources that I have. So if I for instance did a, in the context that I'm working with, if I for instance had a feedback with a client, a senior manager, and this person needs assertiveness, they need to develop assertiveness. Now I can't take that process, because the company doesn't pay for it, but what I'll do is I'll provide them with the resources in order for them to develop themselves further. So in that way I kind of always try to give the best that I can in the particular moment.

- 110. T: Ok.
- **111. M:** Without necessarily being paid for it. [both laughing]
- 112. T: Working smart. Have you ever felt exhausted from showing compassion to clients?
- **113. M**: Yes, that's why I don't do therapy anymore.
- **114. T**: Ok.
- 115. M: Ja, so I think the --. You kind of get what type of things you can deal with and what type of person you can deal with, and what type of things fit your way of working. And the moment that it does not necessarily fall within those, it becomes a little bit more difficult to show real understanding and real, real care towards such a person. So let's use an example: if a serial rapist had to come and sit here, it would be a little bit more difficult to show compassion. Because you don't really understand why it is that someone does things like that. So you kind of gauge the type of person you want to work with and, and that's what I've actually done in my, in my practice. I've adjusted my focus in order to make sure that the type of client or customer I have aren't people who drain my resources.
- **116. T:** Ok. So how do you gauge the type of person or adjust the focus of who you work with? Practically, how do you do that?
- **117. M**: Ok so what I do is I offer people an intake interview at no cost.
- 118. T: Ok.
- 119. M: So when someone phones --. I don't market myself for therapy anymore, so if I get a referral and someone comes to me and I, I tell them: you can have your intake interview and I'm gonna just discuss with you and see how and explain to you how I work. And in that session we'll discuss whether you'd like to continue with me or whether you would like me to refer you to someone who might be more suited to your personality and what type of problem you're, you have to work on. So that is kind of my way to make sure that the person gets the immediate support that they need, but they also have that doorway to, to get someone who's more better suited to their specific problem than --. Or their specific way that they would like to work on this. But it's funny, I haven't really --. It's like you kind of, the universe sends you the type of clients that, that you need. So I haven't really seen situations where people say to me --. I always offer to them and they never say: yes, I'd like to rather go to this person or that person. So. But what I have done is I've increased the time that I spend on more analytical, critical, rational work than the time I spend on therapy, in order to make sure that I fill my bucket.
- **120. T:** Ok. Tell me more about that bucket.
- **121. M**: Well, I think being a, a little bit more of an introvert and being analytical and critical and performance-driven, sometimes in therapy you don't see an improvement. People just don't come anymore. So there's not that, that general thing of ticking a box that I usually do in order to feel like you've accomplished something.

- 122. T: Is it important to you to feel like you've accomplished something?
- 123. M: Yes. [laughing]
- 124. T: Ok.
- **125. M**: *Ja*, so I think the type of work that I'm doing at the moment is very deadline-driven and a more removed type of engagement with people, and at a more development level than it is on a treatment level. And I tend, I, I enjoy that. So it feels --. That developing people and realising their potential and actually increasing their knowledge and that, that's more what I enjoy doing than solving problems. And the thing is, I also --.

[30 minutes]

Not everybody wants to solve their problems. You know, people tend to come to therapy because they, they feel stuck, but they don't necessarily want a solution, because there's an inherent benefit in going to therapy as well, you know. So ja, sometimes there's underlying other things and ja. So I think what I've actually done is just shifted my focus and allocated more time towards doing what makes me happy.

- **126. T:** Ok. You mentioned that real care, it becomes difficult to give real care to clients when you become exhausted because of continuously having to give compassion.
- **127. M**: Uh-huh.
- **128. T:** Tell me more about that, the exhaustion that you maybe experienced and the decision that you made to move away from therapy. And the real care connected to that. The importance of that for you.
- **129. M**: I think the more, the bigger --. I must just find a nice way to word that. The bigger the challenges are that you have experienced or seen in the world, the smaller feeble things become. If that makes sense? So, I think your, your tolerance towards insignificant problems kind of --. Or mine, became less.
- **130. T**: Ok.
- 131. M: You know. So you know, it's kind of this, this --. If, if someone's just seen her child being shot in front of her versus someone who comes to you and cries because she didn't really want a baby and now she has one, you know. It's kind of, you kind of --. It's like your, your --. As your, as your, your view of what is out there, the type of challenges that people are faced with, increase, it's like --. And it's not necessarily supposed to be like that, but it was like that for me. I mean, I worked on a train for a whole year where people when they see your apple, you know they, they --. And then you kind of --. It's that basic need thing. Or you know, children of two years old are being molested and then when you see things like that it's kind of like your --. When someone comes to you and they, they're very rich and you know and, and they just hate their lives, and it's kind of like you: ok, really, get over yourself, type of thing, you know. So I think the type of problem I can work with also kind of --. And the type of person I can work, also kind of changed due to the fact that I was exposed to quite a lot of things and challenges. Which has, which has caused me to shift focus. Because I mean, if, if I can't sit and kind of express compassion towards a mom who didn't want her baby, while on the other hand there's a mom who wants one so badly, but she can't get pregnant. It's kind of that, that --. You kind of decide that that's the ethical thing to do, is to kind of understand what it is that you can and cannot work with and align yourself with that. So to, to give your client the best possible service they can get.
- **132. T:** Ok. And that goes back to you being real and how you give that, that value that you mentioned.
- **133. M**: *Ja*, so --. And, and by that I mean to a certain degree it's not necessarily about what the problem is, but about how this person is approaching it. Because I can generally work with someone who wants to work. And if they want to change and if they want to improve,

- then I, I'm generally able to put energy into that process. But the processes that I can't put energy into anymore is the ones where people just want to come, keep on coming back and back and back, because, *ja*. So that's kind of where, where my realness ends.
- **134. T:** Is that how you manage that compassion fatigue in a sense, by making sure that you see people that you can put your energy in?
- 135. M: Yes.
- 136. T: Ok.
- 137. M: So I kind of --. What I also do is, let me use an example. It's not necessarily --. But I do assessments every day of my life, right? Except maybe some days. And at certain points I would really be able to understand what these people are going through and everything, and then the moment I realise that I'm getting irritated with the questions that they're asking or with the, not ignorance, but sort of this thing of ja well, why do I have to do this assessment. You know, I didn't ask for this, what what what what. Kind of an external locus of control with regards to that. And the moment I realise I start feeling like that, then I know for the next couple of days I focus on reports only and get someone else to deal with the customers, you know. Because the energy that I put into engaging with them, explaining the process, what happens further. Kind of understanding what it is that they're going through here. I, I immediately notice that that's not where it's supposed to be and then I just tailor my work in order not to have as much contact then. Until I feel: ok, I have the energy to explain the same thing a hundred times again, type of thing. Ja, so the, so the compassion fatigue to that extent in, in the type of environment that I'm working is in kind of then just taking a break away from the actual person and rather just working with their results. And then once that's back, ja.
- **138. T:** Managing your energy, from what I heard.
- 139. M: Yes.
- **140. T**: Ok.
- **141. M**: You know I, I tend to be inbetween an introvert and an extrovert, but the moment I notice that my engagement with others isn't at that level, then I know it's time for me. So then you kind of just focus on what is important to you again.
- **142. T:** And then apart from writing reports, what else do you do to recover, so to speak, from those feelings of fatigue?
- **143. M:** Well I have lots of animals. [laughing] I care for things other than people, who can't really dump their issues on you. So I spend a lot of time with my animals. I spend some time --. Sometimes I spend time with my friends, but not really. I'm, I like me-time, so I read, I paint, I, I'll visit my close friends. You know, people who, who, *ja*. So and --. But mostly my garden and my animals are the, the things that really fill my bucket. *Ja*.
- **144. T:** You said you visit close friends, people like what? That do what? What are your close friends like?
- **145. M:** Honest, transparent. [laughing] And not draining. So they, they're people who generally tend to solve their own problems, so they don't expect me to provide input with regards to that. So when I need --. It, it's people I can vent with without necessarily them feeling they need to say something about it.
- **146. T**: *Ja*.
- **147. M**: I can vent and after that: oh, that's really crap. Ok, let's carry on. You know, that type of thing. So it's kind of a more a catharsis type of situation, it's not, it's not people where I feel I have to put energy into engaging with them. *Ja*.
- **148.** T: So it goes back to managing your energy.
- **149. M**: *Ja*.

- **150. T:** Ok. And so social connection in that sense, would you say that is an important part of showing compassion to yourself? Or dealing with compassion fatigue? Just to rephrase it from my side.
- **151. M**: I'm thinking now to what ex, to what degree. Because that's really my last resort, I must be honest.
- **152. T**: Ok.
- 153. M: I'd first do all the other things --.
- 154. T: Caring for animals --.
- **155. M**: And then maybe --. *Ja*, *ja*, I'd maybe I'd consider, depending on what it is, maybe --.
- **156.** T: In what situations would you consider social support important?
- 157. M: If I had to vent about something. So it'll often just be like phoning someone and just, one of my close friends, and just saying: can you believe what just happened? Da da da da da da, and then it's over. And then, and then making a, some sarcastic joke about it, and you know, something like that, to have a good laugh. And that's literally --. The humour --. Humour is a big a big part of, of my coping and, and you know, kind of filling myself up again. So I tend to, when I engage in that situation, and social, it will be with people who get who I am and, and make jokes with it, about it with me. But that would really be if I can't do anything else.
- **158.** T: Ok, so humour is not your first resort?
- 159. M: It is my first resort, but communicating with, with others and socially --.
- **160. T:** Maybe sharing humour is --.
- **161. M**: *Ja*. *Ja*.
- **162. T:** Ok. So humour is a first resort, but sharing humour with, in a social connection is not a first resort.
- **163. M:** Yes, is not the first resort.
- 164. T: Ok.
- **165. M**: Ja. Me-time would be first.
- **166. T**: And taking care of your animals and so on.
- **167. M:** *Ja*, *ja*. So kind of the nurturing --. Nurturing the nurturing part of me, type of thing.

[40 minutes]

- If I can say that. Ja, and the creative side.
- **168.** T: What do you do in terms of the creative side?
- **169. M:** Well, I paint. I'd redo furniture. Even sometimes I, I'd work on something completely different. So just that change. Sometimes I just need a change in order to re-energise myself. Because I, I get stuck in routine and get stuck in the same things, so I'll do a sketch or something else. And even that in itself will be energising.
- **170.** T: Like, do you mean --. What type of thing would you schedule, schedule to change your routine?
- **171. M**: For instance, if I did government assessments for three weeks on end and I felt like I could puke if I saw another government person, then I would, I would schedule some more private corporation assessments.
- **172. T**: Ok.
- **173. M**: If I did senior management assessments for a whole week, then I'd like to do a middle management assessment for a while. Or if I wrote ten thousand reports for a municipality, I would like to change it to a report for a private company. Just to get a bit of a --. Or if I had to use the Occupational Personality Questionnaire twenty times in the last five reports or whatever, I'd like to just use a different instrument. So any, even a minor change sometimes in what it is that I'm doing, can already energise me again. *Ja*.
- **174. T**: Ja. Would you say then that is a form of self-care for you?

- **175. M**: Yes.
- 176. T: To make sure that you manage your schedule like that?177. M: Yes.
- 178. T: Ok.
- 179. M: And to, to kind of --. I'm, I'm very aware of, of what I am and who I am and how to kind of deal with things, you know. And people often ask me, how is it that I'm able to work such long hours and not regularly feel fatigued and, and burned out. And the thing is, I always say: because I love what I do. And it really makes a big difference, because I'm very passionate about what I do. And the moment I don't feel passionate about it anymore, I change, ok. So -- And not necessarily the whole focus, but just the specific activity. So instead of starting with the competency exercise, I'd start with a personality questionnaire. So just a little shift in schedule can already energise me. Because I'm not a routine type of person, so ia.
- 180. T: Ok.
- **181.** M: So that --.
- 182. T: And does that help you also when during assessments you sometimes have to show compassion towards clients who are struggling or whatever. Does it also help you to make those changes?
- 183. M: Yes.
- 184. T: In what sense?
- **185.** M: So what I sometimes do, for instance, most of the tasks are scheduled or structured in a specific order. But for instance, if I have six people here and I'm quite tired in the morning, then I'd rather schedule the role plays for later during the afternoon when I feel a little bit better, towards the end of the day. Or vice versa. So I tend to put the energyconsuming parts of my job at the time when I feel I have most energy for that particular day, ja.
- 186. T: Ok. What, or how do you respond towards yourself when you make a mistake in therapy or while seeing clients for assessments, when you know that you've failed in a sense or --. How do you respond to yourself in, in, during times like that?
- 187. M: Well, I don't like mistakes. I don't think you get people who do, but --. Well, once the mistake's there it's there. There's nothing you can do to fix it. If it's, if there's a "he" in the report where there should be a "she", that's, it happened. And that's it. The thing is, what I tend to --. My coping strategy for that is to remind myself that I'm just human, because I, I sometimes get the feeling that some of the people I work with think I'm a machine and I just da da da da da da. And I think sometimes I even think that, you know. There's never an end; I just carry on and on and on. And then when things like that happen, you, you tend to just remember: ok, well, you know. Like the other day I did a feedback with a lady and there was a space missing in her report, and it frustrated the hell out of me because I did the feedback and I had to --. And I couldn't identify whether it was myself or the, the actual people I sent the report to who saved it wrong. But it was still frustrating. And then I just remembered: but you know, you can't do everything perfect. So I have a lot of cognitive phrases and, ja. I'm a cognitive person and I'm cognitive orientated, so I know even though I like to be perfect, and even though I like to not make mistakes, it happens. And if it does then I'm human and I need to find a way to resolve it. It's not --. So I'll send an email, an apology. I'll, I'll explain the situation, or, ja. So kind of to, to just be --. To identify that you are still human and you do make mistakes, and that you can't do everything that you say you can or try to. So, ja.
- **188.** T: Do you mind sharing some of those cognitive phrases that you use to help yourself?

- **189. M:** Well, one of them is: I'm just human. I, I can be tired, and I can feel overwhelmed, it's fine. Ok. And then I tend to --. I, I -- If I, if I feel tired and I feel that you know, this has to be done now whether I'm tired or not, the commitment's been made and it has to happen, then I tend to just remind myself that I wouldn't have been asked if I wasn't good at what I do.
- 190. T: Ok.
- **191. M:** So I kind of try and motivate myself in that way to continue, by reminding myself of what it is that I'm good at and that I actually really love doing it. So I sometimes do is, for instance, if I have to look at a government report and I've written ten of them and I just, I don't want to look at this person anymore, then I'll just go on reflect back on why did I decide to do this again. You know so, so sort of to, to re-establish the passion that you have for the work that you do. And, and once I get that, then I start going again, *ja*.
- 192. T: Would you say that self-reflection is important to show compassion to yourself?
- 193. M: Very much so. If you don't, number one, recognise that you're not caring about yourself or caring about what your needs, or --. If you don't recognise --. Hey, go away. If you don't recognise that, or reflect on that, then you won't be able to show yourself the care that you need. I mean, I recognise when I'm tired, I recognise when --. I know my signs; I know when things happen that, that's not true to who I am. And then immediately I know: ok, so tonight I'm taking a fifty minute break and I'm just taking a nice hot bath. Or I'm gonna just take a wooza, which I call a wooza.
- **194. T:** What is a wooza? [both laughing]
- **195. M**: It's just, it's a five minute or ten minute lunch break in the garden or --. *Sjoe*, let's just get rid of this thing. [sound of a bee buzzing in the background] *Ja*, so it's literally just a --.
- **196. T**: The wooza.
- **197. M**: A, a short little break that I take in order to refresh myself and to refocus on what it is that needs to get done. So it's kind of --. *Ag*, really. [still sound of a bee buzzing in the background] Just take a seat somewhere please. Ok there, gone it is. [both laughing]
 - So, for instance, just to give you an example; I had a customer here the one day who was complaining about my cat, right. And she was making such a scene. And eventually, where I normally really, I'm really understanding of cultural differences and the fact that they're really scared of cats and I really accommodate them, you know. But I was going the extra mile; I accommodated her by bringing her food inside she didn't have to go outside. I closed all of them up. And she kept carrying on, and eventually I went to my colleague and I said: I'm taking a wooza. So you just, just carry on. You know, so I literally removed myself from the situation because I felt that, you know, I was emptying up and, and there was nothing filling it at that moment. So I took myself out of the situation; I went outside, I sat outside in my garden. Caught up on my emails and I focused on other things, until I felt refreshed and fine, and then I went back. Yu know, so, which is now an immediate strategy, but that's the kind of wooza thing. Ja.
- **198. T:** Ok. So, would you then say that recognising these signs when you need, for example, a wooza moment, or when you're tired and you need some self-care, that that is important for self-compassion?
- 199. M: Yes.
- 200. T: Ok.
- **201. M**: I think if you don't, if you don't recognise your own signs, you won't know when to increase your own care or understanding towards yourself.

[50 minutes]

If I had to feel frustrated with myself not being able to perform and I kept on asking: why aren't you able to perform? Why aren't you able to write these reports? But you don't realise that the last couple of days I haven't been sleeping alright; I haven't been feeling energetic. You know, then, ja, you obviously won't know then when to actually just care about yourself a little bit more.

- **202. T:** *Ja.* Ok. So that's important. And, and also you mentioned removing yourself from a situation. Would you say that is also then important then for self-compassion specifically?
- **203. M**: *Ja*, I think, I think if you keep on staying in a situation it's difficult to reflect on it. You kind of get --. You kind of regain objectivity once you step out of a situation. So the moment you're so involved in whatever it is that you're involved with, you kind of can't reflect on it and realise: ok, so this is why I'm feeling like this. Or this is --. So I think *ja*, taking a step back and reassessing the situation, or just removing, in that case removing yourself from it in order to reflect on it, I think is guite important, *ja*.
- **204.** T: Sounds like reflection is important to you.
- **205. M:** Well [laughing], yes. I think I'm generally someone who is analytical and thinking constantly, so *ja*. And part of that is to think about yourself and to reflect on your own thinking, and what has happened internally. So I think yes, it is definitely. And, and also to show more compassion towards yourself you need to be able to reflect on what it is that happened and why things happened the way it did. Because the moment you realise that, that certain things might not have been in your control. Or that there is a lot of other situ-, circumstances that also play a role. And, and all of these things. You might actually have more understanding of the situation that you find yourself in and why you are in the situation that you are in, and that might increase your compassion towards yourself. To just identify: listen but, ok, I'm not completely at fault here, you know. It may be they were expecting too much or maybe whatever, you know. Kind of for you to, to know how to care for your own needs again.
- **206. T:** And then like you said, to have understanding of the situation that you're in; put yourself in that situation.
- 207. M: Ja, and I mean if you --. And, and generally just understand how you got here you got, you know. Maybe you were neglecting one of your needs in the first place and that's why you got where you got. Maybe I didn't actually want to speak to her from the beginning and now she's complaining about my cat on top of that. You, you know. So by ignoring one little voice it, it might kind of --. I want to say perpetuate but it's not perpetuate. Exaggerate --. Exacerbate, exacerbate there's the word I'm looking for the rest of the, of the, of the processes. So kind of, if you feel: ok, I need an early night tonight let's take a silly example and your early night turns out to be eleven o'clock and you didn't have the early night. And then the next day early in the morning you have clients and then you feel exhausted, and, and if you don't kind of just reflect on it and realise: ok, if I, if I adhered to the first need I identified, I wouldn't have felt the way I am now. So it's kind of important to --.
- **208.** T: So in other words, if I listen to the first need and address that I wouldn't have a second need to address now as well.
- 209. M: It, it, it kind of --.
- **210. T:** Is that what you're saying?
- **211. M**: *Ja.* It kind of --. Or, it might. You don't know, but it tends to build up. That's why it's called compassion fatigue. So I think what happens is that there's a --. It's a continuous deny of your own personal needs.
- 212. T: Ok.

- 213. M: If, if it's, if it's one then it's ok; if it's two, then it's ok. But the moment it's kind of a continuous process of putting other people's needs above your own, or, or putting clients' needs above your own, whatever above your own needs, then --. So I think if you kind of learn to identify the first little warning flag and address that, then the second or third or fourth might not show up. And by doing that you might from the beginning be a little bit more compassionate towards yourself and not actually feel that you, you can't show it towards other people anymore.
- **214. T:** *Ja.* So then would you say that self-compassion is important for dealing with compassion fatigue? From what you just said about caring for your own needs before you end up getting fatigued.
- **215. M**: Yes. So I think if you, if you have compassion towards yourself, even the Bible says you need to love yourself like you love --. You need to love other people like yourself. So you first need to love yourself in order to love other people. So if you don't have compassion towards yourself, how are you gonna be compassionate towards others? Because your bucket's not filled.
- **216**. **T**: *Ja*.
- **217. M**: So you need to kind of make sure that your bucket is full in order to be able to fill other people's buckets. So --.
- **218.** T: And spirituality what role does that play in self-compassion for you? It sounds like it might be important. To you.
- 219. M: I, I think I'm a very --. Yes, yes, I think it --. There's a --. It's, it's like I said, it's kind of looking at everything holistically, you know. And identifying that there's a lot of things that come into play. And sometimes we don't have control over a lot of things, and --. [electronic voice speaking in the background: "That's what I reckoned."] Ok, no go away Sorry. Sometimes you have a --. For instance, sometimes you don't have control over things that have an impact on, on what happens, you know. Let's use an example: if I suddenly get ill this morning and I kind of can't attend to the duties that I have to attend to, and if I don't recognise that I had no control over that, I might not feel compassionate towards myself. But the fact that you realise that there's kind of an external force or source that, that has an impact on what happens to us on a daily basis, I think is important in order for you to really recognise what it is that you can and cannot do.
- **220.** T: How would you feel towards yourself if you didn't recognise that it's an external force that has an impact?
- 221. M: Well, if there's no external force then everything will have to come from internally. And if everything's from internally, then it means that you are to blame. And if you are to blame, obviously there's a little but less compassion going with that. However, sometimes that is the case. I mean, sometimes you are to blame. Sometimes you made the decision. Sometimes you decided to book that extra client and some --. You know, so I think it's important though to have a realistic idea of when it is your situation and when you can fix it. But sometimes you can't fix it. And then to be still compassionate towards yourself when, even when you can't fix it.
- **222. T**: Ok.
- **223. M:** So *ja*, I think the moment that, that there's no spiritual aspect to it or --. Look, spirituality also fills your bucket, you know, so --. And it also kind of, it, it increases your understanding of yourself and how you, what you are meant to do. Something that I've, that I've seen though it's not particularly the case with me, but what I've seen is sometimes people do tend to experience compassion fatigue because they feel that they have to, have to help, because it's their religious duty.
- 224. T: Ok.

- 225. M: You get what I'm saying.
- **226. T**: Does that ring true for you?
- **227. M:** No. Because you have to love yourself. And if you care for yourself then --. Look, I do tend to go the extra mile, but I'm not going to do it at my own expense.
- 228. T: Ok.
- 229. M: So --.
- **230.** T: So is that also a form of self-compassion to realise when you can do something and when you can't?
- 231. M: Ja. And also realise where your own boundaries are. And, and if someone continuously tries and cross your boundaries, it means that, you know --. And sometimes people really manipulate. And it's a bad thing to recognise, but it happens. And I think if you, if you don't recognise that, those aspects; if you just continue to help because it's your religious or spiritual duty and you have to and --. You know, you kind of get to a point where you can't help anymore because you have nothing left to give, you know. So ja, I think it's important --. You can't only feel that you have to. There has to be --. I always say to people it's like an emotional bank account.
- 232. T: Ok.
- **233. M**: What you take out needs to be put back in. Whichever way you do it. So if you keep on expressing compassion towards other people, who's putting that back for you?

[60 minutes]

- Even if it's you putting it back for yourself, it's fine. But you know you can't keep on giving giving giving in that way without getting anything back, so --.
- **234.** T: How would other people put that back into your bank account? Your emotional bank account. In what ways?
- **235. M**: Well, it depends. I like it when people understand me, so often all I need is for people just to understand that I need my space.
- 236. T: Ok.
- 237. M: So, so sometimes I don't even --. Just by you not demanding me to put energy into you, you're already helping me. You know, you're already putting back into my account if that makes any sense. People just understanding how I function. Making jokes about how I --. They --. People who are close to me know that I tend to use humour as a coping mechanism, so, so my closest friends are all very sarcastic and very sharp, you know. So we'll make jokes about things and by doing that, they already put back in my, in my emotional bank account.
- **238.** T: So again, the social support plays a role in your emotional well-being basically.
- **239. M**: *Ja*. So I think --. And, and, and not necessarily --. I have --. It's funny, sometimes something silly like just dropping off my dogs' food, you know, when I've been in for an operation and I can't do it myself, those type of things. Or asking me if they can maybe drop off paper for the printer or --. Little things like that often --.
- **240.** T: So doing things for you?
- 241. M: Ja. Doing things for me and those, those little discussions. It's, it's often not face-to-face contact necessarily. Maybe sending me a joke or --. And -- Or sometimes it's even providing practical support in the form of: I still have answer sheets, do you need answer sheets? I'll bring them to you. Or whatever, you know. Or don't worry, I know you're busy, I'll pick it up, type of thing. You know, so it's, sometimes it's little things like that that makes me feel valued and, and appreciated. And also when sometimes when people ask me for my opinion. So, I've noticed that I, I, I enjoy sharing what I've got and what I've learnt, and the moment I feel that people value that. Even if it's a colleague of mine that I haven't seen in a while and they ask me for input on something. Then immediately I feel

- that by, by giving back something that I've learnt, it kind of also makes me feel better a bit. It's like I re-recognise why it is that I'm doing what I'm doing.
- **242. T:** Ok. And would you say that also has an impact on dealing with fatigue, compassion fatigue? Or enhancing your feelings of self-compassion?
- 243. M: The, the way how that kind of --. If I had to link it to how that would help, is it's sometimes a diversion or, or just being diverted from what it is that I'm doing. So that's kind of that change I need, is when, when a, a very close friend of mine phones and says: listen, I need your advice on this ethical issue. And then they'll have a ten minute, twenty minute discussion on that. Even though it's still tapping into my professional work, and it's still work if you think about it, it's just that change and, and difference to routine that makes me feel back energised when I get back. Ja, and sharing my frustrations sometimes also helps. And sharing my success. I like, I like discussing what I've, what I've been able to achieve with my closest friends, you know. It's ja, so that, that kind of makes me feel more --. Because I have this one friend in particular, and she'll listen to everything and she'll listen, and I'll vent and vent. And then after a while she'll say: you still remember that you're not a machine, right? And then I'll be --. And then we'll laugh and then it --. You get what I'm saying. So sometimes it's just that --. Ja.
- 244. T: A connection it sounds like.
- **245. M**: *Ja*, it's more a --. *Ja*, it's, it's -- *Ja*, they won't necessarily: ah, I'm so sorry to hear about --. You know, it's not that type of thing. I like empowering and enabling conversations. So, so people who, who either joke about it and then carry on, or talk about other things. It won't necessarily be centred around the thing that's making me feel fatigued. If that makes any sense.
- **246.** T: Ok.
- **247. M**: Or, or even just --. What I do sometimes, well just to maybe put it into perspective, I wouldn't necessarily if I feel fatigued now, I wouldn't necessarily go to a party with say, four or five or six of our friends. I tend to avoid, ok.
- 248. T: Ok.
- **249. M:** Because that wouldn't necessarily fill the bucket, if, if that makes sense. So because that would just drain me more.
- **250.** T: So it's not about being around people, it's about those specific connections.
- 251. M: Specific ones.
- 252. T: That you have with people.
- **253. M:** Ja. And it's, it's usually specific people that I tend to surround myself with in those situations.
- **254. T:** And if I'm correct because it sounded like earlier you said that you, you like to enable and empower clients, and it sounds like for you to get compassion or to feel a sense of relief in that sense, you also like to be empowered and enabled by people.
- 255. M: Yes.
- **256.** T: So that's an important thing for you then.
- **257. M**: *Ja*.
- 258. T: Ok.
- **259. M**: *Ja*, I think it --. I don't, I don't want people feeling sorry for me and I don't want --. I don't want, I don't want you to: aah. It's not me at all. You know, you can rather tell me: toughen up!
- 260. T: Ok.
- **261. M**: This is not so bad! And then I'd laugh about it, and then I'd rather, you know --. It, it's funny, I'm just wired that way, so, *ja*. So the same way I like to empower others with

knowledge and information and kind of active mechanisms to cope, it's the same way I tend to want to deal with my own fatigue.

- 262. T: Ok. Awesome. Thank you.
- 263. M: Ok.
- **264.** T: Is there anything you want to add?
- **265. M:** Well, this was quite an interesting conversation and I've never thought this much about compassion, honestly.
- **266.** T: Ok.
- **267. M**: *Ja*. I had a [*sic*] *interesting* --. I had a [*sic*] individual who emailed me a while back and she asked me to write a piece on burnout, which I didn't do because I had deadlines and I couldn't, I couldn't do it. But it was, it was quite interesting because it's obviously something that, that's happening more and more. But *ja*, I think that the main thing for me if I had to, with regards to compassion, I think is, especially towards yourself, is just to identify when it is when you need it.
- 268. T: Ok.
- **269. M**: *Ja*. I think that --. Because if you don't recognise, if you don't recognise when you have to care for yourself, then you won't know. And before you know it you, you might be in too deep.
- **270.** T: So that's the most important thing.
- **271. M**: I think so. For me I think, I think is awareness, general self-awareness and reflection. And, and, and the same in a therapeutic process. To be aware of your own reactions towards a client as well, and your own, you know, how you respond and all of that, kind of will, will help you to be more --. *Ja*, again that honesty and transparency thing. The more you're aware of what's happening inside, the more you will be able to, to reflect.
- **272. T:** And ultimately be more self-compassionate.
- 273. M: Ja.
- **274. T:** From what I've heard.
- **275. M**: *Ja*. So I think if you, if you, if you can recognise --. And I think a big part of, of being compassionate is just loving yourself for whatever it is that you do and don't do, you know. And, and part of that is accepting both the good and the bad. You can't kind of --. And I think the same with compassion as well. That's why I said with the therapist; I mean you can't be compassionate towards someone if you think: *jis*, you're a bad person. You know, kind of the two don't go together. So I think in general just being aware of, of your own things and other people's, I think might guide the process.
- 276. T: Thank you so much.
- **277. M**: It's a big pleasure. [both laughing]

[recording ends]

APPENDIX C

EXAMPLE FROM THE RESEACHER'S REFLECTIVE JOURNAL

After completion of the first interview, I experienced a deep sense of relief for having made some progress with the research. However, this relief was short-lived as it was tainted by doubt regarding the depth of information obtained. Due to some uncertainty over the interview process itself, I struggled to use available opportunities and to probe for further elaboration on questions. As such, the interview was rather brief and the obtained data appeared to lack necessary depth. However, I found some reassurance in the fact that I will be completing a follow-up interview, and assumed that it would be enough to provide me with the needed depth of information.

Regardless of how I tried to rationalise about the situation, however, I continued to experience a need to share my concerns with my supervisor. She suggested that I relook my interview protocol and also raised some valid points regarding my interview skills, namely how I should structure the interview questions, what I should look out for, how I could use cues for further prompting and so on. I initially felt dejected because of the needed changes, as it meant I wasted valuable time and would have to spend more time correcting them. However, looking back, I am grateful for this learning curve as it helped me pursue the remainder of interviews with better understanding and an improved approach – which, needless to say, also benefited the rest of my study.

Following the interview process and after reading the transcribed data, I felt more satisfied with the information obtained from participants. However, I also noticed that I still missed many opportunities for participants to elaborate on questions. I believe that I should continue to improve on my personal interview skills. However, I still feel satisfied that the data obtained produced rich outcomes for this study, which will contribute to a greater understanding of psychologists' experiences of compassion and self-compassion.

APPENDIX D

LETTER OF ETHICAL CLEARANCE



Faculty of the Humanites

06-Feb-2017

Dear Mrs Kally

Ethics Clearance: The experiences of compassion and self-compassion among psychologists

Principal Investigator: Mrs Thamari Kally

Department: Psychology (Bloemfontein Campus)

APPLICATION APPROVED

With reference to your application for ethical clearance with the Faculty of the Humanities. I am pleased to inform you on behalf of the Research Ethics Committee of the faculty that you have been granted ethical clearance for your research.

Your ethical clearance number, to be used in all correspondence is: UFS-HSD2016/0849

This ethical clearance number is valid for research conducted for one year from issuance. Should you require more time to complete this research, please apply for an extension.

We request that any changes that may take place during the course of your research project be submitted to the ethics office to ensure we are kept up to date with your progress and any ethical implications that may arise.

Thank you for submitting this proposal for ethical clearance and we wish you every success with your research.

Yours Sincerely

RPA

Prof. Robert Peacock Chair: Research Ethics Committee Faculty of the Humanities

Office of the Dean/Kantoer van die Dekaan/Ofisa ya Dine T:+27 (0)51 401 2240 | F:+27 (0)51 401 7363 | E: beukenb@ufs.ac.za P.O. BoodPosbus 339 | Bloemfontein 9300 | South Africa/Suid-Afrika | www.ufs.ac.za





APPENDIX E

TURNITIN REPORT

ORIGIN	ALITY REPORT	
3 SIMILA	% 2% 1% 2% student	PAPERS
PRIMAF	RY SOURCES	
1	Submitted to University of the Free State Student Paper	1%
2	Submitted to University of Zululand Student Paper	<1%
3	etd.uovs.ac.za Internet Source	<1%
4	www.sajcd.org.za Internet Source	<1%
5	angliaruskin.openrepository.com	<1%
6	Singer, Tania, and Olga M. Klimecki. "Empathy and compassion", Current Biology, 2014.	<1%
7	K. D. Killian. "Helping Till It Hurts? A Multimethod Study of Compassion Fatigue, Burnout, and Self-Care in Clinicians Working With Trauma Survivors", Traumatology, 05/29/2008 Publication	<1%

8	Submitted to Trinity College Dublin Student Paper	<1%
9	Forti, Allison M. Cashwell, Craig S. Hen. "Mindfulness and quality of life in cancer survivors: the mediating role of self-kindness and alexith", Journal of Mental Health Counseling, Oct 2016 Issue	<1%
10	Submitted to The Chicago School of Professional Psychology Student Paper	<1%
11	libres.uncg.edu Internet Source	<1%
12	Submitted to University of New England Student Paper	<1%
13	Submitted to Western Governors University Student Paper	<1%
14	www.slideshare.net Internet Source	<1%
15	Submitted to Canterbury Christ Church University Student Paper	<1%
16	Marta-Simões, Joana, Cláudia Ferreira, and Ana Laura Mendes. "Exploring the effect of external shame on body appreciation among	<1%

Portuguese young adults: The role of selfcompassion", Eating Behaviors, 2016.

17	Submitted to Winston-Salem State University Student Paper	<1%
18	Submitted to University of Salford Student Paper	<1%
19	trace.tennessee.edu Internet Source	<1%
20	scholarspace.manoa.hawaii.edu Internet Source	<1%
21	dspace.nwu.ac.za Internet Source	<1%
22	www.researchgate.net	<1%
23	Rolls, Liz, and Mairi Harper. "The Impact of Practical Support on Parental Bereavement: Reflections From a Study Involving Parents Bereaved Through Military Death", Death Studies, 2015. Publication	<1%
24	ujdigispace.uj.ac.za Internet Source	<1%
25	repository.nwu.ac.za	<1%

26	Martin. "A proposal to support student therapists to develop compassion for self and others through Compassionate Mind Training", The Arts in Psychotherapy, 2016. Publication	<1%
27	media.proquest.com Internet Source	<1%
28	scholarcommons.usf.edu Internet Source	<1%
29	socialwork.journals.ac.za Internet Source	<1%
30	Ginny Sprang. "Compassion Fatigue, Compassion Satisfaction, and Burnout: Factors Impacting a Professional's Quality of Life", Journal of Loss and Trauma, 5/2007	<1%